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Item 1. Financial Statements

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other long-term assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred service revenue, current
Deferred contractual revenue, current
Other liabilities, current
Total current liabilities
Deferred service revenue, non-current
Deferred contractual revenue, non-current
Other liabilities, non-current
Notes payable
Financing derivative
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value:

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

June 30,
2015

December 31,
2014

Authorized 50,000 shares; No shares issued or outstanding

Common Stock, $0.001 par value:

Authorized 1,000,000 shares; Issued and outstanding 74,943 shares at June 30, 2015 and 73,927

shares at December 31, 2014
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$ 25930 $ 36,449
46,744 64,899

3,950 3,406

11,978 11,335

1,587 1,671

90,189 117,760

6,428 6,601

153 162

$ 96,770 $ 124,523
$ 5818 $ 5,608
11,316 11,441

6,507 6,121

14,385 6,785

991 1,534

39,017 31,489

1,316 1,129

4,943 19,735

2,192 2,153

14,567 14,124

899 944

62,934 69,574

75 74

747,330 736,339

12 9

(713,581) (681,473)

33,836 54,949

$ 96,770 $ 124,523

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited)

Three-Month Periods Ended June 30, Six-Month Periods Ended June 30,

share amountd) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Revenue:
Product revenue $ 8,825 $ 7,749 $ 20,133 $ 15,614
Service and 2,518 1,980 5,259 4,061
other revenue
Contractual 13,596 1,696 17,192 3,392
revenue
Total 24,939 11,425 42,584 23,067
revenue
Cost of Revenue:
Cost of product 8,438 6,271 18,170 13,440
revenue
Cost of service
and other 1,995 2,028 3,981 3,825
revenue
Total cost 10,433 8,299 22,151 17,265
of revenue
Gross 14,506 3,126 20,433 5,802
profit
Operating Expense:
Research and 15,043 12,435 29,526 24,206
development
Sales, general
and 10,821 8,993 21,593 18,143
administrative
Total
operating 25,864 21,428 51,119 42,349
expense
Operating loss (11,358) (18,302) (30,686) (36,547)
Interest expense (715) (701) (1,412) (1,387)
Other income
e — 138 (133) (10) (88)
Net loss (11,935) (19,136) (32,108) (38,022)
Other
comprehensive
income (loss):
Unrealized gain
(loss) on 4) 24 3 28
investments
Comprehensive loss (11,939) (19,112) $ (32,105) $ (37,994)
Net loss per share:
Basic and
diluted net loss (0.16) 0.27) $ (0.43) $ (0.55)
per share
Shares used in
computing basic
and diluted net
loss per share 74,733 70,515 74,442 69,195

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
Six-Month Periods Ended June 30,
(in thousands) 2015 2014
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (32,108) $ (38,022)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities
Depreciation 1,846 2,311
Amortization of debt discount and financing costs 453 375
Stock-based compensation 6,575 4,492
Other items (22) 197
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable (544) (1,509)
Inventory (643) 610
Prepaid expenses and other assets 83 (34)
Accounts payable 203 3,662
Accrued expenses (125) 459
Deferred service revenue 573 1,582
Deferred contractual revenue (7,192) (3,392)
Other liabilities (504) (607)
Net cash used in operating activities (31,405) (29,876)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (1,672) (942)
Disposal of property and equipment 6 —
Purchase of investments (40,580) (66,876)
Sales of investments 6,817 —
Maturities of investments 51,898 76,195
Net cash provided by investing activities 16,469 8,377
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from equity plans 2,984 2,691
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from at-the-market equity offering, net of issuance costs 1,433 20,646
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,417 23,337
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (10,519) 1,838
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 36,449 26,362
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 25,930 $ 28,200

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1. OVERVIEW

Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc. (“Pacific Biosciences”, the “Company”, “we”, “us”) has commercialized the PacBio RS II Sequencing System to help
scientists solve genetically complex problems. Based on our novel Single Molecule, Real-Time (SMRT®) technology, our products enable: de novo genome assembly
to finish genomes in order to more fully identify, annotate and decipher genomic structures; full-length transcript analysis to improve annotations in reference genomes,
characterize alternatively spliced isoforms and find novel genes; targeted sequencing to more comprehensively characterize genetic variations; and DNA base
modification identification to help characterize epigenetic regulation and DNA damage. Our technology combines very high consensus accuracy and long read lengths
with the ability to detect real-time kinetic information.

The names “Pacific Biosciences,” “PacBio,” “SMRT,” “SMRTbell” and our logo are our trademarks.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (“Financial Statements”) of Pacific Biosciences of
California, Inc. have been prepared on a consistent basis with our December 31, 2014 audited Consolidated Financial Statements and include all adjustments, consisting
of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to fairly state the information set forth herein. Certain prior year amounts in the Financial Statements and notes thereto
have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and, as permitted by such rules and regulations, omit certain information and footnote disclosures necessary to present
the statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). These Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. The results of operations
for the first six-month period of 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the entire fiscal year or any future periods.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes to the financial statements. Our estimates include, but are not limited to, the valuation of inventory, revenue valuation, the valuation
of a financing derivative and long-term notes, the valuation and recognition of share-based compensation, the delivery period for collaboration agreements, the useful
lives assigned to long-lived assets, and the computation provisions for income taxes. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

During the first quarter of 2015, we revised the estimated period over which the delivery of elements pursuant to the Development, Commercialization and
License Agreement (the “Roche Agreement”) with F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd (“Roche”) is expected to occur, due to an increased level of certainty regarding the
development period. As a result, we are, on a prospective basis, recognizing the remaining deferred contractual revenue associated with the upfront payment received
under the Roche Agreement over the revised estimated remaining development period. For the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, this change in
estimate increased contractual revenue by $1.9 million and $3.8 million, respectively, and decreased loss per share by $0.03 and $0.05, respectively. There have been
no other material changes to the critical accounting policies and estimates discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Reclassifications

In the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2014, certain immaterial reclassifications were made from “Prepaid
expenses and other assets” to the “Other items” in order to conform to current period presentation. Such reclassifications did not impact our financial position, net loss,
or cash used in operations in the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring_basis

The following table sets forth the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

(in thousands) June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 18,882 $ — 8 — 18,882 $ 21,952 $ — —  $ 21,952

Commercial paper — 7,048 — 7,048 — 14,497 — 14,497
Total cash and cash equivalents 18,882 7,048 — 25,930 21,952 14,497 — 36,449

Investments:

Commercial paper — 26,024 — 26,024 — 43,653 — 43,653

Corporate debt securities — 8,114 — 8,114 — 8,173 — 8,173

Asset backed securities — 12,606 — 12,606 — 13,073 — 13,073
Total investments — 46,744 — 46,744 — 64,899 — 64,899

Total assets measured at fair value $ 18,882 § 53,792 § — $ 72674 $ 21,952 $ 79,396 $ — % 101,348

Liabilities

Financing derivative $ ) — $ 89 § 899 §$ — 3 — 3 944 § 944

We classify our cash deposits and money market funds within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using bank balances or quoted market
prices. We classify our investments as Level 2 instruments based on market pricing and other observable inputs. We did not classify any of our investments within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy.

During the six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, there were no impairments of our investments.

The estimated fair value of the Financing Derivative liability (as defined in Note 6 Notes Payable) was determined using Level 3 inputs, or significant
unobservable inputs. Changes to the estimated fair value of the Financing Derivative are recorded in “Other income (expense), net” in the condensed consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The following table provides the changes in the estimated fair value of the Financial Derivative during the six-month
period ended June 30, 2015 (in thousands):

Financial Derivative Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 944
Gain on change in estimated fair value (45)
Balance as of June 30, 2015 $ 899

During the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 assets or liabilities reported at fair value on a
recurring basis and the valuation techniques used did not change compared to our established practice.

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value on a recurring_basis

The carrying amount of our accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, other current assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities, current,
approximate fair value due to their short maturities. The carrying value of our other liabilities, non-current, approximates fair value due to the time to maturity and
prevailing market rates.

We determined the estimated fair value of the Notes (as defined in Note 6 Notes Payable) from the debt facility using Level 3 inputs, or significant unobservable
inputs. The estimated fair value of the Notes was determined by comparing the difference between the estimated fair value of the Notes with and without the Financing
Derivative by calculating the respective present values from future cash flows using a weighted average market yield of 18.4% and 19.5% at June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively.
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The estimated fair value and carrying value of the Notes are as follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014

Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value

Notes payable $ 15,406 $ 14,567 $ 14,817 $ 14,124

Net Loss per Share

The following table presents the computation of our basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three-Month Periods Ended June 30, Six-Month Periods Ended June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014

Net loss per share
Numerator:

Net loss $ (11,935) $ (19,136) $ (32,108) $ (38,022)
Denominator:

Weighted average shares used in computation of basic and diluted

net loss per share 74,733 70,515 74,442 69,195
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.16) $ 0.27) $ 043) $ (0.55)

The following were excluded from the computation of our diluted net loss per share for the periods presented because including them would have had an anti-
dilutive effect:

As of June 30,
(in thousands) 2015 2014
Options outstanding 18,768 15,659
Warrants to purchase common stock 5,500 5,500

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, requiring an entity
to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. The updated standard will replace most
existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective and permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method.
Early adoption is not permitted. The updated standard would have been effective for us in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. However, in July 2015 the FASB decided to
delay the effective date of the new revenue standard by one year. Reporting entities may choose to adopt the standard as of the original effective date. We are currently
evaluating the effect that the updated standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern. This ASU
introduces an explicit requirement for management to assess if there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, and to provide related
footnote disclosures in certain circumstances. Disclosures are required if conditions give rise to substantial doubt. This ASU is effective for us in the first quarter of
fiscal 2017. We are currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on our financial statements and related disclosures.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which changes the presentation of debt issuance costs in
financial statements. This ASU requires an entity to present such costs in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset.
Amortization of the costs will continue to be reported as interest expense. This ASU is effective for the Company’s annual report periods beginning after December 15,
2016 and is effective for us in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. Early adoption is permitted. The new guidance will be applied retrospectively to each prior period
presented. We are currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on our financial statements and related disclosures.
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NOTE 3. CONTRACTUAL REVENUE

During September 2013, we entered into a Development, Commercialization and License Agreement (the “Roche Agreement”) with F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd
(“Roche”), pursuant to which we account for, and recognize as revenue, the up-front payment received thereunder using the proportional performance method over the
periods in which the delivery of elements pursuant to the agreement occurs. We recognize revenue using a straight-line convention over the service periods of the
deliverables as this method approximates our performance of services pursuant to the agreement. Out of the $35.0 million upfront cash payment received, quarterly
amortization of $1.7 million has been recognized as contractual revenue from the fourth quarter of 2013 to the fourth quarter of 2014. Beginning in the three-month
period ended March 31, 2015, we revised the estimated development period related to our contractual revenue amortization based on increasing certainty of the
development time on a prospective approach. This change in estimate resulted in $1.9 million of additional contractual revenue being recognized per quarter and a total
of $3.6 million as quarterly amortization.

We recognized a total of $3.6 million and $7.2 million of amortization for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, respectively. The additional
contractual revenue due to the revision had a 100% margin and decreased our net loss for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 by $1.9 million and $3.8
million, respectively, and decreased our net loss per share for three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 by $0.03 per share and $0.05 per share, respectively. At
June 30, 2015, going forward, on a prospective basis, we will recognize the remaining deferred contractual revenue of $19.3 million associated with upfront payment
received under the Roche Agreement over the revised estimated remaining development period.

In addition to the deliverables above, the Roche Agreement provides for additional payments totaling up to $40.0 million upon the achievement of certain
development milestones. During August 2014, we achieved the first such development milestone and we recognized the related $10.0 million as contractual revenue for
the quarter ended September 30, 2014. During April 2015, we achieved the second development milestone and we recognized the related $10.0 million as contractual
revenue for the quarter ended June 30, 2015.

NOTE 4. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

The following tables summarize our cash, cash equivalents and investments as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

June 30, 2015

Gross Gross
Amortized unrealized unrealized Fair
Cost gains losses Value
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and money market funds $ 18,882 $ — % — 18,882
Commercial paper 7,048 — — 7,048
Total cash and cash equivalents 25,930 — — 25,930
Investments:
Commercial paper 26,020 4 — 26,024
Corporate debt securities 8,107 7 — 8,114
Asset backed securities 12,605 1 — 12,606
Total investments 46,732 12 — 46,744
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments $ 72,662 $ 12 $ — 72,674
December 31, 2014
Gross Gross
Amortized unrealized unrealized Fair
Cost gains losses Value
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and money market funds $ 21,952 $ — 3 — 21,952
Commercial paper 14,496 1 — 14,497
Total cash and cash equivalents 36,448 1 — 36,449
Investments:
Commercial paper 43,648 5 — 43,653
Corporate debt securities 8,170 7 4 8,173
Asset backed securities 13,073 4 4) 13,073
Total investments 64,891 16 (8) 64,899
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Total cash, cash equivalents and investments $ 101,339 $ 17 $ ® $ 101,348

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of our cash equivalents and available-for-sale investments, excluding money market funds, as of June
30, 2015:

(in thousands) Fair Value

Due in one year or less $ 53,792

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations without call or prepayment penalties.

NOTE 5. INVENTORY
Inventory

As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, inventory consisted of the following components:

June 30, December 31,
(in thousands) 2015 2014
Purchased materials $ 1,081 $ 3,150
Work in process 6,997 6,115
Finished goods 3,900 2,070
Inventory $ 11,978 $ 11,335

NOTE 6. NOTES PAYABLE

Pursuant to a Facility Agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) we entered into with entities affiliated with Deerfield Management Company, L.P. (collectively,
“Deerfield”) during February 2013, we issued promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $20.5 million (the “Notes”). The Notes bear simple interest at a
rate of 8.75% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears commencing on April 1, 2013. In connection with the execution of the Facility Agreement, we issued warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 5,500,000 shares of common stock immediately exercisable at an exercise price per share initially equal to $2.63 (the “Warrants”). In addition,
the Facility Agreement requires us to maintain consolidated cash and cash equivalents on the last day of each calendar quarter of not less than $2.0 million. As security
for our repayment of our obligations under the Facility Agreement, we granted to Deerfield a security interest in substantially all of our property.

Financing Derivative

A number of features embedded in the Notes to the Facility Agreement required accounting for as a derivative, including the indemnification of certain
withholding taxes and the acceleration of debt upon (i) a qualified financing, (ii) an Event of Default, (iii) a Major Transaction, and (iv) the exercise of the warrant via
offset to debt principal. These features represent a single derivative (the “Financing Derivative”) that was bifurcated from the debt instrument and accounted for as a
liability at fair value, with changes in fair value between reporting periods recorded in other income (expense), net.

The estimated fair value of the Financing Derivative was determined by comparing the difference between the fair value of the Notes with and without the
Financing Derivative by calculating the respective present values from future cash flows using an 18.4% and 19.5% weighted average market yield at June 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014, respectively. The estimated fair value of the Financing Derivative as of both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 was $0.9 million.

Notes

We initially recorded the Notes and Warrants at $14.1 million and $6.4 million, respectively, based upon the relative fair value allocation of the $20.5 million of
proceeds. The carrying value of the Notes at the inception of the debt was $12.8 million, resulting in an original issue discount of $7.7 million. As of June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, debt discount of $5.9 million and $6.4 million, respectively, remained to be amortized through February 2020, the maturity of the Notes.

10
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NOTE 7. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Equity Offering

During the six-month period ended June 30, 2015, we issued 240,843 shares of our common stock at an average price of $6.13 per share through our “at-the-
market” offering program, resulting in net proceeds of $1.4 million. As of June 30, 2015, $28.5 million of common stock remained available for future sales; however,
we are not obligated to make any sales under this program.
Warrants

As of June 30, 2015, we had outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 5,500,000 shares of our common stock.

Equity Plans

As of June 30, 2015, we had three active equity compensation plans: the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2010 Outside Director Equity Incentive Plan, and the
2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).

The following table summarizes stock option activity for all stock option plans for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 (in thousands, except per share
amounts):

Stock Options Outstanding

‘Weighted
Shares available Number average
for grant of shares Exercise price exercise price
Balances, December 31, 2014 4,874 16,491 $ 0.70 — 16.00 $ 5.10
Additional shares reserved 4,435
Options granted (2,806) 2,806 5.43-7.59 6.46
Options exercised — (224) 0.70-5.18 3.14
Options canceled 305 (305) 1.16 — 15.98 5.89
Balances, June 30, 2015 6,808 18,768 $ 0.70 — 16.00 $ 5.32

Shares issued under our ESPP totaled 532,217 and 1,048,604 shares during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. As of June 30,
2015, 946,329 shares of our common stock remain available for issuance under our ESPP.

Stock-based Compensation

Total stock-based compensation expense consists of the following (in thousands):

Three-Month Periods Ended June 30, Six-Month Periods Ended June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
Cost of revenue $ 291  $ 121 $ 589 $ 262
Research and development 1,235 822 2,490 1,708
Sales, general and administrative 1,794 1,279 3,496 2,522
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 3320 $ 2,222 8 6,575 $ 4,492

We estimated the fair value of employee stock options on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The estimated fair value of employee stock
options is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the awards. The fair value of employee stock options was estimated using the following
weighted average assumptions:

Three-Month Periods Ended June 30, Six-Month Periods Ended June 30,
Stock Option 2015 2014 2015 2014
Expected term in years 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1
Expected volatility 70% 70% 70% 70%
Risk-free interest rate 1.7% 1.9% 1.6% 1.9%

Dividend yield — — — _

11
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We estimate the value of the employee stock purchase rights on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of ESPP was
estimated using the following assumptions:

Three-Month Periods Ended June 30, Six-Month Periods Ended June 30,
ESPP 2015 2014 2015 2014
Expected term in years 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0
Expected volatility 70% 70% 70% 70%
Risk-free interest rate 0.1%-0.6% 0.1%-0.3% 0.1%-0.6% 0.1%-0.3%

Dividend yield — — — _

NOTE 8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Lease Amendment Agreement

On July 23, 2015, we entered into a Lease Amendment Agreement (the “Lease Amendment Agreement”) with Peninsula Innovation Partners, LLC (the “Existing
Landlord”), which amends the terms and conditions of certain of our existing real property leases. The Lease Amendment Agreement provides for, among other things,
amendments of the term for certain of the existing leases, the termination of all renewal, expansion and extension rights contained in any of the existing leases
(including our options to extend the terms for certain of the existing leases for two consecutive five-year periods), as well as rent abatement for a specified period of
time. As consideration for our agreement to amend the existing leases pursuant to the Lease Amendment Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions contained
therein, we shall be eligible to receive up to four payments of $5,000,000 each from the Existing Landlord over time, and rent abatement through September 2017. If we
do not obtain or waive receipt of an architectural approval and a change of use permit with respect to our proposed new premises at 1315 O’Brien Drive, Menlo Park,
California (collectively, the “Use CUPs”) by September 30, 2015, (i) the Existing Landlord shall have no obligation to make the Existing Landlord payments, (ii) the
amendments of the term for the existing leases shall be of no further force or effect, (iii) the period for our delivery of option notices with respect to extended terms in
the applicable existing leases shall be extended until October 15, 2015, (iv) the rent abatement shall be terminated and repaid by us, and (v) certain related terms and
conditions of the Lease Amendment Agreement shall be of no further force or effect.

O’Brien Lease Agreement

On July 22, 2015, we entered into a new lease agreement (the “O’Brien Lease”) with Menlo Park Portfolio II, LLC (the “O’Brien Landlord”) for premises
consisting of approximately one hundred eighty thousand (180,000) rentable square feet located at 1315 O’Brien Drive, Menlo Park, California (the “O’Brien
Premises”).

The term of the O’Brien Lease is one hundred thirty-two (132) months, commencing on the date that is the later of April 15, 2016 or the date O’Brien Landlord
has substantially completed certain shell improvements and tenant improvements. Base monthly rent shall be abated for the first six (6) months of the O’Brien Lease
term and thereafter will be $540,000 per month during the first year of the lease term, with specified annual increases thereafter until reaching $711,000 per month
during the last twelve (12) months of the lease term. We are required to pay $2,340,000 in prepaid rent which will be applied to the monthly rent installments due for the
first to fourth months, and the operating expenses for the first month, after the rent abatement period. In addition, we are required to provide the O’Brien Landlord with
a security deposit under the O’Brien Lease in the amount of $4,500,000, which security deposit initially will be in the form of a letter of credit. The O’Brien Landlord is
obligated to construct certain shell improvements at the O’Brien Landlord’s cost and expense and provide us with improvement allowances in the amount of $70.00 per
rentable square foot of the Premises, which may be applied towards the costs of construction of the initial improvements in the Premises. We are required to reimburse
the O’Brien Landlord for certain improvement costs in excess of the foregoing allowances.

Under the O’Brien Lease, we expect to pay approximately $80 million in rent and $24 million in operating expenses over the expected lease term. In addition to
the lease payments, we are also required to reimburse the O’Brien Landlord for certain improvement costs in excess of the tenant improvement allowances provided.
These improvement costs, along with the costs associated with the anticipated move to the O’Brien Premises, are expected to be substantial in nature.

‘We have reserved the right to terminate the O’Brien Lease if the Use CUPs are not obtained by September 30, 2015, and, the O’Brien Landlord has a similar right
to terminate the O’Brien Lease for failure to obtain the Use CUPs.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our condensed consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2014. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this report, including information with respect to our plans and
strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, including statements regarding our expected
financial results in future periods. You should read the “Risk Factors” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview

We design, develop and manufacture the PacBio® RS II Sequencing System to help scientists resolve genetically complex problems. Based on our novel Single
Molecule, Real-Time (SMRT®) technology, our products enable: de novo genome assembly to finish genomes in order to more fully identify, annotate and decipher
genomic structures; full-length transcript analysis to improve annotations in reference genomes, characterize alternatively spliced isoforms and find novel genes;
targeted sequencing to more comprehensively characterize genetic variations; and DNA base modification identification to help characterize epigenetic regulation and
DNA damage. Our technology combines very high consensus accuracy and long read lengths with the ability to detect real-time kinetic information.

During September 2013, we entered into a Development, Commercialization and License Agreement (the “Roche Agreement”) with F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd
(“Roche”), pursuant to which we account for, and recognize as revenue, the $35.0 million up-front payment using the proportional performance method over the periods
in which the delivery of elements pursuant to the agreement occurs. We recognize revenue using a straight-line convention over the service periods of the deliverables as
this method approximates our performance of services pursuant to the contract. In addition to the above upfront payment, the Roche agreement provides for additional
payments totaling up to $40.0 million upon the achievement of certain milestones. During August 2014, we achieved the first such development milestone and we
recorded the related $10.0 million as contractual revenue for the quarter ended September 30, 2014. During April 2015 we achieved the second development milestone
and we recorded the related $10.0 million as contractual revenue for the quarter ended June 30, 2015.

Basis of Presentation

Revenue

During the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, product revenue was primarily derived from the sale of PacBio RS II instruments and
associated consumables. Service and other revenue was primarily derived from product maintenance agreements sold on our installed instruments. Contractual revenue
was derived from the quarterly amortization from the non-refundable up-front payment of $35.0 million that we received in September 2013 pursuant to the Roche
Agreement. In addition, we achieved the second development milestone under the Roche Agreement in April 2015 and we recorded the related $10.0 million as
contractual revenue for the quarter ended June 30, 2015.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue reflects the direct cost of product components, third-party manufacturing services and our internal manufacturing overhead and customer service
infrastructure costs incurred to produce, deliver, maintain and support our instruments, consumables, and services. There are no incremental costs associated with our
contractual revenue; all product development costs are reflected in research and development expense.

Manufacturing overhead is predominantly comprised of labor costs. We determine and capitalize manufacturing overhead into inventory based on a standard cost
model that approximates actual costs. Prior to achieving manufacturing volumes that correlated with our estimated normal capacity (the production levels expected to
be achieved over a number of periods under normal circumstances with available resources), we based our capitalized overhead relative to our normal capacity. Prior to
achieving normal capacity, excess manufacturing resources were engaged in research and development activities, including: next generation products, internal use
research products, and general support activities. As such, manufacturing costs in excess of amounts reflected in inventory were expensed as a component of research
and development expense. During 2014, manufacturing volumes trended towards and then approximated normal capacity, and excess manufacturing resources
contributing to research and development activities declined significantly.

Service costs include the direct costs of components used in support, repair and maintenance of customer instruments as well as the cost of personnel, materials,
shipping and support infrastructure necessary to support the installed customer base.
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Research and Development Expense

Research and development expense consists primarily of expenses for personnel engaged in the development of our SMRT technology, the design and
development of our future products and current product enhancements. These expenses also include prototype-related expenditures, development equipment and
supplies, facilities costs and other related overhead. We expense research and development costs during the period in which the costs are incurred. However, we defer
and capitalize non-refundable advance payments made for research and development activities until the related goods are received or the related services are rendered.

Sales, General and Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administrative expenses include costs for sales, marketing and administrative personnel, sales and marketing activities, tradeshow expenses,
legal expenses and general corporate expenses.

Interest Expense

Interest expense is primarily related to our debt facility and includes the amortization of debt discount and other related costs. To a lesser extent, amounts also
include interest expense relating to our facility financing obligations resulting from a lease agreement entered into in 2010. We expect interest expense to increase
during future periods as the recorded value of our debt facility accretes to the amount due at maturity.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income earned on cash and investments, accretion of discounts and amortization of premiums related to
investments, net gains or losses on foreign currency transactions, net gains or losses resulting from changes in the estimated fair value of the financing derivative and
foreign income taxes.

Income Taxes

Since inception, we have incurred net losses and have not recorded any U.S. federal or state income tax benefits for such losses as they have been fully offset by
valuation allowances.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our unaudited financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The preparation of these Financial Statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our critical accounting policies
and estimates. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

During the first quarter of 2015, we revised the estimated period over which the delivery of elements pursuant to the Development, Commercialization and
License Agreement (the “Roche Agreement”) with F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd (“Roche”) is expected to occur, due to an increased level of certainty regarding the
development period. As a result, we are, on a prospective basis, recognizing the remaining deferred contractual revenue associated with the upfront payment received
under the Roche Agreement over the revised estimated remaining development period. For the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, this change in
estimate increased contractual revenue by $1.9 million and $3.8 million, respectively, and decreased loss per share by $0.03 and $0.05, respectively. There have been
no other material changes to the critical accounting policies and estimates discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

14



Table of Contents

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three-month Periods Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

Three-Month Periods Ended June 30, $ Change % Change
(in_thousands, except percentages) 2015 2014
(unaudited)
Revenue:
Product revenue 8,825 $ 7,749 $ 1,076 14%
Service and other revenue 2,518 1,980 538 27%
Contractual revenue 13,596 1,696 11,900 702%
Total revenue 24,939 11,425 13,514 118%
Cost of Revenue:
Cost of product revenue 8,438 6,271 2,167 35%
Cost of service and other revenue 1,995 2,028 (33) (2%)
Total cost of revenue 10,433 8,299 2,134 26%
Gross profit 14,506 3,126 11,380 364%
Operating Expense:
Research and development 15,043 12,435 2,608 21%
Sales, general and administrative 10,821 8,993 1,828 20%
Total operating expense 25,864 21,428 4,436 21%
Operating loss (11,358) (18,302) 6,944 38%
Interest expense (715) (701) (14) (2%)
Other income (expense), net 138 (133) 271 204%
Net loss (11,935) $ (19,136) $ 7,201 38%

Revenue

Total revenue for the three-month period ended June 30, 2015 was $24.9 million compared to $11.4 million for the same period during 2014.

Product revenue during the three-month period ended June 30, 2015 consisted of $4.3 million from sales of PacBio RS II instruments and $4.5 million from sales
of consumables, compared to $4.7 million from sales of instruments and $3.0 million from sales of consumables for the same period during 2014. The increase in

consumable sales is primarily attributable to a larger installed base and higher utilization of installed instruments by our customers.

Service and other revenue of $2.5 million and $2.0 million for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, was primarily derived from
product maintenance agreements sold on our installed instruments. The increase in service and other revenue year over year was primarily attributable to more service
contracts and higher installed base of instruments.

Contractual revenue relates to the quarterly amortization of $3.6 million and $1.7 million for the three-month period ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
from the non-refundable up-front payment of $35.0 million we received during September 2013 pursuant to the Roche Agreement. The additional revenue of $1.9
million recognized for the three-month period ended June 30, 2015 reflects the increased certainty of the estimated development time period. In addition we achieved
the second development milestone under the Roche Agreement and we recorded the related $10.0 million as contractual revenue for the quarter ended June 30, 2015.
We may receive up to an additional $20.0 million in milestone revenue in the future; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve such additional
milestone revenue.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by $11.4 million to $14.5 million for the three-month period ended June 30, 2015, resulting in a gross margin of 58.2%, compared to gross
profit of $3.1 million and a gross margin of 27.4% for the three-month period ended June 30, 2014. The increase of $11.9 million in contractual revenue at 100%
margin led to the increase in gross profit and gross margin.

Cost of product revenue increased to $8.4 million for the three-month period ended June 30, 2015, compared to cost of product revenue of $6.3 million for the
same period during 2014. The increase of $2.1 million was primarily due to the higher amount of consumables shipped and due to $0.9 million in charges taken for
excess inventory accumulated during the three-month period ended June 30, 2015.

Cost of service and other revenue for the three-month period ended June 30, 2015 remained flat compared to the same period during 2014, as the cost of service
per machine has decreased year over year.
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For the remainder of 2015, gross margin is expected to return to the mid-thirty percent range, but may vary depending on revenue mix.

Research and Development Expense

During the three-month period ended June 30, 2015, research and development expense increased by $2.6 million, or 21%, compared to the same period during
2014. The increase in research and development expense was primarily attributed to an increase of $1.7 million in product development costs and an increase of $1.3
million in compensation related expenses resulting from increased headcount. Research and development expense included stock-based compensation expense of $1.2
million and $0.8 million during the three-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

We anticipate the current level of quarterly research and development expenses to continue for the remainder of 2015, but such quarterly levels may vary if certain
research and development projects are accelerated among other factors.

Sales, General and Administrative Expense

During the three-month period ended June 30, 2015, selling, general and administrative expense increased by $1.8 million, or 20%, compared to the same period
during 2014. The increase in sales, general and administrative expense was primarily attributed to an increase of $1.2 million for higher compensation related expenses
resulting from increased headcount, and an increase of $0.7 million in professional fees primarily relating to fees associated with the Roche milestone payment of $10.0
million recognized during the three-month period ended June 30, 2015. Sales, general and administrative expense included stock-based compensation expense of $1.8
million and $1.3 million during the three-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

We anticipate the current level of quarterly sales, general and administrative expenses to continue for the remainder of 2015, but such quarterly levels may vary
depending on timing of sales, general and administrative headcount increases among other factors and may be affected by costs associated with the anticipated transition
to our proposed new headquarters in Menlo Park, California.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the three-month period ended June 30, 2015 remained flat compared to the same period during 2014. Interest expense related primarily to the
debt facility entered into in February 2013.

Comparison of the Six-month Periods Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

Six-Month Periods Ended June 30, $ Change % Change
(in_thousands, except percentages) 2015 2014
(unaudited)
Revenue:
Product revenue $ 20,133 $ 15,614 $ 4,519 29%
Service and other revenue 5,259 4,061 1,198 30%
Contractual revenue 17,192 3,392 13,800 407%
Total revenue 42,584 23,067 19,517 85%
Cost of Revenue:
Cost of product revenue 18,170 13,440 4,730 35%
Cost of service and other revenue 3,981 3,825 156 4%
Total cost of revenue 22,151 17,265 4,886 28%
Gross profit 20,433 5,802 14,631 252%
Operating Expense:
Research and development 29,526 24,206 5,320 22%
Sales, general and administrative 21,593 18,143 3,450 19%
Total operating expense 51,119 42,349 8,770 21%
Operating loss (30,686) (36,547) 5,861 16%
Interest expense (1,412) (1,387) (25) (2%)
Other income (expense), net (10) (88) 78 89%
Net loss $ (32,108) $ (38,022) $ 5,914 16%
Revenue

Total revenue for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 was $42.6 million compared to $23.1 million for the same period during 2014.
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Product revenue during the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 consisted of $11.3 million from sales of PacBio RS II instruments and $8.8 million from sales
of consumables, compared to $10.0 million from sales of instruments and $5.6 million from sales of consumables for the same period during 2014. The increase in
instrument sales is primarily attributable to a larger number of new installations. The increase in consumable sales is primarily attributable to a larger installed
instrument base and higher utilization of installed instruments by our customers.

Service and other revenue of $5.3 million and $4.1 million for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, was primarily derived from
product maintenance agreements sold on our installed instruments. The increase in service and other revenue year over year was primarily attributable to a larger
installed base of instruments.

Contractual revenue includes $7.2 million and $3.4 million for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, from the amortization of the
non-refundable up-front payment of $35.0 million we received during September 2013 pursuant to the Roche Agreement. This reflects two quarters of amortization
where the additional revenue of $3.8 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 reflects the increased certainty of the estimated development time period. In
addition, we achieved the second development milestone under the Roche Agreement and we recorded the related $10.0 million as contractual revenue for the quarter
ended June 30, 2015. We may receive up to an additional $20.0 million based on additional milestone achievement in the future; however, there can be no assurance that
we will be able to achieve such additional milestone revenue.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by $14.6 million to $20.4 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015, resulting in a gross margin of 48.0%, compared to gross
profit of $5.8 million and a gross margin of 25.2% for the six-month period ended June 30, 2014. The increase of $13.8 million in contractual revenue at 100%
margin led to the increase in gross profit and gross margin.

Cost of product revenue increased to $18.2 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015, compared to cost of product revenue of $13.4 million for the
same period during 2014. The increase of $4.7 million was primarily due to the higher number of instruments and consumables shipped and due to $1.3 million in
charges taken for excess inventory accumulated during the six-month period ended June 30, 2015.

Cost of service and other revenue for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 remained flat compared to the same period during 2014, as the cost of service per
machine has decreased year over year.

Research and Development Expense

During the six-month period ended June 30, 2015, research and development expense increased by $5.3 million, or 22%, compared to the same period during
2014. The increase in research and development expense was primarily attributed to an increase of $2.8 million for higher compensation related expenses resulting from
increased headcount, and an increase of $2.8 million in product development costs. Research and development expense included stock-based compensation expense of
$2.5 million and $1.7 million during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Sales, General and Administrative Expense

During the six-month period ended June 30, 2015, selling, general and administrative expense increased by $3.5 million, or 19%, compared to the same period
during 2014. The increase in sales, general and administrative expense was primarily attributed to an increase of $2.5 million for higher compensation related expenses
resulting from increased headcount, and an increase of $1.0 million in professional fees primarily relating to fees associated with the Roche milestone payment of $10.0
million recognized during the three-month period ended June 30, 2015. Sales, general and administrative expense included stock-based compensation expense of $3.5
million and $2.5 million during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 remained flat compared to the same period during 2014. Interest expense related primarily to the
debt facility entered into in February 2013.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity
Since our inception, we have financed our operations primarily through product sales, issuance of common stock and convertible preferred stock, including our

current “at-the-market” offering program, in addition to our debt facility and payments from Roche pursuant to the terms of the Roche Agreement. Cash and
investments at June 30, 2015 totaled $72.7 million, compared to $101.3 million at December 31, 2014.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements for at least 12 months;
however, we plan to raise additional capital in the future. These expectations are based on our current operating and financing plans, which are subject to change.
Factors that may affect our capital needs include, but are not limited to, slower than expected adoption of our products resulting in lower sales of our products and
services; future acquisitions; our ability to maintain new collaboration and customer arrangements; the progress of our research and development programs; initiation or
expansion of research programs and collaborations; the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing intellectual property rights; the
purchase of patent licenses; the costs associated with the anticipated transition to our proposed new headquarters in Menlo Park, California; and other factors.

To the extent we raise additional funds through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of such securities will result in dilution to our
stockholders. There can be no assurance that such funds will be available on favorable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to curtail
operations significantly or to obtain funds by entering into collaboration agreements on unattractive terms. Our inability to raise capital could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Operating Activities

Our primary uses of cash in operating activities are for the development of ongoing product enhancements and future product manufacturing and sale of PacBio
RS II instruments and consumables, and support functions related to our selling, general and administrative activities. The net cash used for the six-month periods ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014 primarily reflects the net loss for those periods, partially offset by non-cash operating expenses including depreciation, stock-based
compensation and also reflects changes in working capital.

We used $31.4 million of cash from operating activities for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015, compared to cash usage of $29.9 million for the
corresponding period in 2014. The cash used in operating activities for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 was due primarily to a net loss of $32.1 million, a
reduction in deferred contractual revenue of $7.2 million, an increase in inventory of $0.6 million, an increase in accounts receivable of $0.5 million and a decrease in
other liabilities of $0.5 million, partially offset by stock-based compensation of $6.6 million, depreciation of $1.8 million and an increase in deferred service revenue of
$0.6 million. The cash used in operating activities for the six-month period ended June 30, 2014 was due primarily to a net loss of $38.0 million, partially offset by a
$0.8 million change in working capital, stock-based compensation of $4.5 million, depreciation of $2.3 million and amortization of debt discount and financing costs of
$0.4 million.

Investing Activities

Our investing activities consist primarily of capital expenditures and investment purchases and maturities. We received $16.5 million and $8.4 million of cash
from investing activities for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The receipt of cash of $16.5 million from investing activities for the six-
month period ended June 30, 2015 was due primarily to net sales and maturities of investments of $18.1 million, partially offset by net purchases of property and
equipment of $1.7 million. The receipt of cash of $8.4 million from investing activities for the six-month period ended June 30, 2014 was due primarily to net maturities
of investments of $9.3 million, partially offset by purchases of property and equipment of $0.9 million.

Financing Activities

We received $4.4 million and $23.3 million of cash from financing activities during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The receipt
of cash of $4.4 million from financing activities during the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 was due primarily to $3.0 million from the issuance of common stock
through our equity compensation plans and net proceeds of $1.4 million from our common stock “at-the-market” offering program. The receipt of cash of $23.3 million
from financing activities during the six-month period ended June 30, 2014 was due primarily to net proceeds of $20.6 million from our common stock “at-the-market”
offering program and $2.7 million from the issuance of common stock through our equity compensation plans. As of June 30, 2015, $28.5 million of common stock
remained available for future sales under our common stock “at-the-market” offering program; however, we are not obligated to make any sales under this program.
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Capital Resources

In November 2014, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC pursuant to which we may, from time to time, sell up to an aggregate of $150
million of our common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants, units or debt securities. On November 21, 2014, the registration statement was declared
effective by the SEC, which will allow us to access the capital markets for the three-year period following the effective date. As of June 30, 2015, $28.5 million of
common stock remained available for future sales under our common stock “at-the-market” offering program; however, we are not obligated to make any sales under
this program.

Debt Facility Agreement

Under the terms of our February 2013 debt agreement with Deerfield (the “Facility Agreement”), we received $20.5 million and we issued promissory notes in the
aggregate principal amount of $20.5 million (the “Notes”). The Notes bear simple interest at a rate of 8.75% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears commencing on
April 1, 2013 and on the first business day of each January, April, July and October thereafter. We received net proceeds of $20.0 million, representing $20.5 million of
gross proceeds, less a $500,000 facility fee, before deducting other expenses of the transaction.

The Facility Agreement also contains various representations and warranties, and affirmative and negative covenants, customary for financings of this type,
including restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness or liens on our assets, except as permitted under the Facility Agreement. In addition, the Facility
Agreement requires us to maintain consolidated cash and cash equivalents on the last day of each calendar quarter of not less than $2.0 million. As security for our
repayment of our obligations under the Facility Agreement, we granted a security interest in substantially all of our property and interests in property.

Contractual Obligations

In March 2015, we entered into lease amendments with respect to our seven Menlo Park headquarters real property leases, which provide for, among other things,
extensions of the periods for our delivery of option notices with respect to extended terms, as well as a rent abatement for a certain period of time.

As discussed in Note 8. Subsequent Events, on July 23, 2015, we entered into a lease amendment agreement (the “Lease Amendment Agreement”) relating to our
seven Menlo Park headquarters real property leases, which provides for, among other things, amendments of the term for certain of the existing leases, the termination
of all renewal, expansion and extension rights contained in any of the existing leases (including our options to extend the terms for certain of the existing leases for two
consecutive five-year periods), as well as rent abatement for a specified period of time. As consideration for our agreement to amend the existing leases pursuant to the
Lease Amendment Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions contained therein, we shall be eligible to receive up to four payments of $5,000,000 each from
the landlord over time, and rent abatement through September 2017. The terms of the Lease Amendment Agreement are contingent on us obtaining or waiving receipt
of architectural approval and a change of use permit (the “Use CUPS”) with respect to our proposed new premises located at 1315 O’Brien Drive, Menlo Park,
California (the “O’Brien Premises”) by September 30, 2015.

On July 22, 2015, we entered into a new lease agreement (the “O’Brien Lease”) with respect to the O’Brien Premises. The term of the O’Brien Lease is one
hundred thirty-two (132) months, commencing on the date that is the later of April 15, 2016 or the date O’Brien Premises landlord has substantially completed certain
shell improvements and tenant improvements. Base monthly rent shall be abated for the first six (6) months of the lease term and thereafter will be $540,000 per month
during the first year of the lease term, with specified annual increases thereafter until reaching $711,000 per month during the last twelve (12) months of the lease term.
We are required to pay $2,340,000 in prepaid rent which will be applied to the monthly rent installments due for the first to fourth months, and the operating expenses
for the first month, after the rent abatement period. The landlord is obligated to construct certain shell improvements at the landlord’s cost and expense and provide us
with improvement allowances in the amount of $70.00 per rentable square foot of the O’Brien Premises, which may be applied towards the costs of construction of the
initial improvements in the O’Brien Premises.

Under the O’Brien Lease, we expect to pay approximately $80 million in rent and $24 million in operating expenses over the expected lease term. In addition to
the lease payments, we are also required to reimburse the landlord for certain improvement costs in excess of the tenant improvement allowances provided. These
improvement costs, along with the costs associated with the anticipated move to the O’Brien Premises, are expected to be substantial in nature.

We have reserved the right to terminate the O’Brien Lease if the Use CUPs are not obtained by September 30, 2015, and the landlord has a similar right to
terminate the lease for the O’Brien Premises for failure to obtain the Use CUPs.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of June 30, 2015, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into standard indemnification arrangements. Pursuant to these arrangements, we indemnify, hold harmless, and agree
to reimburse the indemnified parties for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party in
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connection with any trade secret, copyright, patent or other intellectual property infringement claim by any third party with respect to its technology, or from claims
relating to our performance or non-performance under a contract, any defective products supplied by us, or any negligent acts or omissions, or willful misconduct,
committed by us or any of our employees, agents or representatives. The term of these indemnification agreements is generally perpetual after the execution of the
agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these agreements is not determinable because it involves claims that
may be made against us in future periods, but have not yet been made. To date, we have not incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these
indemnification agreements.

We also enter and have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and officers that may require us to indemnify them against liabilities that arise
by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, except as prohibited by applicable law. In addition, we may have obligations to hold harmless and indemnify
third parties involved with our fund raising efforts and their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees, agents or other representatives against any and all losses,
claims, damages and liabilities related to claims arising against such parties pursuant to the terms of agreements entered into between such third parties and the
Company in connection with such fund raising efforts. No additional liability associated with such indemnification agreements has been recorded as of June 30, 2015.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest rate and Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk is confined to our cash, cash equivalents and our investments, all of which have maturities of less than three years. The goals of our
investment policy are preservation of capital, fulfillment of liquidity needs and fiduciary control of cash and investments. We also seek to maximize income from our
investments without assuming significant risk. To achieve our goals, we maintain a portfolio of cash equivalents and investments in a variety of high credit quality
securities. The securities in our investment portfolio are not leveraged, are classified as available-for-sale, and are, due to their relatively short-term nature, subject to
minimal interest rate risk. We currently do not hedge interest rate exposure. Because of the short-term maturities of our investments, we do not believe that a
hypothetical 10% change in market interest rates would have any material negative impact on the value of our investment portfolio.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The majority of our expense and capital purchasing activities are transacted in U.S. dollars. However, a portion of our operations consists of sales activities
outside of the United States; therefore we have foreign exchange exposures relating to non-U.S. dollar revenues, operating expenses, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, and currency balances. Our primary exposure is with the Euro. Actual gains and losses in the future may differ materially from the hypothetical gains and
losses discussed above based on changes in the timing and amount of foreign currency exchange rate movements and our actual exposure; however, we do not believe
that the effect of a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to our business would have a material impact on our historical consolidated
financial statements.

Our international operations are subject to risks typical of international operations, including, but not limited to, differing economic conditions, changes in
political climate, differing tax structures, other regulations and restrictions and foreign exchange rate volatility.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure controls and procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on this
evaluation, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level
and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect
the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative
to their costs.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2015 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

‘We may, from time to time, be party to litigation and subject to claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. In addition, third parties may, from time to
time, assert claims against us in the form of letters and other communications. We currently believe that these ordinary course matters will not have a material adverse
effect on our business; however, the results of litigation and claims are inherently unpredictable. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us
because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which
could materially affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. Risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have limited experience as a commercial company.

Our first commercial product launched in 2011 and we have limited sales to date and as such, we have limited historical financial data upon which to base our
projected revenue, planned operating expense or upon which to evaluate us and our commercial prospects. Based on our limited experience in developing and marketing
new products, we may not be able to effectively:

« drive adoption of our current and future products;

« attract and retain customers for our products;

« provide appropriate levels of customer training and support for our products;

« implement an effective marketing strategy to promote awareness of our products;

* develop and commercialize new products or achieve an acceptable return, on our research and development efforts and expenses;
< comply with regulatory requirements applicable to our products;

« anticipate and adapt to changes in our market;

« maintain and develop strategic relationships with vendors and manufacturers to acquire necessary materials for the production of our existing or future
products;

« scale our manufacturing activities to meet potential demand at a reasonable cost;

« avoid infringement and misappropriation of third-party intellectual property;

« obtain licenses to third-party intellectual property on commercially reasonable terms;
« obtain valid and enforceable patents that give us a competitive advantage;

« protect our proprietary technology; and

¢ attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.

In addition, a high percentage of our expenses is and will continue to be fixed. Accordingly, if we do not generate revenue as and when anticipated, our losses may
be greater than expected and our operating results will suffer.

We have incurred losses to date, and we expect to continue to incur significant losses as we develop our business and may never achieve profitability.

We have incurred net losses since inception and we cannot be certain if or when we will produce sufficient revenue from our operations to support our costs. Even
if profitability is achieved, we may not be able to sustain profitability. We expect to continue to incur substantial losses and negative cash flow from operations for the
foreseeable future.
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If our products fail to achieve and sustain sufficient market acceptance, we will not generate expected revenue and our business may not succeed.

‘We cannot be sure that our current or future products will gain acceptance in the marketplace at levels sufficient to support our costs. Our success depends, in part,
on our ability to expand the market for genetic analysis to include new applications that are not practicable with other current technologies. To accomplish this, we must
successfully commercialize, and continue development of, our proprietary Single Molecule, Real-Time (SMRT) technology for use in a variety of life science and other
applications. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in securing additional customers for our products. Furthermore, we cannot guarantee that our products
will be satisfactory to potential customers in the markets we seek to reach. These markets are dynamic, and there can be no assurance that they will develop as quickly
as we expect or that they will reach their full potential. As a result, we may be required to refocus our marketing efforts, and we may have to make changes to the
specifications of our products to enhance our ability to enter particular markets more quickly. Even if we are able to implement our technology successfully, we and/or
our sales and distribution partners may fail to achieve or sustain market acceptance of our current or future products by academic, government and clinical laboratories
and pharmaceutical, diagnostic, biotechnology and agriculture companies, among others, across the full range of our intended life science and other applications. If the
market for our products grows more slowly than anticipated, if competitors develop better or more cost-effective products or if we are unable to further grow our
customer base, our future sales and revenue would be materially harmed and our business may not succeed.

Our development and commercialization of future products, including those related to our arrangement with Roche, may not result in the benefits we anticipate,
and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We entered into an agreement with F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd. (“Roche”), pursuant to which we are developing and expect to manufacture diagnostic products for
clinical use, including sequencing systems and consumables based on our proprietary SMRT technology (the “Roche Agreement”), and we are engaged in research and
development efforts, which, if successful, may result in the introduction of new products in the future. Our research and development efforts are complex and require us
to incur substantial expenses. We may not be able to develop and commercialize new products or achieve an acceptable return, if any, on our research and development
efforts and expenses. There can also be no assurance that we will be able to achieve additional milestone revenue from Roche or develop and manufacture future
products as provided by the terms of the Roche Agreement or that Roche will be able to commercialize and sell the developed diagnostic products. We could also be
involved in disputes with Roche, which could lead to delays in or termination of our development and manufacture of diagnostic products and result in time-consuming
and expensive litigation or arbitration. In addition, any such dispute could diminish Roche’s commitment to us and reduce the resources they devote to commercializing
the developed diagnostic products. If Roche terminates or breaches the Roche Agreement, or otherwise acquires, develops and/or commercializes alternative or
competing products, the successful commercialization of our diagnostic products for clinical use would be materially and adversely affected.

If we are not able to realize the benefits we anticipate from the development and commercialization of future products, including the expected benefits from the
Roche Agreement, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the introduction of future products
may lead to our limiting or ceasing development of further enhancements to our existing products, as we focus our resources on the new products, and could result in
reduced marketplace acceptance and loss of sales of our existing products, materially adversely affecting our revenue and operating results. New products may also have
quality or other defects, especially in the early stages of introduction. If we do not successfully manage product transitions, our business, reputation and financial
condition may be materially adversely harmed.

Rapidly changing technology in life sciences and diagnostics could make the products we are developing obsolete unless we continue to develop and commercialize
new and improved products and pursue new market opportunities.

Our industry is characterized by rapid and significant technological changes, frequent new product introductions and enhancements and evolving industry
standards. Our future success will depend on our ability to continually improve our products, to develop and introduce new products that address the evolving needs of
our customers on a timely and cost-effective basis and to pursue new market opportunities. These new market opportunities may be outside the scope of our proven
expertise or in areas where the market demand is unproven, and new products and services developed by us may not gain market acceptance. Our inability to develop
and introduce new products and to gain market acceptance of new products could harm our future operating results. Unanticipated difficulties or delays in replacing
existing products with new products or in commercializing improved or new products in sufficient quantities to meet customer demand could diminish future demand
for our products and harm our future operating results.

Increased market adoption of our products by customers may depend on the availability of sample preparation and informatics tools, some of which may be
developed by third parties.

Our commercial success may depend in part upon the development of sample preparation and software and informatics tools by third parties for use with our
products. We cannot guarantee that third parties will develop tools that our customers or potential customers will find useful with our products. A lack of additional
available complementary sample preparation and informatics tools may impede the adoption of our products and may adversely impact our business.
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We operate in a highly competitive industry and if we are not able to compete effectively, our business and operating results will likely be harmed.

Some of our current competitors, including Illumina, Inc. and Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., as well as other potential competitors, have greater name recognition,
more substantial intellectual property portfolios, longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical, research and/or other resources, more substantial
experience in new product development, larger and more established manufacturing capabilities and marketing, sales and support functions, and/or more established
distribution channels to deliver products to customers than we do. These competitors may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or
changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements. In light of these advantages, even if our technology is more effective than the products or
service offerings of our competitors, current or potential customers might purchase competitive products and services instead of our products. Increased competition
may result in pricing pressures, which could harm our sales, profitability or market share. Our failure to further enhance our existing products and to introduce new
products to compete effectively could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We may be unable to successfully increase sales of our products.

Our ability to achieve profitability depends on our ability to attract customers for our current and future products, and we may be unable to effectively market our
products. To perform sales, marketing, distribution and customer support functions successfully, we face a number of risks, including:

« our ability to attract, retain and manage the sales, marketing and service personnel necessary to expand market acceptance for our technologies;

« the time and cost of maintaining and growing a specialized sales, marketing and service force for a particular application, which may be difficult to justify in
light of the revenue generated; and

« our sales, marketing and service force may be unable to execute successful commercial activities.

‘We have enlisted and may continue to enlist third parties to assist with sales, distribution and customer support. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in
attracting desirable sales and distribution partners or that we will be able to enter into arrangements with such partners on terms favorable to us. If our sales and
marketing efforts, or those of any of our third-party sales and distribution partners, are not successful, our technologies and products may not gain market acceptance,
which could materially impact our business operations.

We rely on other companies for the manufacture of certain components and sub-assemblies and intend to outsource additional sub-assemblies in the future. We
may not be able to successfully scale the manufacturing process necessary to build and test multiple products on a full commercial basis, which could materially
harm our business.

Our products are complex and involve a large number of unique components, many of which require precision manufacturing. The nature of the products requires
customized components that are currently available only from a limited number of sources, and in some cases, single sources. We have chosen to source certain critical
components from a single source, including suppliers for our SMRT Cells, reagents and instruments. If we are required to purchase these components from an
alternative source, it could take several months or longer to qualify the alternative sources. If we are unable to secure a sufficient supply of these product components on
a timely basis, our operations and manufacturing will be adversely affected, we could be unable to meet customer demand and our business and results of operations
may be adversely affected.

The operations of our third-party manufacturing partners and suppliers could be disrupted by conditions unrelated to our business or operations or that are beyond
our control. If our manufacturing partners or suppliers are unable or fail to fulfill their obligations to us for any reason, we may not be able to manufacture our products
and satisfy customer demand or our obligations under sales agreements in a timely manner, and our business could be harmed as a result. Our current manufacturing
process is characterized by long lead times between the ordering and delivery of our products. If we have ordered insufficient components to manufacture our products
on a timely basis to meet customer demand, our sales and our gross margin may be adversely affected and our business could be materially harmed. If we are unable to
reduce our manufacturing costs and establish and maintain reliable high volume manufacturing suppliers as we scale our operations, our business could be materially
harmed.

We may be unable to consistently manufacture our instruments and consumable kits, including SMRT Cells, to the specifications required by our customers or in
quantities necessary to meet demand at an acceptable cost.

In order to successfully derive revenue from our products, we need to supply our customers with products that meet their specifications, quality requirements and
expectations. Our customers have previously experienced variability in the performance of our instruments and SMRT Cells. There is no assurance that we will be able
to manufacture our products so that they consistently achieve the product specifications and quality that our customers expect, including those products and
specifications that may be developed pursuant to the Roche Agreement. There is also no assurance that we will be able to increase manufacturing yields and decrease
costs, or that we will be successful in forecasting customer demand or manufacturing and supply costs. Furthermore, we may
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not be able to increase manufacturing to meet anticipated demand. An inability to manufacture products that consistently meet specifications, in necessary quantities and
at commercially acceptable costs, will have a negative material impact on our business.

We intend to raise additional financing to fund our existing operations. Equity and debt securities we issue may have rights senior to common stockholders.

We intend to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity financing. Additional funds may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all,
particularly in light of restrictions under our debt agreement. We have incurred and may further incur additional debt. Debt holders have rights senior to common
stockholders to make claims on our assets and the terms of our existing debt agreement restrict certain activities, including our ability to pay dividends on our common
stock.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations.

Our net losses since inception and our expectation of incurring substantial losses and negative cash flow for the foreseeable future, combined with our existing
indebtedness, could:

‘make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations, including under the debt agreement;

“increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

limit our ability to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, research and development and other business opportunities;
Tequire us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service payments on our indebtedness;

“increase the volatility of the price of our common stock;

‘limit our flexibility to react to changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

‘place us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors that have less or no indebtedness; and

‘limit, along with the financial and other restrictive covenants in our indebtedness, among other things, our ability to borrow additional funds.

Our existing debt contains covenants which may adversely impact our business and our failure to comply with such covenants could cause our outstanding
indebtedness to become immediately payable.

Our existing debt contains various affirmative and negative covenants, including restrictions on our and our subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional indebtedness
or liens on our assets. These covenants impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us, including restrictions on our ability to take certain actions that may
be in our best interests.

A breach of any of the covenants contained in our debt could result in an event of default. If an event of default exists, debt holders could elect to declare all
amounts outstanding under the debt to be immediately due and payable. If we are unable to repay our indebtedness when due and payable, debt holders could proceed
against the collateral granted to them to secure such indebtedness. We have pledged substantially all of our property and interests in property, including our intellectual
property, as collateral under our existing debt. If the debt holders accelerate the repayment of our indebtedness, we may not have sufficient funds to make such
repayment, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and ability to conduct our business.

In addition, at the election of the holders representing a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes issued pursuant to our existing debt
agreement, the holders may elect to receive 25% of the net proceeds from any financing that includes an equity component, including without limitation, the sale or
issuance of our common stock, options, warrants or other securities convertible or exchangeable for shares of our common stock, as payment of the notes. This right is
subject to certain exceptions set forth in our existing debt agreement, including that the right will not apply until we have issued 15.0 million shares of our common
stock following the date of our existing debt agreement. To the extent we raise additional capital in the future through the sale of common stock under our “at the
market” offering or through other financing activities, we may be obligated, at the election of the holders of the notes, to pay 25% of the net proceeds from any such
financing activities as payment of the notes.

Our products are highly complex and have recurring support requirements.

In light of the highly complex technology involved in our products, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue providing adequate support for our
products. Our customers have in the past experienced reliability issues with our products. If our products have reliability or other quality issues or require unexpected
levels of support in the future, the market acceptance and utilization of our products may not grow to levels sufficient to support our costs and our reputation and
business could be harmed. We generally deliver our sequencing instruments with one year of service included in the purchase price and offer additional years of service
for an additional fee. If our service and support costs increase, our business and operations may be adversely affected.
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Our products could have unknown defects or errors, which may give rise to claims against us or divert application of our resources from other purposes.

Products using our SMRT technology are complex and may develop or contain undetected defects or errors. We cannot provide assurance that material
performance problems will not arise. Despite testing, defects or errors may arise in our products, which could result in a failure to achieve increased market acceptance,
diversion of development resources, injury to our reputation and increased warranty, service and maintenance costs. We generally ship our sequencing instruments with
one year of service included in the purchase price with an option to purchase one or more additional years of service. We also provide a warranty for our consumables,
which is generally limited to replacing, or at our option, giving credit for, any consumable with defects in material or workmanship. Defects or errors in our products
may also discourage customers from purchasing our products. The costs incurred in correcting any defects or errors may be substantial and could adversely affect our
operating margins. In addition, such defects or errors could lead to the filing of product liability claims against us or against third parties who we may have an obligation
to indemnify against such claims, which could be costly and time-consuming to defend and result in substantial damages. Although we have product liability insurance,
any product liability insurance that we have or procure in the future may not protect our business from the financial impact of a product liability claim. Moreover, we
may not be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage on acceptable terms. Any insurance that we have or obtain will be subject to deductibles and coverage limits. A
product liability claim could have a serious adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on the continuing efforts of our senior management team and other key personnel. If we lose members of our senior management team or other key
personnel or are unable to successfully retain, recruit and train qualified scientists, engineering and other personnel, our ability to develop our products could be
harmed, and we may be unable to achieve our goals.

Our future success depends upon the continuing services of members of our senior management team and scientific and engineering personnel. In particular, our
scientists and engineers are critical to our future technological and product innovations and we will need to hire additional qualified personnel. Our industry, particularly
in the San Francisco Bay Area, is characterized by high demand and intense competition for talent, and the turnover rate can be high. We compete for qualified
management and scientific personnel with other life science companies, academic institutions and research institutions, particularly those focusing on genomics. Our
employees could leave our company with little or no prior notice and would be free to work for a competitor. If one or more of our senior executives or other key
personnel were unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, we may not be able to replace them easily or at all, and other senior management may be
required to divert attention from other aspects of the business. In addition, we do not have “key person” life insurance policies covering any member of our management
team or other key personnel. The loss of any of these individuals or any inability to attract or retain qualified personnel, including scientists, engineers and others, could
prevent us from pursuing collaborations and adversely affect our product development and introductions, business growth prospects, results of operations and financial
condition.

A significant portion of our potential sales depends on customers’ spending budgets that may be subject to significant and unexpected variation which could have a
negative effect on the demand for our products.

Our instrument sales represent significant capital purchases for our customers. Potential customers for our current or future products include academic and
government institutions, genome centers, medical research institutions, clinical laboratories, pharmaceutical, agricultural, biotechnology, diagnostic and chemical
companies. Their spending budgets can have a significant effect on the demand for our products. Spending budgets are based on a wide variety of factors, including the
allocation of available resources to make purchases, funding from government sources which is highly uncertain, , the spending priorities among various types of
research equipment and policies regarding capital expenditures during economically uncertain periods. Any decrease in capital spending or change in spending priorities
of our customers and potential customers could significantly reduce the demand for our products. Any delay or reduction in purchases by potential customers or our
inability to forecast fluctuations in demand could harm our future operating results.

We may not be able to convert our orders in backlog into revenue.

Our backlog represents product orders from our customers that we have confirmed and for which we have not yet recognized revenue. We may not receive
revenue from these orders, and the order backlog we report may not be indicative of our future revenue.

Many events can cause an order to be delayed or not completed at all, some of which may be out of our control. If we delay fulfilling customer orders, those
customers may seek to cancel their orders with us. In addition, customers may otherwise seek to cancel or delay their orders even if we are prepared to fulfill them. If
our orders in backlog do not result in sales, our operating results may suffer.

Delivery of our products could be delayed or disrupted by factors beyond our control, and we could lose customers as a result.

We rely on third-party carriers for the timely delivery of our products. As a result, we are subject to carrier disruptions and increased costs that are beyond our
control. Any failure to deliver products to our customers in a safe and timely manner may damage our reputation and brand and could cause us to lose customers. If our
relationship with any of these third-party carriers is terminated or
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impaired or if any of these third parties are unable to deliver our products, the delivery and acceptance of our products by our customers may be delayed, which could
harm our business and financial results. The failure to deliver our products in a safe and timely manner may harm our relationship with our customers, increase our costs
and otherwise disrupt our operations.

We are, and may become, subject to governmental regulations that may impose burdens on our operations, and the markets for our products may be narrowed.

We are subject, both directly and indirectly, to the adverse impact of government regulation of our operations and markets. For example, export of our instruments
may be subject to strict regulatory control in a number of jurisdictions. The failure to satisfy export control criteria or to obtain necessary clearances could delay or
prevent shipment of products, which could adversely affect our revenue and profitability. Moreover, the life sciences industry, which is expected to be one of the
primary markets for our technology, has historically been heavily regulated. There are, for example, laws in several jurisdictions restricting research in genetic
engineering, which may narrow our markets. Given the evolving nature of this industry, legislative bodies or regulatory authorities may adopt additional regulations that
may adversely affect our market opportunities. Additionally, if ethical and other concerns surrounding the use of genetic information, diagnostics or therapies become
widespread, there may be less demand for our products. Our business is also directly affected by a wide variety of government regulations applicable to business
enterprises generally and to companies operating in the life science industry in particular. Failure to comply with government regulations or obtain or maintain necessary
permits and licenses could result in a variety of fines or other censures or an interruption in our business operations which may have a negative impact on our ability to
generate revenue and could increase the cost of operating our business

Our products could in the future be subject to regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration or other domestic and international regulatory agencies, which
could increase our costs and delay our commercialization efforts, thereby materially and adversely affecting our business and results of operations.

Our products are not currently subject to U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, clearance or approval since they are not intended for use in the diagnosis or
treatment of disease. However, in the future, certain of our products or related applications could be subject to FDA regulation, or the FDA’s regulatory jurisdiction
could be expanded to include our products. Even where a product is exempted from FDA clearance or approval, the FDA may impose restrictions as to the types of
customers to which we or our partners can market and sell our products. Such regulation and restrictions may materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Many countries have laws and regulations that could affect our products. The number and scope of these requirements are increasing. Unlike many of our
competitors, this is an area where we do not have expertise. We, or our other third-party sales and distribution partners, may not be able to obtain regulatory approvals in
such countries or may incur significant costs in obtaining or maintaining our foreign regulatory approvals. In addition, the export by us of certain of our products, which
have not yet been cleared for domestic commercial distribution, may be subject to FDA or other export restrictions.

Doing business internationally creates operational and financial risks for our business.

Conducting and launching operations on an international scale requires close coordination of activities across multiple jurisdictions and time zones and consumes
significant management resources. If we fail to coordinate and manage these activities effectively, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be
adversely affected. International operations entail a variety of risks, including challenges in staffing and managing foreign operations, tariffs and other trade barriers,
unexpected changes in legislative or regulatory requirements of foreign countries into which we sell our products, difficulties in obtaining export licenses or in
overcoming other trade barriers and restrictions resulting in delivery delays and significant taxes or other burdens of complying with a variety of foreign laws. In
conducting our international operations, we will be subject to U.S. laws relating to our international activities, as well as foreign laws relating to our activities in other
countries. Failure to comply with these laws may subject us to financial and other penalties in the U.S. and foreign countries that could impact our operations or
financial condition.

Changes in the value of the relevant currencies may affect the cost of certain items required in our operations. Changes in currency exchange rates may also affect
the relative prices at which we are able sell products in the same market. Our revenue from international customers may be negatively impacted as increases in the
U.S. dollar relative to our international customers’ local currencies could make our products more expensive, impacting our ability to compete. Our costs of materials
from international suppliers may increase as the value of the U.S. dollar decreases relative to their local currency. Foreign policies and actions regarding currency
valuation could result in actions by the United States and other countries to offset the effects of such fluctuations. Such actions may adversely impact our financial
condition and results of operations.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could be impaired, which would
adversely affect our business and our stock price.

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a
costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. We may in the future discover areas of our internal financial and accounting controls and
procedures that need improvement. Operating as a public company
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requires sufficient resources within the accounting and finance functions in order to produce timely financial information, ensure the level of segregation of duties, and
maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting customary for a U.S. public company.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Our management does not expect that our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances
of fraud, if any, within our company will have been detected.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we perform periodic evaluations of our internal control over financial reporting. While we have in the past
performed this evaluation and concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was operating effectively, , there can be no assurance that in the future
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies will not exist or otherwise be discovered. In addition, if we are unable to produce accurate financial statements on a
timely basis, investors could lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which could cause the market price of our common stock to decline and make
it more difficult for us to finance our operations and growth.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to substantial limitations.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-
change net operating losses, or NOLs, to offset future taxable income. We believe that we have had one or more ownership changes, as a result of which our existing
NOL:s are currently subject to limitation. Future changes in our stock ownership could result in additional ownership changes under Section 382. We may not be able to
utilize a material portion of our NOLs, even if we attain profitability.

Our sales cycle is unpredictable and lengthy, which makes it difficult to forecast revenue and may increase the magnitude of quarterly fluctuations in our operating
results.

The sales cycle for our sequencing instruments is lengthy because they are a major capital item and generally require the approval of our customers’ senior
management. This may contribute to substantial fluctuations in our quarterly operating results, particularly during the periods in which our sales volume is low. Because
of these fluctuations, it is likely that in some future quarters our operating results will fall below the expectations of securities analysts or investors. If that happens, the
market price of our stock would likely decrease. Past fluctuations in our quarterly operating results have resulted in decreases in our stock price. Such fluctuations also
mean that investors may not be able to rely upon our operating results in any particular period as an indication of future performance.

Our operations involve the use of hazardous materials, and we must comply with environmental, health and safety laws, which can be expensive and may adversely
affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our research and development and manufacturing activities involve the use of hazardous materials, including chemicals and biological materials, and some of our
products include hazardous materials. Accordingly, we are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws, regulations and permits relating to environmental, health and
safety matters, including, among others, those governing the use, storage, handling, exposure to and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes, the health and safety of
our employees, and the shipment, labeling, collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of products containing hazardous materials. Liability under environmental laws
and regulations can be joint and several and without regard to fault or negligence. For example, under certain circumstances and under certain environmental laws, we
could be held liable for costs relating to contamination at our or our predecessors’ past or present facilities and at third-party waste disposal sites. We could also be held
liable for damages arising out of human exposure to hazardous materials. There can be no assurance that violations of environmental, health and safety laws will not
occur as a result of human error, accident, equipment failure or other causes. The failure to comply with past, present or future laws could result in the imposition of
substantial fines and penalties, remediation costs, property damage and personal injury claims, investigations, the suspension of production or product sales, loss of
permits or a cessation of operations. Any of these events could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. We also expect that our operations will be
affected by new environmental, health and safety laws and regulations on an ongoing basis, or more stringent enforcement of existing laws and regulations. New laws or
changes to existing laws may result in additional costs and may increase penalties associated with violations or require us to change the content of our products or how
we manufacture them, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our facilities in California are located near known earthquake faults, and the occurrence of an earthquake or other catastrophic disaster could cause damage to
our facilities and equipment, which could require us to cease or curtail operations.

Our facilities in the San Francisco Bay Area are located near known earthquake fault zones and are vulnerable to damage from earthquakes. We are also
vulnerable to damage from other types of disasters, including fire, floods, power loss, communications
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failures and similar events. If any disaster were to occur, our ability to operate our business at our facilities would be seriously, or potentially completely, impaired. In
addition, the nature of our activities could cause significant delays in our research programs and commercial activities and make it difficult for us to recover from a
disaster. The insurance we maintain may not be adequate to cover our losses resulting from disasters or other business interruptions. Accordingly, an earthquake or other
disaster could materially and adversely harm our ability to conduct business.

Our ability to successfully manage our anticipated transition to our proposed new headquarters could result in a material adverse effect on our business or
operations if we underestimate the costs of the transition, experience delays or quality issues with our manufacturing, or if internal measures to mitigate these risks
are not effective.

In July 2015, we announced plans to transition to our proposed new headquarters in Menlo Park, California. In the event that we obtain or waive receipt of the
required architectural approval and change of use permit by September 30, 2015, such that neither we nor our future landlord exercise our respective rights to terminate
the new lease, the successful transition of our headquarters, including the transition of our manufacturing facilities, is still largely dependent upon the cooperation and
continued performance of both our current and future landlords, as well as third-party contractors who will prepare certain shell improvements and tenant
improvements. During the transition period, we must establish procedures to ensure that our current and future manufacturing facilities meet our quality standards while
maintaining a reasonable cost structure. In addition, after our new manufacturing facilities have been qualified, it may take a considerable period of time to commence
volume production. We may need to devote significant expenses and resources in connection with the anticipated transition, and there is no assurance that we can
manage the transition successfully. If the anticipated transition does not go as expected, in addition to other issues noted above, we could experience delayed shipments
of products, unexpected cost overruns or quality issues, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and business reputation.

Ethical, legal, privacy and social concerns surrounding the use of genetic information could reduce demand for our technology.

Our products may be used to provide genetic information about humans, agricultural crops and other living organisms. The information obtained from our
products could be used in a variety of applications which may have underlying ethical, legal, privacy and social concerns, including the genetic engineering or
modification of agricultural products or testing for genetic predisposition for certain medical conditions. Governmental authorities could, for safety, social or other
purposes, call for limits on or regulation of the use of genetic testing. Such concerns or governmental restrictions could limit the use of our products, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Disruption of critical information technology systems or material breaches in the security of our systems could harm our business, customer relations and financial
condition.

Information technology ("IT") helps us operate efficiently, interface with customers, maintain financial accuracy and efficiency and accurately produce our
financial statements. IT systems are used extensively in virtually all aspects of our business, including sales forecast, order fulfillment and billing, customer service,
logistics, and management of data from running samples on our products. Our success depends, in part, on the continued and uninterrupted performance of our IT
systems. IT systems may be vulnerable to damage from a variety of sources, including telecommunications or network failures, power loss, natural disasters, human
acts, computer viruses, computer denial-of-service attacks, unauthorized access to customer or employee data or company trade secrets, and other attempts to harm our
systems. Certain of our systems are not redundant, and our disaster recovery planning is not sufficient for every eventuality. Despite any precautions we may take, such
problems could result in, among other consequences, disruption of our operations, which could harm our reputation and financial results.

If we do not allocate and effectively manage the resources necessary to build and sustain the proper IT infrastructure, we could be subject to transaction errors,
processing inefficiencies, the loss of customers, business disruptions or the loss of or damage to intellectual property through security breach. If our data management
systems do not effectively collect, store, process and report relevant data for the operation of our business, whether due to equipment malfunction or constraints,
software deficiencies or human error, our ability to effectively plan, forecast and execute our business plan and comply with applicable laws and regulations will be
impaired, perhaps materially. Any such impairment could materially and adversely affect our reputation, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the
timeliness with which we report our internal and external operating results.

Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information and expose us to liability, which would cause our business and reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including intellectual property, our proprietary business information and that of our
customers, suppliers and business partners, and personally identifiable information of our customers and employees, in our data centers and on our networks. The secure
processing, maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations. Despite our security measures, our IT infrastructure may be vulnerable to
attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance, faulty password management or other disruptions. Third parties may attempt to fraudulently induce
employees or other persons into disclosing user names, passwords or other sensitive information, which may in
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turn be used to access our IT systems. Any such breach could compromise our networks and the information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or
stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal
information, disruption of our operations and damage to our reputation, which could adversely affect our business, revenues and competitive position.

Regulations related to conflict minerals will cause us to incur additional expenses and could limit the supply and increase the costs of certain materials used in the
manufacture of our products.

We are subject to requirements under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or the Dodd-Frank Act, that require us to
conduct diligence, and report whether or not our products contain conflict minerals. The implementation of these requirements could adversely affect the sourcing,
availability and pricing of the materials used in the manufacture of components used in our products. Furthermore, the complex nature of our products requires
components and materials that may be available only from a limited number of sources and, in some cases, from only a single source. We have incurred, and will
continue to incur, additional costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to conducting diligence procedures to determine the sources of
conflict minerals that may be used or necessary to the production of our products and, if applicable, potential changes to components, processes or sources of supply as a
consequence of such verification activities. We may face reputational harm if we determine that certain of our instruments contain minerals not determined to be conflict
free or if we are unable to alter our processes or sources of supply to avoid using such materials. Reputational harm could adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Failure to secure patent or other intellectual property protection for our products and improvements to our products may reduce our ability to maintain any
technological or competitive advantage over our competitors and potential competitors.

Our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights is uncertain and depends on complex legal and factual questions. Our ability to establish or
maintain a technological or competitive advantage over our competitors may be diminished because of these uncertainties. For example:

"we or our licensors might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications or issued patents;
" we or our licensors might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;
"it is possible that neither our pending patent applications nor the pending patent applications of our licensors will result in issued patents;

"our patents or the patents of our licensors may not be of sufficient scope to prevent others from practicing our technologies, developing competing products,
designing around our patented technologies or independently developing similar or alternative technologies;

"our and our licensors’ patent applications or patents have been, are and may in the future be, subject to interference, opposition or similar administrative
proceedings, which could result in those patent applications failing to issue as patents, those patents being held invalid or the scope of those patents being
substantially reduced;

we or our partners may not adequately protect our trade secrets;
" we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; or
"the patents of others may limit our freedom to operate and prevent us from commercializing our technology in accordance with our plans.

The occurrence of any of these events could impair our ability to operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others or prevent us from establishing or
maintaining a competitive advantage over our competitors.

Variability in intellectual property laws may adversely affect our intellectual property position.

Intellectual property laws, and patent laws and regulations in particular, have been subject to significant variability either through administrative or legislative
changes to such laws or regulations or changes or differences in judicial interpretation, and it is expected that such variability will continue to occur. Additionally,
intellectual property laws and regulations differ among countries. Variations in the patent laws and regulations or in interpretations of patent laws and regulations in the
United States and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property and may change the impact of third-party intellectual property on us. Accordingly,
we cannot predict the scope of patents that may be granted to us, the extent to which we will be able to enforce our patents against third parties or the extent to which
third parties may be able to enforce their patents against us.

Some of the intellectual property that is important to our business is owned by other companies or institutions and licensed to us, and changes to the rights we have
licensed may adversely impact our business.

We license from third parties some of the intellectual property that is important to our business. If we fail to meet our obligations under these licenses, these third
parties could terminate the licenses. If the third parties who license intellectual property to
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us fail to maintain the intellectual property that we have licensed, or lose rights to that intellectual property, the rights we have licensed may be reduced or eliminated,
which could subject us to claims of intellectual property infringement. Termination of these licenses or reduction or elimination of our licensed rights may result in our
having to negotiate new or reinstated licenses with less favorable terms, or could subject us to claims of intellectual property infringement in litigation or other
administrative proceedings that could result in damage awards against us and injunctions that could prohibit us from selling our products. In addition, some of our
licenses from third parties limit the field in which we can use the licensed technology. Therefore, in order for us to use such licensed technology in potential future
applications that are outside the licensed field of use, we may be required to negotiate new licenses with our licensors or expand our rights under our existing licenses.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain such licenses or expanded rights on reasonable terms or at all. In addition, we have limited rights to participate in the
prosecution and enforcement of the patents and patent applications that we have licensed. As a result, we cannot be certain that these patents and applications will be
prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. Further, because of the rapid pace of technological change in our industry, we
may need to rely on key technologies developed or licensed by third parties, and we may not be able to obtain licenses and technologies from these third parties at all or
on reasonable terms. The occurrence of these events may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The measures that we use to protect the security of our intellectual property and other proprietary rights may not be adequate, which could result in the loss of legal
protection for, and thereby diminish the value of, such intellectual property and other rights.

In addition to patents, we also rely upon trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights and unfair competition laws, as well as license agreements and other contractual
provisions, to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. Despite these measures, any of our intellectual property rights could be challenged,
invalidated, circumvented or misappropriated. In addition, we attempt to protect our intellectual property and proprietary information by requiring our employees and
consultants to enter into confidentiality and assignment of inventions agreements, and by entering into confidentiality agreements with our third-party development,
manufacturing, sales and distribution partners , who may also acquire, develop and/or commercialize alternative or competing products or provide services to our
competitors. For example, Roche has certain access to our trade secrets and other proprietary information pursuant to the Roche Agreement, subject to the
confidentiality provisions thereof; however, Roche has also developed and commercializes its 454 Life Sciences sequencing systems and is developing alternative and
potentially competing sequencing products through its acquisition of Genia Technologies. There can be no assurance, however, that such measures will provide adequate
protection for our intellectual property and proprietary information. These agreements may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach. In
addition, our trade secrets and other proprietary information may be disclosed to others, or others may gain access to or disclose our trade secrets and other proprietary
information. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable.
Additionally, others may independently develop proprietary information and techniques that are substantially equivalent to ours. The occurrence of these events may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our intellectual property may be subject to challenges in the United States or foreign jurisdictions that could adversely affect our intellectual property position.

Our pending, issued and granted U.S. and foreign patents and patent applications have been, are and may in the future be, subject to challenges by third parties
asserting prior invention by others or invalidity on various grounds, through proceedings, such as interferences, reexamination or opposition proceedings. Addressing
these challenges to our intellectual property has previously been, and any future challenges can be, costly and distract management’s attention and resources. For
example, we previously incurred significant legal expenses to litigate and settle a complaint seeking review of a patent interference decision of the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office. Additionally, as a result of these challenges, our patents or pending patent applications may be determined to be unpatentable to us, invalidated or
unenforceable in whole or in part. Accordingly, adverse rulings from the relevant patent offices in these proceedings may negatively impact the scope of our intellectual
property protection for our products and technology and may adversely affect our business.

Some of our technology is subject to “march-in” rights by the U.S. government.

Some of our patented technology was developed with U.S. federal government funding. When new technologies are developed with U.S. government funding, the
government obtains certain rights in any resulting patents, including a nonexclusive license authorizing the government to use the invention for non-commercial
purposes. These rights may permit the government to disclose our confidential information to third parties and to exercise “march-in” rights to use or allow third parties
to use our patented technology. The government can exercise its march-in rights if it determines that action is necessary because we fail to achieve practical application
of the U.S. government-funded technology, because action is necessary to alleviate health or safety needs, to meet requirements of federal regulations, or to give
preference to U.S. industry. In addition, U.S. government-funded inventions must be reported to the government and U.S. government funding must be disclosed in any
resulting patent applications. In addition, our rights in such inventions are subject to government license rights and foreign manufacturing restrictions.
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We may become involved in legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights.

Our intellectual property rights involve complex factual, scientific and legal questions. We operate in an industry characterized by significant intellectual property
litigation. Even though we may believe that we have a valid patent on a particular technology, other companies may have from time to time taken, and may in the future
take, actions that we believe violate our patent rights. Legal actions to enforce these patent rights can be expensive and may involve the diversion of significant
management time and resources. Our enforcement actions may not be successful, could give rise to legal claims against us and could result in some of our intellectual
property rights being determined to be invalid or not enforceable.

We could in the future be subject to legal proceedings with third parties who may claim that our products infringe or misappropriate their intellectual property
rights.

Our products are based on complex, rapidly developing technologies. We may not be aware of issued or previously filed patent applications belonging to third
parties that mature into issued patents that cover some aspect of our products or their use. In addition, because patent litigation is complex and the outcome inherently
uncertain, our belief that our products do not infringe third-party patents of which we are aware or that such third-party patents are invalid and unenforceable may be
determined to be incorrect. As a result, third parties have claimed, and may in the future claim, that we infringe their patent rights and have filed, and may in the future
file, lawsuits or engage in other proceedings against us to enforce their patent rights. In addition, as we enter new markets, our competitors and other third parties may
claim that our products infringe their intellectual property rights as part of a business strategy to impede our successful entry into those markets. Patent litigation
between competitors in our industry is common. Additionally, we have certain obligations to many of our customers to indemnify and defend them against claims by
third parties that our products or their use infringe any intellectual property of these third parties. In defending ourselves against any of these claims, we have in the past
incurred, and could in the future incur, substantial costs, and the attention of our management and technical personnel could be diverted. For example, we previously
incurred significant legal expenses to litigate and settle a complaint alleging patent infringement. Even if we have an agreement to indemnify us against such costs, the
indemnifying party may be unable to uphold its contractual obligations. To avoid or settle legal claims, it may be necessary or desirable in the future to obtain licenses
relating to one or more products or relating to current or future technologies, which could negatively affect our gross margins. We may not be able to obtain these
licenses on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. We may be unable to modify our products so that they do not infringe the intellectual property rights of third
parties. In some situations the results of litigation or settlement of claims may require that we cease allegedly infringing activities which could prevent us from selling
some or all of our products. The occurrence of these events may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, in the course of our business we may from time to time have access or be alleged to have access to confidential or proprietary information of others,
which though not patented, may be protected as trade secrets. Others could bring claims against us asserting that we improperly used their confidential or proprietary
information, or misappropriated their technologies and incorporated those technologies into our products. A determination that we illegally used the confidential or
proprietary information or misappropriated technologies of others in our products could result in our having to pay substantial damage awards or be prevented from
selling some or all of our products, which could adversely affect our business.

We have not yet registered some of our trademarks in all of our potential markets, and failure to secure those registrations could adversely affect our business.

Some of our trademark applications may not be allowed for registration, and our registered trademarks may not be maintained or enforced. In addition, in the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office and in comparable agencies in many foreign jurisdictions, third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark applications
and to seek to cancel registered trademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks, and our trademarks may not survive such
proceedings.

Our use of “open source” software could adversely affect our ability to sell our products and subject us to possible litigation.

A portion of our products or technologies developed and/or distributed by us incorporate “open source” software, and we may incorporate open source software
into other products or technologies in the future. Some open source software licenses require that we disclose the source code for any modifications to such open source
software that we make and distribute to one or more third parties, and that we license the source code for such modifications to third parties, including our competitors,
at no cost. We monitor the use of open source software in our products to avoid uses in a manner that would require us to disclose or grant licenses under our source
code that we wish to maintain as proprietary, however there can be no assurance that such efforts have been or will be successful. In some circumstances, distribution of
our software that includes or is linked with open source software could require that we disclose and license some or all of our proprietary source code in that software,
which could include permitting the use of such software and source code at no cost to the user. Open source license terms are often ambiguous, and there is little legal
precedent governing the interpretation of these licenses. Successful claims made by the licensors of open source software that we have violated the terms of these
licenses could result in unanticipated obligations including being subject to significant damages, being enjoined from distributing products that incorporate open source
software, and being required to make available our proprietary source code pursuant to an open source license, which could substantially help our competitors develop
products that are similar to or better than ours and otherwise adversely affect our business.
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Risks Related to Owning Our Common Stock

The price of our common stock has been, is, and may continue to be, highly volatile, and you may be unable to sell your shares at or above the price you paid to
acquire them.

The market price of our common stock is highly volatile, and we expect it to continue to be volatile for the foreseeable future in response to many risk factors
listed in this section, and others beyond our control, including:

< actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and operating results;

« announcements of technological innovations by us or our competitors;

« announcements by our customers, partners or suppliers relating directly or indirectly to our products, services or technologies;
« overall conditions in our industry and market;

« addition or loss of significant customers;

< changes in laws or regulations applicable to our products;

¢ actual or anticipated changes in our growth rate relative to our competitors;

« announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, capital commitments or achievement of significant
milestones;

« additions or departures of key personnel;

« competition from existing products or new products that may emerge;

* issuance of new or updated research or reports by securities analysts;

¢ fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us;

« disputes or other developments related to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain intellectual property protection for
our technologies;

* announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts;

« sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders;

« stock price and volume fluctuations attributable to inconsistent trading volume levels of our shares;
« reports, guidance and ratings issued by securities or industry analysts; and

« general economic and market conditions.

If any of the forgoing occurs, it would cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. Stock markets in general and the market for companies in our industry
in particular have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many companies. These
fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as
general economic, political and market conditions such as recessions, interest rate changes or international currency fluctuations, may negatively impact the market
price of our common stock. You may not realize any return on your investment in us and may lose some or all of your investment. In the past, companies that have
experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We have been a party to this type of litigation in the recent
past and may be the target of this type of litigation again in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s
attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Future sales of our common stock could cause our stock price to fall.

‘We maintain a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC pursuant to which we may, from time to time, sell up to an aggregate of $150 million of our
common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants, units or debt securities. We have established, and may in the future establish, “at-the-market” offerings
pursuant to which we may offer and sell shares of our common stock. Sales of securities under the registration statement have resulted and will continue to result in
dilution of our stockholders, and such sales could cause our stock price to fall.

In addition, the holders of a significant number of shares of our common stock are entitled to rights with respect to registration of such shares under the Securities
Act pursuant to an investor rights agreement between such holders and us. If such holders, by exercising their registration rights, sell a large number of shares, they
could adversely affect the market price for our common stock. If we file a registration statement for the purpose of selling additional shares to raise capital and are
required to include shares held by these holders pursuant to the exercise of their registration rights, our ability to raise capital may be impaired. Such holders have
waived their registration rights with respect to the sale of shares of our common stock pursuant to the registration statements on Form S-3.
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Concentration of ownership by our principal stockholders may result in control by such stockholders of the composition of our board of directors.

Our existing significant stockholders, executive officers, directors and their affiliates beneficially own a significant number of our outstanding shares of common
stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise a significant level of control over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of
directors. This control could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control of our company or changes in management and will make the approval of
certain transactions difficult or impossible without the support of these stockholders.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more
difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as amended and restated, may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in
our management. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws include provisions that:

« authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, up to 50,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock and up to
approximately 1,000,000,000 shares of authorized but unissued shares of common stock;

* require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by written consent;

< specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the
President;

« establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder approvals to be brought before an annual meeting of our stockholders, including proposed nominations
of persons for election to our board of directors;

« establish that our board of directors is divided into three classes, Class I, Class II and Class III, with each class serving staggered terms;
« provide that our directors may be removed only for cause; and
« provide that vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less than a quorum.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are
incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stockholders owning
in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock to merge or combine with us.

Our development agreement with Roche may deter or reduce the number of potential acquirers thus reducing or placing negative pressure on our stock price.

The Roche Agreement could make an acquisition of our company, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, less likely, whether or not we realize the expected
benefits from the Roche Agreement. For example, the exclusive rights and licenses granted to Roche pursuant to the Roche Agreement, or our development,
manufacturing and supply obligations pursuant to the Roche Agreement, may make an acquisition of our company less appealing to third parties that compete with
Roche.

Our large number of authorized but unissued shares of common stock may potentially dilute your stockholdings.

We have a significant number of authorized but unissued shares of common stock. Our board of directors may issue shares of common stock from this authorized
but unissued pool from time to time without stockholder approval, resulting in the dilution of our existing stockholders.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, the
terms of our existing debt agreement restrict our ability to pay dividends on our common stock. We anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the
operation of our business and for general corporate purposes. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors.
Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their
investments.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

Item 3. Default Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

Not applicable

Item 6. Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits are filed (other than exhibits 32.1 and 32.2) as part of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q and such Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.
PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC.

Date: August 5, 2015 By: /s/ SUSAN K. BARNES

Susan K. Barnes
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer
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Exhibit Index
Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description
10.1 Lease Amendment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Peninsula Innovation Partners, LLC, dated July 23, 2015
10.2+ Lease Agreement by and between the Registrant and Menlo Park Portfolio I, LLC, dated July 22, 2015
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
32.2% Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
+ Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this exhibit. These portions have been omitted from the exhibit filed herewith and have been

provided separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

* The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are deemed furnished and not filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc. under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of
any general incorporation language contained in such filing
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LEASE AMENDMENT AGREEMENT

This LEASE AMENDMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of July 23, 2015, by and
between Peninsula Innovation Partners, LL.C, a Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”) and Pacific Biosciences of
California, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).

A.
“Leases™):

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant are parties to the following leases (each, a “Lease”, and collectively, the

(6))] Lease dated as of December 15, 2010 and modified by that certain Commencement Date
Certificate dated by Tenant as of February 14, 2011 and by Landlord as of March 16, 2011, as amended by
that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 and as further amended by that certain
Second Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 (as amended, the “1350 Willow Lease™), pursuant to
which Landlord leases to Tenant certain premises (the “1350 Willow Premises”) consisting of approximately
14,001 square feet located at 1350 Willow Road, Suite 101, Menlo Park, California for a term that currently
expires on December 31, 2015;

(ii) Lease dated as of February 8, 2010 and modified by that certain Commencement Date
Certificate dated by Landlord as of September 8, 2010 and by Tenant as of August 24, 2010, as amended by
that certain First Amendment to Industrial Lease dated as of December 29, 2010, as further amended by that
certain Second Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 and as further amended by that certain Third
Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 (the “1380 Willow Lease”), pursuant to which Landlord
leases to Tenant certain premises (the “1380 Willow Premises) consisting of approximately 33,792 square
feet located at 1380 Willow Road, Menlo Park, California for a term that currently expires on December 31,
2015, subject to two (2) options to renew the initial term thereof each for a period of five (5) years;

(iii) Lease dated as of December 10, 2009 and modified by that certain Commencement Date
Certificate dated as of by Tenant as August 24, 2010 and by Landlord as of September 8, 2010, as amended by
that certain Second Amendment to Industrial Lease [sic] dated as of August 13, 2010, as further amended by
that certain Third Amendment to Industrial Lease dated as of December 29, 2010, as further amended by that
certain Fourth Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015, and as further amended by that certain Fifth
Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 (as amended, the “940 Hamilton Lease”), pursuant to which
Landlord leases to Tenant certain premises (the “940 Hamilton Premises”) consisting of approximately 29,371
square feet located at 940 Hamilton Avenue (formerly known as 1394 Willow Road), Menlo Park,
California for a term that currently expires on December 31, 2015, subject to two (2) options to renew the
initial term thereof each for a period of five (5) years;
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(iv)  Lease dated as of September 24, 2009, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease
Agreement dated as of May 19, 2010, as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to Industrial
Lease dated as of August 13, 2010, as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to Industrial Lease
dated as of December 29, 2010, as further amended by that certain Fourth Amendment to Lease dated as of
March 30, 2015 and as further amended by that certain Fifth Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015
(the “960 Hamilton Lease), pursuant to which Landlord leases to Tenant certain premises (the “960 Hamilton
Premises™) consisting of approximately 22,267 square feet located at 960 Hamilton Avenue (formerly known
as 1392 Willow Road), Menlo Park, California for a term that currently expires on December 31, 2015,
subject to two (2) options to renew the initial term thereof each for a period of five (5) years;

W) Lease dated as of December 15, 2010 and modified by that certain Commencement Date
Certificate dated by Tenant as of February 14, 2011 and by Landlord as of March 16, 2011, as amended by
that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 and as further amended by that certain
Second Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 (the “1003-1005 Hamilton Lease”), pursuant to
which Landlord leases to Tenant certain premises (the “1003-1005 Hamilton Premises”) consisting of
approximately 54,586 square feet located at 1003-1005 Hamilton Avenue, Menlo Park, California for a term
that currently expires on December 31, 2015, subject to two (2) options to renew the initial term thereof each
for a period of five (5) years;

(vi)  Lease dated as of December 15, 2010 and modified by that certain Commencement Date
Certificate dated by Tenant as of February 4, 2011 and by Landlord as of March 16, 2011, as further amended
by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 and as further amended by that certain
Second Amendment to Lease dated as of March 30, 2015 (the “1010 Hamilton Lease”), pursuant to which
Landlord leases to Tenant certain premises (the “1010 Hamilton Premises”) consisting of approximately
21,240 square feet located at 1010 Hamilton Avenue, Menlo Park, California for a term that currently expires
on December 31, 2015, subject to two (2) options to renew the initial term thereof each for a period of five (5)
years; and

(vii) Lease dated as of May 27, 2011, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated
as of March 30, 2015 and as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated as of March
30, 2015 (as amended, the “1180 Hamilton Lease”), pursuant to which Landlord leases to Tenant certain
premises (the “1180 Hamilton Premises”, and collectively with the 1350 Willow Premises, the 1380 Willow
Premises, the 940 Hamilton Premises, the 960 Hamilton Premises, the 1003-1005 Hamilton Premises, the
1010 Hamilton Premises, the “Premises™) approximately 11,160 square feet located at 1180 Hamilton Court,
Menlo Park, California for a term that currently expires on December 31, 2015.
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B. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant wish to modify the Leases on the terms and conditions set forth below.
AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the parties
hereto agree as follows:

1. Abatement.

a. For the period beginning May 1, 2015 through the end of the Term (the “OpEx Abatement Period”) for
each of the Leases (as amended hereby), Operating Expenses under the Leases (which shall include, for purposes
hereof, any Real Property Taxes payable under Section 10.3 of the Leases) shall be abated (the “Additional Abated
OpEx”). The Additional Abated OpEx shall be in lieu of the Abated OpEx and, notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in the Leases, during the OpEx Abatement Period Tenant shall not be required to pay Reduced Operating
Expenses (or, for clarity, any other Operating Expenses under the Leases). For further clarity, Tenant’s obligation to
pay Reduced Operating Expenses for the month of April, 2015 shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect (it
being noted that Tenant has already paid Landlord such Reduced Operating Expenses).

b. For the period beginning August 1, 2015 through the end of the Term for each of the Leases (as
amended hereby), Monthly Base Rent shall be abated (the “Additional Abated Rent”).

c. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Additional Abated OpEx and the Additional Abated Rent shall
immediately terminate upon (i) the delivery of the CUP Failure Notice (as defined below), or (ii) a Default by Tenant
under any Lease; provided, however that upon the cure of such Default by Tenant the Additional Abated OpEx and
the Additional Abated Rent shall recommence as of the date of cure.

2. Lease Term. The Term for the Leases are hereby amended as follows:
a. The Term for the 1180 Hamilton Lease shall expire on December 31, 2016.
b. The Term for (i) the 940 Hamilton Lease, (ii) the 960 Hamilton Lease, (iii) the 1003-1005

Hamilton Lease, (iv) the 1010 Hamilton Lease, and (v) the 1380 Willow Lease, shall expire on September 30, 2017.

c. All renewal, expansion and extension rights contained in any Lease, including but not limited
to the Options to Extend, are hereby terminated and of no further force or effect.

3. Agreement Contingency. Tenant intends to relocate to the building located at 1315 O’Brien Drive, Menlo
Park, California (the “O’Brien Building”). In order for Tenant to
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relocate to the O’Brien Building, the owner of the O’Brien Building will be required to obtain from the City of Menlo Park,
California (the “City™) an architectural approval and a change of use permit which would allow Tenant to operate its business
from within, and make certain improvements to, the O’Brien Building (collectively, the “CUP”). Receipt of the CUP in final,
non-appealable form on or before September 30, 2015 (the “Contingency Date”) is referred to in this Amendment as the
“CUP_Contingency”. The terms and conditions of this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or waiver (whether
affirmative or deemed) by Tenant of the CUP Contingency by the Contingency Date.

a. If (i) (1) the CUP is received by September 15, 2015 and (2) no appeal is made to the issuance of the
CUP within the fifteen (15) day appeal period provided pursuant to the City’s Municipal Code (the “Appeal Period”)
or (ii) (1) the CUP is received by September 15, 2015, (2) an appeal is made to the issuance of the CUP within the
Appeal Period, and (3) the City subsequently affirms the CUP in all material respects on or before the Contingency
Date, then, in either case, the CUP Contingency will be automatically deemed satisfied. Tenant shall provide
Landlord notice of (x) receipt of the CUP within two (2) business days following the occurrence thereof and (y) the
satisfaction of the CUP Contingency within two (2) business days thereof (the “Contingency Notice”), although the
failure of Tenant to provide such notice shall not have any effect on the satisfaction of the CUP Contingency. In
addition, at any time prior to the Contingency Date, Tenant may deliver a notice to Landlord waiving the CUP
Contingency (which shall also be deemed a Contingency Notice).

b. If prior to the Contingency Date the City reaches a final, non-appealable decision not to grant the
CUP, then on or before October 2, 2015 Tenant may deliver written notice to Landlord (the “CUP Failure Notice”)
that the CUP Contingency has not been satisfied. In addition, if (i) the CUP is not received by September 15, 2015
or (ii) (1) the CUP is received by September 15, 2015, (2) an appeal is made to the issuance of the CUP within the
Appeal Period, and (3) the City has not subsequently affirmed the CUP in all material respects on or before the
Contingency Date, then, in either case, Tenant may deliver the CUP Failure Notice to Landlord on or before October
2, 2015. Tenant’s failure to timely deliver the CUP Failure Notice or the Contingency Notice shall be deemed to be
an election by Tenant to waive the CUP Contingency.

C. If Tenant delivers the CUP Failure Notice:

(6] Within thirty (30) days following the delivery of the CUP Failure Notice, Tenant shall pay to
Landlord for each Lease: (A) all Additional Abated Opex, and (B) all Additional Abated Rent.

(ii) The Options to Extend contained in the applicable Leases shall be reinstated except that each
Option to Extend may be exercised by Tenant at any time through and including October 15, 2015.

(iii)  Section 2 of this Agreement shall be of no further force or effect, such that the Term for each
Lease shall automatically revert to expire on the
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Expiration Date for such Lease as though it had not been amended pursuant to Section 2 hereof.
(iv)  Landlord shall have no obligation to pay any Landlord Payment (as defined below).

W) Section 5(b) of this Agreement shall be of no further force or effect, such that Section 16.9 of
each Lease shall be in full force and effect as though it had not been amended hereby.

4. Early Termination Consideration. As consideration for Tenant’s agreements hereunder to amend the Leases,
and subject to the terms and conditions contained herein, Landlord shall make the following payments to Tenant (each, a
“Landlord Payment”):

a. Within thirty (30) days following the date that Landlord receives the Contingency Notice (or the
Contingency Date, if Tenant delivers neither the Contingency Notice nor the CUP Failure Notice), Landlord shall
pay Tenant Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00).

b. Landlord shall pay Tenant Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) on March 1, 2016.
C. Landlord shall pay Tenant Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) on September 1, 2016.

d. Landlord shall pay Tenant Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) (the “Final
Payment”) within thirty (30) days following the date Tenant surrenders the entirety of the Premises in compliance
with Section 5 below; provided, however, that the following conditions shall be express conditions precedent to
Landlord’s obligation to make the Final Payment: (i) Tenant shall have surrendered the entirety of the Premises in
compliance with Section 5 below on or before November 30, 2017, and (ii) Tenant shall not be in Default under any
Lease as of the date Tenant surrenders the entirety of the Premises (collectively, the “Final Payment Conditions”).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if the Final Payment Conditions are not satisfied, Landlord shall
give Tenant written notice (the “Final Payment Failure Notice”) identifying the reason(s) the Final Payment
Conditions were not satisfied. Tenant shall have a period of twenty-five (25) days following receipt of the Final
Payment Failure Notice to cause the Final Payment Conditions to be satisfied, and if Tenant causes the Final
Payment Conditions to be satisfied within such twenty-five (25) day period then Landlord shall be obligated to pay
Tenant the Final Payment.

5. Surrender. Upon the expiration or other termination of each applicable Term for the 1180 Hamilton Premises, the
1350 Willow Premises, the 1380 Willow Premises, the 940 Hamilton Premises, the 960 Hamilton Premises, the 1003-1005
Hamilton Premises, the 1010 Hamilton Premises (each a “Portion of the Premises”), Tenant shall surrender such Portion of
the Premises in accordance with the requirements of the applicable Lease, subject to the following modifications:
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a. Section 7.4 and Exhibit D of each Lease are hereby deleted in their entirety. Tenant shall surrender the
Premises clean and free of debris, but otherwise in their then “as is” condition, subject to Tenant’s obligations with
respect to Hazardous Substances set forth below. Tenant may remove any and all Tenant’s Property installed in the
Premises and any equipment installed in the Premises by Tenant regardless of whether the Leases vest ownership of
that equipment to Landlord. For clarity, Tenant may remove equipment, furniture, nitrogen tanks, cold rooms, UPS
systems, fume hoods, lab benches, security cameras, card readers, A/V equipment, cabinetry, lockers and
signage. Notwithstanding the preceding, Tenant may not remove any HVAC equipment or backup generators.

b. Section 16.9 of each Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“Tenant has no right to retain possession of the Premises or any part thereof beyond the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease. If Tenant holds over following the expiration of the Term: (i) the Additional Abated OpEx
and Additional Abated Rent shall immediately terminate, (ii) Landlord waives all other claims for damages as a
result of such holdover, other than any right to attorneys’ fees as a prevailing party with regard to any dispute with
Tenant, and (iii) all other terms and conditions of the Lease shall continue to apply.”

c. Tenant shall comply with federal, state and local laws with respect to the removal of any Hazardous
Substances used by Tenant or any Tenant Entities in such Portion of the Premises. For each Portion of the Premises
in which Hazardous Substances are used, Tenant shall provide written confirmation from the City of Menlo Park and
San Mateo County (in each case, to the extent the City and County issue confirmations for similar properties), in a
form reasonably acceptable to Landlord, that Tenant has completed all actions under applicable federal, state and
local laws and regulations which are required in order for Tenant to close out its permits to use such Hazardous
Substances at the Portion of the Premises being vacated and surrendered.

6. Miscellaneous.

a. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all defined terms used in this Agreement shall have the same
respective meanings as are provided for such defined terms in the Leases.

b. Insofar as the specific terms and provisions of this Agreement purport to amend or modify or are in conflict
with the specific terms, provisions and exhibits of the Leases, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall govern and
control; in all other respects, the terms, provisions and exhibits of the Leases shall remain unmodified and in full force and
effect.

C. Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that (i) this Agreement is incorporated into and made a part of each
Lease, (ii) any and all references to the Leases hereinafter shall include this Agreement, and (iii) the Leases and all terms,
conditions and provisions of the Leases are in full force and effect as of the date hereof, except as expressly modified and
amended hereinabove.
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d. If either Landlord or Tenant brings an action or proceeding to enforce the terms hereof or declare rights
hereunder, the Prevailing Party (as hereafter defined) in any such proceeding shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees.
The term “Prevailing Party” shall include, without limitation, a party who substantially obtains or defeats the relief sought.

e. Time is of the essence with respect to each and every time period described in this Agreement.

[Signatures appear on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

TENANT:
PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF

CALIFORNIA, INC.
A Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Ben Gong

Name: Ben Gong

Title: VP, Finance

Pacific Biosciences
Legal Department

Approved: 7/23/2015

LEGAL_US_W # 81933398

LANDLORD:
PENINSULA INNOVATION

PARTNERS, LLC,
A Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Fergus O’Shea

Name: Fergus O’Shea

Title: Facilities Director
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LEASE

BY AND BETWEEN

MENLO PARK PORTFOLIO II, LLC, LESSOR

AND

PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC., a Delaware corporation,

LESSEE

Menlo Business Park
1315 O’Brien Drive [To be re-addressed to 1305 O’Brien Drive]
Menlo Park, California 94025
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LEASE

Menlo Business Park
Building #3
1315 O’Brien Drive [to become 1305 O’Brien Drive]
Menlo Park, California 94025

THIS LEASE, referred to herein as this “Lease,” is made and entered into as of July 22, 2015, (the “Effective Date”)
by and between MENLO PARK PORTFOLIO II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company “Lessor,” and PACIFIC
BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC., a Delaware corporation, hereafter referred to as “Lessee”.

RECITALS:

A. Lessor is the owner of the real property located in Menlo Business Park, Menlo Park, California, commonly
referred to as 1315 O’Brien Drive [to be re-addressed 1305 O’Brien Drive], more particularly described on Exhibit “A”
attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein, together with all easements and appurtenances thereto (collectively, the
“Land”) and the existing buildings thereon, referred to as Building #3, containing approximately 217,770 rentable square
feet and all other improvements located thereon (collectively, the “Improvements”). The Land and Improvements are
referred to herein collectively as the “Property.” The Property is shown as a part of the Menlo Business Park Master Plan
and is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated by reference herein, and identifies the properties that comprise the
Menlo Business Park. Building #3 is referred to herein as the “Building.” The floor plan of the Building is attached hereto
as Exhibit “C” and incorporated by reference herein.

B. Lessor and Lessee wish to enter into this Lease of the Premises defined in Paragraph 1 upon the terms and
conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

1. Lease. Lessor hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee leases from Lessor, at the rental rate and upon the terms
and conditions set forth herein, the Premises (as hereinafter defined). Beginning on the Commencement Date (as defmed in
approxunately One Hundred Eighty Thousand (180 000) rentable square feet, as shown on the floor plan of the Building
attached hereto as Exhibit “C” (the “Premises”). The Building is currently estimated to be approximately Two Hundred
Seventeen Thousand Seven Hundred Seventy (217,770) rentable square feet. Lessor and Lessee acknowledge that the
Building will be re-measured in accordance with the Dripline BOMA standard following the Effective Date. Following such
re-measurement of the Building, Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of the Building and the Park Expenses (as both shares are described
in Paragraph 6(a) below) shall be adjusted based on such re-measurement of the Building. The parties hereby acknowledge
and agree that the re-measurement of the Building shall not impact the rentable square footage of the Premises as set forth
herein. Throughout the term of this Lease, Lessee shall also have the non-exclusive right to use Lessee’s share of the on-site
parking spaces pursuant to Paragraph 29, and the non-exclusive

1



right to use the common areas of the Building and the other Improvements on the Property intended for use in common by
the tenants of the Property.

2. Term.

(a) The term of this Lease (the “Term”) shall commence on the date that is the later of April 15, 2016, or
the date by which all of the following conditions have occurred (the “Commencement Date”): (1) Lessor shall have
delivered possession of the Premises to Lessee in broom clean condition, (2) the Work has been Substantially Completed (as
defined in the Work Letter attached as Exhibit “F” hereto) including the Tenant Improvements summarized on Schedule “F-
3” and Schedule “F-4” to Exhibit “F” attached hereto, and (3) Lessor shall have caused the issuance of a Temporary
Certificate of Occupancy (a “TCQO”) or such other documentation from the City of Menlo Park (the “City”) specifying that
the Premises can be legally occupied. The Commencement Date shall be confirmed in writing by Lessor and Lessee by the
execution and delivery of the Commencement Memorandum in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “D”.

(b) The Term of this Lease shall expire, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions hereof
or as permitted by law, on the last day of the one hundred thirty-second (132nd) full calendar month after the
Commencement Date.

(o) Except as specifically provided otherwise in this Paragraph 2(c), if possession of the Premises is not
delivered in the condition required by Paragraph 2(a), Lessor shall not be subject to any liability therefor, nor shall such
failure affect the validity of this Lease, or the obligations of Lessee hereunder, but in such case, Lessee shall not, except as
otherwise provided herein, be obligated to pay rent or perform any other obligation of Lessee under the terms of this Lease
until possession of the Premises is delivered to Lessee in the condition referred to in Paragraph 2(a) above.

@) If the Commencement Date has not occurred by October 15, 2016, which date shall be
extended one (1) day for each day of Tenant Delay (as defined in Section 2(c)(iii) of Exhibit “F”) (such date, as extended, the
“Abatement Trigger Date”), then Lessee shall be entitled to receive a credit toward Base Rent in an amount equal to one (1)
day of Base Rent next coming due under the Lease for each day beyond the Abatement Trigger Date until the
Commencement Date occurs up to a total credit amount equal to ninety (90) days of Base Rent.

(ii) If the Architectural CUP and the Use CUP (as defined below, and, collectively, the “Use
CUPs”) are not obtained with the fifteen (15) day appeal period having lapsed without appeal by September 30, 2015 (or, if
appealed, the City has not confirmed the Use CUPs in all material respects by September 30, 2015), Lessee may notify
Lessor in writing of its election to terminate this Lease prior to the receipt of the Use CUPs, in which event the parties shall
be discharged from all further obligations hereunder except to the extent any obligations expressly survive the expiration or
termination of this Lease.

(iii) If the Use CUPs are not obtained by September 15, 2015, then, on September 16, 2015, Lessor
shall give Lessee written notice of such failure, and, if Lessor



reasonably believes that either (a) the Use CUPs will never be issued by the City or will not be issued within a reasonable
time that will allow Lessor to complete the Work by December 31, 2016 or (b) the Use CUPs may be issued by the City after
September 30, 2015, but that modifications to the provisions and conditions of such Use CUPs by the City will prevent
Lessor from completing the Work by December 31, 2016, then, on September 30, 2015, Lessor may notify Lessee of its
written election to terminate this Lease effective as of September 30, 2015, in which event the parties shall be discharged
from all further obligations hereunder except to the extent any obligations expressly survive the expiration or termination of
this Lease; provided, however, that Lessor may not exercise such right to cancel this Lease unless (i) between September 15,
2015 and September 30, 2015, Lessor cooperates with Lessee and uses good faith efforts to develop and implement a strategy
to cause the City to issue the Use CUPs by September 30, 2015 and in a manner that allows the Work to be completed by
December 31, 2016 (provided that Lessee cooperates with Lessor and uses good faith efforts in connection with developing
and implementing such strategy which cooperation may include good faith efforts to cause Lessee’s current landlord to
cooperate as necessary) and (ii) Lessor has used its good faith efforts to obtain the Use CUPs in such form prior to September
15, 2015. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Use CUPs are issued at any time between September 16, 2015 and
September 30, 2015, inclusive, in a form that will allow Lessor to complete the Work by December 31, 2016, then Lessor
shall have no right to terminate the Lease under this paragraph.

(iv) If the Building Permit (defined below) for the Market Ready Improvements and Tenant
Improvements have not been issued by March 11, 2016, which date shall be extended one (1) day for each day of Tenant
Delay (such date, as extended, the “First Cancellation Option”), then Lessee may terminate this Lease on written notice to
Lessor given any time after March 11, 2016 and prior to issuance of the Building Permit for the Market Ready Improvements
and the Tenant Improvements.

W) If the Commencement Date has not occurred by December 31, 2016, which date shall be
extended one (1) day for each day of Tenant Delay, then Lessee may terminate this Lease on written notice to the Lessor
given prior to the occurrence of the Commencement Date (the “Second Cancellation Option™).

to Lessee any pre-paid Rent and the Security Deposit within five (5) business days thereafter.

(d) If Substantial Completion of the Work is delayed as the result of a Tenant Delay, the Commencement
Date shall occur on the date Substantial Completion of the Work would have occurred but for the Tenant Delays (as
determined in accordance with this Lease and the Work Letter) and Lessor shall have no liability for any damages arising
from a Tenant Delay.

(e) Lessee acknowledges that the applicable ordinance of the City requires that Lessee must obtain a
Conditional Use Permit for Hazardous Materials (“Haz Mat CUP”) from the City if Lessee maintains on the Premises five
(5) gallons or more of Hazardous Materials (as defined in Paragraph 10). Accordingly, for the period from the Lessee’s first
Early Entry, defined below, until the date Lessee obtains the Haz Mat CUP from the City permitting
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Lessee to maintain on the Premises five (5) gallons or more of Hazardous Materials (estimated to be approximately seventy-
five (75) days), Lessee shall maintain less than five (5) gallons of Hazardous Materials on the Premises. Lessee shall
promptly apply for and shall use its commercially reasonable good faith diligent efforts to comply with the City’s
requirements for the issuance to Lessee of the Haz Mat CUP. Lessor shall assist Lessee in the filing and processing of the
application for the Haz Mat CUP, and Lessee shall pay all costs associated with such efforts, including but not limited to the
costs and fees incurred by Green Environment and DES Architects/Engineers as well as City fees associated with the Haz
Mat CUP; provided, however, Lessor shall not be responsible for the issuance of the Haz Mat CUP. Lessee shall deliver a
copy of the Haz Mat CUP to Lessor and Lessee shall comply with the provisions thereof.

® Lessee acknowledges that in addition to the Haz Mat CUP described above to be obtained by Lessee,
Lessor must obtain an architectural control use permit (“Architectural CUP”), a change of use permit (“Use CUP”), and a
building permit (the “Building Permit”) (cumulatively, the “Critical Permits”) from the City prior to the commencement of
construction of any Market Ready Improvements (defined in the Work Letter) and Tenant Improvements (both more
particularly described in Schedule “F-3” and Schedule “F-4”) to Exhibit “F”). As consideration for its time, effort and
expense, including the engagement of third party services in connection with the design and engineering of the both the
Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements and engaging in the permitting application and approval process
for the Critical Permits, and subject to Section 14 of the Work Letter, Lessee agrees to reimburse Lessor (“Lessee’s Share of
the Permit Expenses™) for fifty percent (50%) of the total third party costs, fees and expenses incurred by Lessor associated
with the design and permitting of the Premises until Lessor receives the Use CUPs from the City and the fifteen (15) day
appeal period has lapsed without appeal (or, if appealed, the City has confirmed the Use CUPs in all material respects) (the
“CUP Costs”), such reimbursement not to exceed Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000). Lessee shall remit to Lessor,
Lessee’s Share of the Permit Expenses within ten (10) days of Lessee’s receipt of invoice therefor, from time to
time. Following the issuance of the Use CUPs and the lapse of the fifteen (15) day appeal period without appeal (or, if
appealed, the City has confirmed the Use CUPs in all material respects), Lessor’s and Lessee’s payment obligations with
respect to the CUP Costs shall be determined in accordance with the percentage allocation of costs set forth in Section 14(a)
of this Lease (i.e., to the extent such costs are part of the Tenant Improvement Shortfall, Lessee shall pay Lessee’s Tenant
Improvement Shortfall percentage thereof on a monthly basis and receive a credit for any payment in excess of Lessee’s
Tenant Improvement Shortfall percentage paid by Lessee up to the fifty percent (50%) paid prior to the issuance of the
permits and lapse of the appeal period discussed above). To the extent Lessee paid to Lessor Share of Permit Expenses for
any portion of the Cup Costs necessary in obtaining the Use CUPs, those fees shall not be refundable and Lessee shall have

2(c)(iii), 2(c)(iv).or 2(c)(V).

() Provided Lessor has first received (i) the first month’s Base Rent (subject to Section 14 of the Work
Letter) and (ii) the insurance certificates required under Paragraph 12(a), from and after the Effective Date, Lessee may have
access to the Premises subject to the following requirements: (1) Lessee shall first coordinate its access into the construction
zone



with both Lessor and the General Contractor by providing each reasonable advance notice, a description of any work to be
performed by Lessee during such access and any additional information which may be required by either the General
Contractor or Lessor, and (2) Lessee agrees to abide by all of the General Contractor’s safety requirements, including being
personally escorted by a representative of the General Contractor at all times while in the construction zone if determined
necessary in the sole but reasonable discretion of the General Contractor. Such access to the Premises prior to the
Commencement Date shall be referred to herein as “Early Entry”. During the course of any Early Entry, all terms and
conditions of this Lease, except for the obligation to pay Monthly Base Rent (as defined in Paragraph 5 below), Additional
Rent (as defined in Paragraph 6 below) and utilities pursuant to Paragraph 16 below, shall apply. Lessor shall have the right
to impose additional reasonable conditions upon Lessee’s Early Entry and if Lessor and the General Contractor determine it
is reasonably necessary to do so, Lessor may revoke Lessee’s Early Entry for the protection of persons and property in the
construction zone. Lessee shall not interfere with the construction of the Work (defined in the Work Letter) including the
Tenant Improvements and any such interference resulting in a delay in the Construction Schedule (attached to the Work
Letter as Schedule “F-5") shall be eligible to be a Tenant Delay pursuant to the terms of the Work Letter.

3. Option to Extend.

(a Lessor hereby grants to Lessee one (1) option to extend the Term of this Lease (the “Option to
Extend”) for a period of sixty (60) months (the “Extended Term”) immediately following the expiration of the
Term. Lessee may exercise the Option to Extend by giving written notice of exercise to Lessor at least twelve (12) months
but no more than fifteen (15) months prior to the expiration of the initial Term of this Lease (the “Option Exercise Period”),
time being of the essence; provided that if (i) at any time between the date of delivery of the exercise notice by Lessee and
the end of the initial Term there is an uncured default continuing beyond any applicable notice and cure periods, or (ii)
Lessee is then occupying and conducting operations for the Use permitted in Paragraph 9 in less than fifty-one percent (51%)
of the Premises, then such notice shall be void and of no force or effect. The Extended Term, if the Option to Extend is
exercised, shall be upon the same terms and conditions as the initial Term of this Lease, including the payment by Lessee of
the Additional Rent pursuant to Paragraph 6, except that (1) Lessee shall pay Monthly Base Rent, as determined as set forth
in this Paragraph 3, during the Extended Term, (2) there shall be no additional option to extend, and (3) Lessee shall accept
the Premises in their then “as is” condition. If Lessee does not exercise the Option to Extend in a timely manner the Option
to Extend shall lapse, time being of the essence.

(b) The Option to Extend granted to Lessee by this Paragraph 3 is granted for the personal benefit of the
named Lessee and any Permitted Transferees only, and shall be exercisable only by the herein named Lessee and any
Permitted Transferees. The Option to Extend may not be exercised by any assignee or transferred to or exercised by any
sublessee (nor exercised by Lessee on behalf of any sublessee (except to the extent that Lessee is then subleasing not more
than forty-nine percent (49%) of the Premises)) other than any Permitted Transferee.



(o) The Monthly Base Rent for the Premises during the Extended Term shall be determined pursuant to
the provisions of this Paragraph 3(c) and shall equal the then current fair market rental for the Premises on the
commencement date of the Extended Term as determined by agreement between the Lessor and Lessee reached prior to the
expiration of the Option Exercise Period, if possible, and by the process of broker appraisal if the parties cannot reach
agreement.

(d) Upon the written request by Lessee to Lessor received by Lessor at any time during the thirty (30) day
period prior to the expiration of the Option Exercise Period and prior to the exercise by Lessee of the Option to Extend,
Lessor shall give Lessee written notice of Lessor’s good faith opinion of the amount equal to the fair market rental value of
the Premises for the Extended Term. Thereafter, upon the request of Lessee, Lessor and Lessee shall enter into good faith
negotiations during the remainder of the thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the Option Exercise Period in an effort to
reach agreement on the initial Monthly Base Rent for the Premises during the Extended Term.

If Lessor and Lessee are unable to agree upon the amount equal to the fair market rental value of the Premises for the
Extended Term, and thereafter, prior to the expiration of the Option Exercise Period, Lessee exercises the Option to Extend,
said amount shall be determined by a licensed commercial real estate broker with at least ten (10) years of experience in the
Menlo Park office/R&D/manufacturing rental market, (hereinafter the “Arbitrator”). The fair market rental determination
shall be performed by one Arbitrator if the parties are able to agree upon one Arbitrator. If the parties are unable to agree
upon one Arbitrator, then each party shall appoint an Arbitrator and the two Arbitrators shall select a third Arbitrator.

If only one Arbitrator is selected, that Arbitrator shall notify the parties in simple letter form of its determination of
the amount equal to the fair market Monthly Base Rent for the Premises on the commencement date of the Extended Term
within fifteen (15) days following its selection. Said appraisal shall be binding on the parties as the appraised current “fair
market rental” for the Premises which shall be based upon what a willing new lessee would pay and a willing lessor would
accept at arm’s length for comparable premises in Menlo Park of similar age, size, quality of construction and specifications
(excluding the value of any improvements to the Premises made at Lessee’s cost with Lessor’s prior written consent except
as otherwise permitted herein) for a lease similar to this Lease and taking into consideration that there will be no free rent,
improvement allowance, period of vacancy or other rent concessions, taken as a whole. If multiple Arbitrators are selected,
each Arbitrator shall within ten (10) days of being selected make its determination of the amount equal to the fair market
Monthly Base Rent for the Premises on the commencement date of the Extended Term in simple letter form. If two (2) or
more of the Arbitrators agree on said amount, such agreement shall be binding upon the parties. If multiple Arbitrators are
selected and two (2) Arbitrators are unable to agree on said amount, the amount equal to the fair market Monthly Base Rent
for the Premises on the commencement date of the Extended Term shall be determined by taking the mean average of the
appraisals; provided, that any high or low appraisal, differing from the middle appraisal by more than ten percent (10%) of
the middle appraisal, shall be disregarded in calculating the average.



If only one Arbitrator is selected, then each party shall pay one-half of the fees and expenses of that Arbitrator. If
three Arbitrators are selected, each party shall bear the fees and expenses of the Arbitrator it selects and one-half of the fees
and expenses of the third Arbitrator.

(e) Thereafter, provided that Lessee has previously given timely notice to Lessor of the exercise by Lessee
of the Option to Extend, Lessor and Lessee shall execute an amendment to this Lease stating that the initial Monthly Base
Rent for the Premises during the Extended Term shall be equal to the determination by appraisal.

4. Right of First Offer. Lessor and Lessee acknowledge that Lessor may (but is not obligated to) construct a new
building (“New Building”) adjacent to the Building in which the Premises are located. Subject to the currently existing
rights set forth in the existing leases of any existing lessees in the Menlo Business Park, if, during the Term, any space in the
Building or space in the New Building becomes available for direct lease for the first time during the Term hereof (the
“Available Space™), (note, not all vacant space shall be considered Available Space and it is Lessor who shall determine
when space is Available Space hereunder in its sole and absolute discretion), then Lessor shall first offer to lease the
Available Space to Lessee by delivering notice to Lessee (the “Availability Notice”). Lessor’s obligation to provide Lessee
with the Availability Notice hereunder shall be a one-time occurrence as Available Space in the Building and/or Available
Space in the New Building (if any) becomes available and Lessee’s right hereunder shall be a one-time right as to each of the
Building and the New Building, accordingly. The Availability Notice shall set forth the terms upon which Lessor would be
willing to lease the Available Space to a third party, as determined by Lessor in its sole discretion. Lessee shall have five (5)
business days after receipt of the Availability Notice to unconditionally accept in writing or reject the terms set forth in the
Availability Notice, it being understood that Lessee’s failure to respond within such five (5) business day period shall be
deemed a rejection of such terms. If Lessee does not unconditionally accept in writing the terms set forth in the Availability
Notice within such five (5) business day period, then Lessee’s rights under this Paragraph 4 shall lapse and terminate and
Lessor shall be entitled to lease the Available Space to any other party on substantially the same terms as contained in the
Availability Notice; provided that the rental rate (taking into account adjustments for any differences between so called “net”
leases and “gross” leases) shall be no less, and the lessee improvement allowance, if any, shall be no more than that originally
offered to Lessee in the Availability Notice. If Lessee accepts in writing the terms set forth in the Availability Notice, then
for the period starting on the date of Lessor’s delivery of the Availability Notice to Lessee and ending thirty (30) days
thereafter (the “Waiting Period”), Lessor shall not enter into any binding agreement to lease the Available Space with any
other party or market the Available Space for lease. During the Waiting Period, Lessor and Lessee shall enter into a written
amendment to this Lease or a new lease (a “Definitive Agreement”), consistent with the terms set forth in the Availability
Notice and otherwise on the terms and conditions of this Lease. If Lessee and Lessor fail to execute and deliver a Definitive
Lease Agreement within the Waiting Period, then Lessee’s rights under this Paragraph 4 shall lapse and terminate, and Lessor
shall be entitled to lease the Available Space to any other party on such term as Lessor desires. Lessor shall not be required
to offer the Available Space to Lessee during any period in which an event of default has occurred and is continuing.
Furthermore, unless expressly mentioned and approved in the written consent of Lessor to any assignment or subletting as
provided in this Lease, the




right of first offer to lease under this Paragraph 4 is granted for the personal benefit of the named Lessee herein and any
Permitted Transferee and may not be exercised by any assignee or sublessee (other than a Permitted Transferee) nor
exercised by Lessee on behalf of a sublessee.

5. Monthly Base Rent.

(€)] Commencing on the Commencement Date and continuing on the first day of each calendar month
thereafter until the end of the Term, Lessee shall pay to Lessor in monthly installments in advance the Monthly Base Rent for
the Premises in lawful money of the United States as follows:

Months Square Feet $/SF/Mo./NNN Monthly Base Rent
1-12 180,000 $3.00* $540,000.00*
13-24 180,000 $3.15 $567,000.00
25-36 180,000 $3.20 $576,000.00
37-48 180,000 $3.25 $585,000.00
49-60 180,000 $3.35 $603,000.00
61-72 180,000 $3.45 $621,000.00
73-84 180,000 $3.55 $639,000.00
85-96 180,000 $3.65 $657,000.00
97-108 180,000 $3.75 $675,000.00
109-120 180,000 $3.85 $693,000.00
121-132 180,000 $3.95 $711,000.00

* Lessee’s Monthly Base Rent shall be abated for the first six (6) months of the Lease Term following the Commencement
Date (the “Abatement Period”), if and for so long as Lessee is not in material monetary default under this Lease. If Lessee
cures such material monetary default under this Lease during the Abatement Period, then following such cure Lessee’s
Monthly Base Rent shall continue to be abated as of the date of such cure; provided, however, that Lessee shall not be
entitled to extend the Abatement Period for the period of time that Lessee was in material monetary default of the Lease and
shall not be entitled to recoup any portion of Monthly Base Rent attributable to the period of time that Lessee was in material
monetary default of the Lease. In the event a dispute regarding whether a material monetary default has occurred for
purposes of determining if Lessee is entitled to Abated Base Rent in accordance with the terms of this Paragraph results in
litigation or other proceeding and Lessee



prevails in such litigation or other proceeding, then Lessee shall be entitled to abate the Monthly Base Rent attributable to the
period of time that Lessee was improperly determined to be in material monetary default of the Lease. The total eligible
abatement of Monthly Base Rent pursuant to the foregoing based on the assumption that Lessee is not in material monetary
default during the Abatement Period shall be Three Million, Two Hundred Forty Thousand and no/100s Dollars
($3,240,000.00). The foregoing abatement of Monthly Base Rent payable by Lessee shall not be construed as an abatement
of any other rent, Additional Rent, or charges payable under this Lease. If Lessee defaults under the terms of this Lease, and
such default results in the termination of this Lease in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 23 (Remedies) of this
Lease, then the unamortized amount of the abatement of Monthly Base Rent through the date of such termination (“Abated
Base Rent”), amortized on a straight-line basis over the initial Term, shall immediately become due and payable as part of
Additional Rent under this Lease as of the day prior to such termination. In such event, as a part of the recovery set forth in
Paragraph 23, Lessor shall be entitled to recover, in addition to any other amounts due from Lessee, the amount of the Abated
Base Rent due under this Paragraph 5(a) as Additional Rent.

(b) Subject to Section 14 of the Work Letter, (i) upon the execution and delivery of this Lease by Lessee,
Lessee shall pay to Lessor the sum of Five Hundred Forty Thousand and no/100s Dollars ($540,000.00) which shall be
applied to the installment of Monthly Base Rent due for the first month in which Monthly Base Rent is due following the
Commencement Date and (ii) upon thirty (30) days after the City’s issuance of the Use CUPs and the lapse of the fifteen (15)
day appeal period without appeal (or, if appealed, the City has confirmed the Use CUPs in all material respects), Lessee shall
pay to Lessor the sum of One Million Six Hundred Twenty Thousand and no/100s Dollars ($1,620,000.00) which shall be
applied to the installments of Monthly Base Rent due for the second, third and fourth months in which Monthly Base Rent is
due following the Commencement Date. Thereafter, Monthly Base Rent shall be paid monthly in advance on the first day of
each calendar month. Lessee shall also pay to Lessor no later than March 15, 2016, the amount of One Hundred Eighty
Thousand and no/100s Dollars ($180,000.00) or Lessor’s then current estimate of Additional Rent (as hereinafter defined),
which amount shall be applied to the Additional Rent for the first calendar month of the Term.

Upon thirty (30) days after the City’s issuance of the Use CUPs and the lapse of the fifteen (15) day appeal period
without appeal (or, if appealed, the City has confirmed the Use CUPs in all material respects), and subject to Section 14 of
the Work Letter, Lessee shall deliver to Lessor the Security Deposit (as defined in Paragraph 8 below).

6. Additional Rent; Operating Expenses and Taxes.

(a) In addition to the Monthly Base Rent payable by Lessee pursuant to Paragraph 5, commencing on the
Commencement Date, Lessee shall pay to Lessor, as “Additional Rent” (1) Lessee’s Pro Rata Share (as defined in in this
Paragraph 6(a)) of the Operating Expenses (as defined in Paragraph 6(b) below) of the Property, (2) Lessee’s Pro Rata Share
of the operating expenses for the Menlo Business Park of which the Property is a part in accordance with this Paragraph 6(a)
(such expenses referred to herein as the “Park Expenses”), and (3) Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of the Taxes (as defined in
Paragraph 6(c) below). “Lessee’s



Pro Rata Share” shall be equal to the ratio of the number of square feet of the Premises to the rentable square footage of the
Building (currently, Lessee’s Pro Rata Share is 82.66% (180,000/217,770)); provided, however, that Lessee’s “Pro Rata
Share” with respect to Park Expenses shall instead be equal to Lessee’s Pro Rata Share multiplied by the ratio of the number
of square feet of the Land allocable to the Property to the total number of square feet of land in Menlo Business Park, as
shown on Exhibit “B”, as such land may be expanded or reduced from time to time by additions or subtractions to the Park
(currently, Lessee’s Pro Rata Share with respect to Park Expenses is 19.58% (180,000/217,770 * 23.68%)). Upon the earlier
of commencement of the construction of the New Building or the Parking Structure or the demolition of the Building
required in connection therewith, the rentable square footage of the Building, Lessee’s Pro-Rata Share and Lessee’s Pro-Rata
Share with respect to Park Expenses shall be adjusted in a fair and reasonable manner and the definition of Property shall be
re-defined in a fair and reasonable manner. The Park Expenses currently include maintenance of the common areas of Menlo
Business Park, parking lot lighting (cost of electricity and maintenance of the fixtures), maintenance of the network conduit,
all landscape maintenance and irrigation of Menlo Business Park, Lessor’s insurance coverages of Menlo Business Park,
security patrol and real estate and other taxes for land and improvements to the Menlo Business Park which are for the
benefit of all occupants of the Menlo Business Park. The Park Expenses may include other commercially reasonable items
from time to time during the term of this Lease but shall exclude any expense that is properly allocated to the owner or to the
lessees of any other building in the Menlo Business Park. Monthly Base Rent and Additional Rent are referred to herein
collectively as “Rent.”

(b) “Operating Expenses,” as used herein, shall include all commercially reasonable direct costs actually
incurred by Lessor in the management, operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of the Property, including the cost of

as determined by generally accepted accounting principles (unless excluded by this Lease), including, but not limited to:

Personal property taxes related to the Premises; any parking taxes or parking levies imposed on the Premises in the
future by any governmental agency; a management fee charged for the management and operation of the Menlo Business
Park, in an amount equal to (i) four percent (4%) of the total gross income received by Lessor from the Lessee (including
Monthly Base Rent and Additional Rent) until the earlier of the date Lessor commences demolition of the Building in
connection with the construction of the New Building or the Parking Structure or three (3) years from the Commencement
Date and (ii) three percent (3%) of the total gross income received by Lessor from the Lessee (including Monthly Base Rent
and Additional Rent) thereafter (the “Property Management Fee”), and not just Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of this fee; water
and sewer charges; waste disposal; commercially reasonable insurance premiums for insurance coverages maintained by
Lessor pursuant to Paragraph 12(b) hereof; license, permit, and inspection fees; charges for electricity, heating, air
conditioning, gas, and any other utilities (including, without limitation, any temporary or permanent utility surcharge or other
exaction) to the extent such utilities are not separately metered and payable directly by Lessee; security; maintenance, repair,
and replacement of the roof membrane; painting and repairing, interior and exterior; maintenance and replacement of floor
and window coverings; repair, maintenance and
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replacement of air conditioning, heating, mechanical and electrical systems, elevators (if any), plumbing and sewage
systems; janitorial service (if provided by Lessor); landscaping, gardening, and tree trimming; glazing; repair, maintenance,
cleaning, sweeping, striping, and resurfacing of the parking area; exterior Building lighting and parking lot lighting; supplies,
materials, equipment and tools used in the maintenance of the Property; costs for accounting services incurred in the
calculation of Operating Expenses and Taxes as defined herein; and the cost of any other capital expenditures for any
improvements or changes to the Building which are required by laws, ordinances, or other governmental regulations adopted
after the Commencement Date, or for any items or capital expenditures voluntarily made by Lessor which are intended to and
have the effect of reducing Operating Expenses; provided, however, that except for capital improvements required because of
Lessee’s specific use of the Property, if Lessor is required to or voluntarily makes such capital improvements, Lessor shall
amortize the cost of said improvements over the useful life of said improvements calculated in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (together with interest on the unamortized balance at the rate equal to the effective rate of
interest on Lessor’s bank line of credit at the time of completion of said improvements, but in no event in excess of ten
percent (10%) per annum) as an Operating Expense in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, except that
with respect to capital improvements made to save Operating Expenses such amortization shall not be at a rate greater than
the actual savings in Operating Expenses (collectively, “Permitted Capital Expenses”); the Compensation (defined in
subsection (d)(6) below) of any employee or building manager, provided any such employee or building manager who does
not devote substantially all of his or her employed time to the Menlo Business Park shall be prorated to reflect time spent on
operating and managing the Menlo Business Park vis-a-vis time spent on matters unrelated to operating and managing the
Menlo Business Park; and, Operating Expenses shall also include any other reasonable expense or charge actually incurred
by Lessor, whether or not described herein not specifically excluded by other provisions of this Lease, which in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles would be considered an expense of managing, operating, maintaining, and
repairing the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall have the option of paying Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of any
such cost for capital expenditures in a single lump-sum payment without incurring interest expense on such amounts.

Notwithstanding the preceding, in conjunction with the allocation of service, maintenance, repair and replacement
responsibilities pursuant to Paragraph 15, below, so long as Lessee satisfies the Maintenance Requirements (defined in

providers for, and pay directly for the following, which amounts shall, for so long as this arrangement is permitted by Lessor,
be excluded from Operating Expenses above:

(i) all service, maintenance, repair and replacement of heating, ventilation, air conditioning,
mechanical and electrical systems within the Premises or serving the Premises from the rooftop pad or the equipment pads
immediately adjacent to the Premises; and,

(ii) all service, maintenance, repair and replacement of plumbing and interior sewage systems within
the Premises.
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(o) Real property taxes and assessments upon the Property, during each lease year or partial lease year
during the term of this Lease are referred to herein as “Taxes.”

As used herein, “Taxes” shall mean:

(@)) all real estate taxes, assessments, charges and any other taxes which are levied or
assessed against the Property including the Land, the Building, and all improvements located thereon, including any increase
in Taxes resulting from a reassessment following any transfer of ownership of the Property or any interest therein or
following any improvements to the Property; and

2 all other taxes which may be levied in lieu of real estate taxes, assessments, and other
fees, charges, and levies, general and special, ordinary and extraordinary, unforeseen as well as foreseen, of any kind and
nature by any authority having the direct or indirect power to tax, including without limitation any governmental authority or
any improvement or other district or division thereof, for public improvements, services, or benefits which are assessed,
levied, confirmed, imposed, or become a lien (1) upon the Property, and/or any legal or equitable interest of Lessor in any
part thereof; or (2) upon this transaction or any document to which Lessee is a party creating or transferring any interest in
the Property; and (3) any tax or excise, however described, imposed in addition to, or in substitution partially or totally of,
any tax previously included within the definition of “Taxes” or any tax the nature of which was previously included in the
definition “Taxes.”

Not included within the definition of “Taxes” and Park Expenses are any net income, profits, transfer,
franchise, estate, gift, rental income, or inheritance taxes imposed by any governmental authority. “Taxes” also shall not
include penalties or interest charges assessed on delinquent Taxes so long as Lessee is not in default in the payment of
Monthly Base Rent or Additional Rent beyond applicable notice and cure periods.

With respect to any assessments which may be levied against or upon the Property or the Land, which
under the laws then in force may be evidenced by improvement or other bonds, or may be paid in annual installments, only
the amount of such annual installment (with appropriate proration of any partial year) and statutory interest shall be included
within the computation of the annual Taxes levied against the Property.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the following costs (“Casts”) shall be excluded from
the definition of Operating Expenses and Park Expenses:

1) Costs occasioned by the act, omission or violation of law by Lessor, any other occupant
of Menlo Business Park, or their respective agents, employees or contractors;

2 Costs for which Lessor has a right of reimbursement from others, including
reimbursement from insurance;
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3) Interest, charges and fees incurred on debt or payments on any deed of trust or ground
lease on the Property, or Menlo Business Park;

4 Advertising or promotional costs or other costs incurred by Lessor in procuring tenants
for the Property or other portions of Menlo Business Park;

5) Costs incurred in repairing, maintaining or replacing any structural elements of the

(6) Any wages, bonuses or other compensation (“Compensation”) of employees above the
grade of building manager; any Compensation of any officer or director of Lessor;

) General office overhead and general and administrative expenses of Lessor, except as
specifically provided in Paragraph 6(b);

8) Leasing expenses and broker commissions payable by Lessor;
€)] Costs occasioned by casualties or by the exercise of the power of eminent domain;

(10)  Costs to correct any construction defect in the Building or the Premises existing on the
Commencement Date;

(11)  Costs of any renovation, improvement, painting or redecorating of any portion of the
Property or the Menlo Business Park not made available for Lessee’s use;

(12)  Costs incurred in connection with negotiations or disputes with any other tenant or
occupant of the Menlo Business Park and costs arising from the violation by Lessor or any other tenant or occupant of the
Menlo Business Park of the terms and conditions of any other lease or agreement;

(13)  Costs incurred in connection with the presence of any Hazardous Materials on the
Property or on other property in Menlo Business Park that were not caused by or the result of a release by Lessee or its
employees, agents, contractors, invitees, sublessees, successors or assigns; and

(14)  Expense reserves;

(15)  Capital costs except Permitted Capital Expenses (for clarification, Permitted Capital

Expenses may include replacement or large scale repair of equipment, machinery and systems if Lessor elects not to expense
same);
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(16)  Costs occasioned by the willful misconduct or gross negligence;

(17)  Costs paid to affiliates of Lessor for services that exceed the competitive cost for
services and materials rendered by qualified unrelated persons or entities of similar skill, competence and experience in an
arm’s length transaction;

(18)  Costs for sculpture, paintings, fountains or other objects of art;
(19)  Charitable and political donations;

(20)  Costs not normally included in reimbursable operating expenses by lessors of
comparable buildings in the vicinity of the Building or which under generally accepted management practices would not be
considered an expense of managing, operating, maintaining, or repairing the Building, or unless relating to a feature of the
Building not present in similar buildings in the vicinity of the Building, that are not then being incurred by such similar
buildings;

(21)  Costs for services not provided to Lessee under the Lease or of a nature that are
payable directly or provided by Lessee under the Lease, including without limitation, janitorial, refuse removal and utilities
that are separately metered to the Premises;

(22)  Costs in connection with maintenance of any rooftop garden located on the roof of the
Building; and

(23)  Costs to obtain the Critical Permits;

(24)  Insurance cost increases caused by the activities of another occupant of Menlo
Business Park; and

(25)  Any fee, profit or Compensation retained by Lessor or its affiliates for management and
administration of the Property or the Menlo Business Park other than the Property Management Fee, provided, however, that
the Property Management Fee does not include and Operating Expenses shall include any Compensation paid to accountants,
building engineers or any other specialist employed by Lessor wholly dedicated to the Park or a reasonable allocation of such

Lessor shall at all times use its commercially reasonable efforts to operate the Property in an economically reasonable
manner at costs not disproportionately higher than those experienced by other comparable premises in the market area in
which the Property is located (Menlo Park).

(e) Throughout the term of this Lease, as close as reasonably possible to the end of each calendar year
thereafter but no later than April 1 of the following year, Lessor shall notify Lessee of the Operating Expenses, Taxes and
Park Expenses estimated by Lessor for each
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following calendar year. Concurrently with such notice, Lessor shall provide a description of such Operating Expenses,
Taxes and Park Expenses. Commencing on the Commencement Date, and on the first (1st) day of each calendar month
thereafter, Lessee shall pay to Lessor, as Additional Rent, one-twelfth (1/12th) of the estimated Operating Expenses, Taxes
and Park Expenses. If at any time during any such calendar year, it appears to Lessor that the Operating Expenses, Taxes or
Park Expenses for such year will vary from Lessor’s estimate, Lessor may, by written notice to Lessee, revise Lessor’s
estimate for such year and the Additional Rent payments by Lessee for such year shall thereafter be based upon such revised
estimate. Lessor shall furnish to Lessee with such revised estimate written verification showing that the actual Operating
Expenses, Taxes or Park Expenses are greater than Lessor’s estimate. The increase in the monthly installments of Additional
Rent resulting from Lessor’s revised estimate shall not be retroactive, but the Additional Rent for each calendar year shall be
subject to adjustment between Lessor and Lessee after the close of the calendar year, as provided below.

Within approximately ninety (90) days after the expiration of each calendar year of the Term, Lessor shall
furnish Lessee a statement certified by a responsible employee or agent of Lessor (the “Operating Statement”) with respect
to such year, prepared by an employee or agent of Lessor, showing the actual Operating Expenses, Taxes and Park Expenses
for such year broken down by component expenses, and the total payments made by Lessee for such year on the basis of any
previous estimate of such Operating Expenses, Taxes and Park Expenses, all in sufficient detail for verification by
Lessee. Unless Lessee raises any objections to the Operating Statement within ninety (90) days after receipt of the same,
such statement shall conclusively be deemed correct and Lessee shall have no right thereafter to dispute such statement or
any item therein or the computation of Operating Expenses and/or Taxes and/or Park Expenses. Upon giving Lessor five (5)
days’ advance written notice, Lessee or its accountants shall have the right to inspect and audit Lessor’s books and records
with respect to the Operating Statement in an office of Lessor, or Lessor’s agent, during normal business hours, once each
Lease Year to verify actual Operating Expenses and/or Taxes and/or Park Expenses. Should Lessee retain any accountant or
accounting firm to audit or inspect Lessor’s books and records pursuant to this Paragraph 6(e), such accountant or accounting
firm shall be one of national standing and retained on an hourly rate basis or based upon a fixed fee and shall not be paid on a
contingency basis and shall execute a commercially reasonable confidentiality agreement regarding such audit and
inspection. Lessor’s books and records shall be kept in accord with generally accepted accounting principles. If Lessee’s
audit of the Operating Expenses and/or Taxes and/or Park Expenses for any year reveals a net overcharge of more than five
percent (5%), Lessor shall promptly reimburse Lessee for the cost of the audit; otherwise, Lessee shall bear the cost of
Lessee’s audit. If Lessee reasonably objects to Lessor’s Operating Statement, Lessee shall nonetheless continue to pay on a
monthly basis the Operating Expenses, Taxes and Park Expenses based upon Lessor’s most current estimate until such
dispute is resolved.

If Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of the Operating Expenses and Taxes and Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of Park
Expenses for any year as finally determined exceed the total payments made by Lessee for such year based on Lessor’s
estimates, Lessee shall pay to Lessor the deficiency, within thirty (30) days after the receipt of Lessor’s Operating
Statement. If the total payments made by Lessee based on Lessor’s estimate of the Operating Expenses and/or Taxes and/or
Park Expenses exceed the Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses and/or Taxes and/or
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Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of Park Expenses as finally determined, Lessee’s extra payment, plus the cost of an audit, if any,
which is the responsibility of Lessor pursuant to the terms set forth herein shall be credited against payments of Monthly
Base Rent and Additional Rent next due hereunder or returned within thirty (30) days if the Term has expired or this Lease
has been terminated.

Notwithstanding the expiration or termination of this Lease, within thirty (30) days after Lessee’s receipt of
Lessor’s Operating Statement or the completion of Lessee’s audit regarding the Operating Expenses and/or Taxes and/or Park
Expenses for the calendar year in which this Lease terminates, Lessee shall pay to Lessor or shall receive from Lessor, as the
case may be, an amount equal to the difference between the Operating Expenses and/or Taxes and/or Park Expenses for such
year, as finally determined, and the amount previously paid by Lessee on account thereof (prorated to the expiration date or
the termination date of this Lease).

7. Payment of Rent.

(€)] All Rent shall be due and payable in lawful money of the United States of America made payable to
and addressed to: Menlo Park Portfolio II, LLC, P.O. Box 310300, Property: 435610, Des Moines, IA 50331-0300 without
deduction or offset and without prior demand or notice, unless otherwise specified herein. Monthly Base Rent and
Additional Rent shall be payable monthly, in advance, on the first day of each month. Additional Rent shall be payable
monthly, in advance, on the first day of each month for the entire Premises for the entire term of his Lease. Lessee’s
obligation to pay Rent for any partial month at the commencement of the term, for any partial month immediately prior to a
rental adjustment date (if the rental adjustment date is other than the first day of the calendar month), and for any partial
month at the expiration or termination of the term shall be based upon the number of days in such month.

(b) If any installment of Monthly Base Rent, Additional Rent or any other sum due from Lessee is not
received by Lessor within five (5) days after the same is due, Lessee shall pay to Lessor an additional sum equal to five
percent (5%) of the amount overdue as a late charge. The parties agree that this late charge represents a fair and reasonable
estimate of the costs that Lessor will incur by reason of the late payment by Lessee. Acceptance of any late charge shall not
constitute a waiver of Lessee’s default with respect to the overdue amount. Any amount not paid within ten (10) days after
Lessee’s receipt of written notice that such amount is due shall bear interest from the date due until paid at the lesser rate of
(1) the prime rate of interest as published in the Wall Street Journal, plus two percent (2%) or (2) the maximum rate allowed
by law (the “Interest Rate”), in addition to the late payment charge.

Initials: Lessor Lessee

8. Security Deposit. Subject to Section 14 of the Work Letter, Lessee shall deposit with Lessor not later than
thirty (30) days after the issuance of the Use CUP and the lapse of the fifteen (15) day appeal period without appeal (or, if
appealed, the City has confirmed the Use CUPs in all material respects), the sum of Four Million Five Hundred Thousand
and no/100s Dollars ($4,500,000.00) (the “Security Deposit”), which shall be in the form of an irrevocable standby letter of
credit (the "Letter of Credit") as security for Lessee’s faithful performance of
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Lessee’s obligations under this Lease. Provided that no monetary event of default beyond applicable notice and cure periods
with respect to the payment of Rent is occurring or has occurred more than one time within the last twelve (12) months prior
to each Reduction Date and provided that no monetary event of default beyond applicable notice and cure periods with
respect to monetary obligations other than the payment of Rent and which obligations are equal to or greater than Fifty
Thousand Dollars ($50,000.00) is occurring or has occurred more than one time within the last twelve (12) months prior to
each Reduction Date, then the Security Deposit shall be reduced on each Reduction Date by the following amounts:

Reduction Security Deposit
Date
First day of $4,000,000.00
31st Month
First day of $3,500,000.00
43rd Month
First day of $3,000,000.00
55the Month
First day of $2,500,000.00
67th Month
First day of $2,000,000.00
79th Month
First day of $1,500,000.00
91st Month

(The schedule as set forth above, the “Security Reduction Schedule”). If Lessee is not permitted to reduce the
Security Deposit on any given Reduction Date for failure to meet the requirements above, provided Lessee meets them on a
future Reduction Date, Lessee may resume the reductions in accordance with the Security Reduction Schedule.

If Lessee fails to pay Monthly Base Rent or Additional Rent or charges due hereunder within applicable notice and
cure periods, or otherwise defaults beyond applicable notice and cure periods under this Lease (as defined in Paragraph 23),
Lessor may use, apply or retain all or any portion of said Security Deposit to the extent reasonably necessary to cure the
default, for the payment of any amount due Lessor, and to reimburse or compensate Lessor for any liability, cost, expense,
loss or damage (including attorneys’ fees) which Lessor may suffer or incur by reason thereof. If Lessor uses or applies all
or any portion of the Security Deposit, Lessee shall within ten (10) days after written request therefor deposit with Lessor the
amount sufficient to restore the Security Deposit to the original amount required by this Lease. Lessor shall not be required
to keep all or any part of the Security Deposit separate from its general accounts. In no event or circumstance shall Lessee
have the right to any use of the Security Deposit and,
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specifically, Lessee may not use the Security Deposit as a credit or to otherwise offset any payments required hereunder,
including, but not limited to, Rent or any portion thereof. Lessee waives (i) California Civil Code Section 1950.7 and any
and all other laws, rules and regulations applicable to security deposits in the commercial context (“Security Deposit
Laws”), and (ii) any and all rights, duties and obligations either party may now have, or in the future will have, relating to or
arising from the Security Deposit Laws. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Security Deposit may be
retained and applied by Lessor (a) to offset Rent which is unpaid either before or after termination of this Lease, and (b)
against other damages suffered by Lessor before or after termination of this Lease that are recoverable by Lessor in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Lease, but the remainder of the Security Deposit, if any, shall be returned to
Lessee within sixty (60) days after the Premises are delivered to Lessor in the condition required for surrender pursuant to

or other increment for its use, or to be prepayment for any moneys to be paid by Lessee under this Lease.

Following Substantial Completion of the Work, Lessee shall have the option of substituting cash for all or any portion
of such Letter of Credit, and, Lessor shall reasonably cooperate with Lessee to accommodate an amendment or replacement
of such letter of credit in connection with any such election by Lessee; provided, however, the combination of the cash
portion of the Security Deposit and the amount of the Letter of Credit shall at all times equal Four Million Five Hundred
Thousand and no/100s Dollars ($4,500,000.00), subject to reduction of such amount in accordance with the limits set forth in
the Security Reduction Schedule set forth above. The Letter of Credit shall be issued to Lessor, as beneficiary, in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to Lessor. The Letter of Credit shall be subject to the International Standby Practices of
1998, International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 590 subject to the following: (1) notwithstanding Rule 4.09(c) of
ISP98 and regardless of whether the words "exact" or "identical" or similar words are used in this Letter of Credit, a
document presented under this Letter of Credit need not reproduce the wording in this Letter of Credit exactly, including
typographical errors, punctuation, spacing, blank lines and spaces, and the like; and (2) notwithstanding Rule 5.06(c)(i) of
ISP98, the presenter shall not be precluded from asserting an objection to a notice of discrepancy solely by reason of having
requested that the documents be forwarded or that a waiver be sought. Lessor may draw upon the Letter of Credit, without
prejudice to any other remedy provided in the Lease or by Applicable Law, to the extent necessary to satisfy an event of
default by Lessee under this Lease. Any such draw on the Letter of Credit shall not constitute a waiver of any other rights of
Lessor with respect to such event of default. The Letter of Credit shall be issued by a bank reasonably approved by Lessor
and whose deposits are insured by the FDIC (such approved, issuing bank being referred to herein as the “Bank™), which
Bank must have a short term Fitch Rating which is not less than “F2”, a long term Fitch Rating which is not less than “BBB”,
a short term rating from Standard and Poor’s Financial Services, LLC (“S&P”) of not less than “A2”, a long term S&P rating
of not less than “BBB”, a short term rating from Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) of not less than “P2”, and a
long term Moody’s rating of not less than “Baa3” (collectively, the “Bank Credit Rating Threshold”). Lessor hereby
approves of Wells Fargo Bank as an approved Bank. The Letter of Credit shall have an expiration date not earlier than the
thirtieth (30th) day after the expiration of the Term (or, in the alternative, have a term of not less than one (1) year and be
automatically renewable for an additional one (1) year period unless notice of non-renewal is
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given by the issuer to Lessor not later than sixty (60) days prior to the expiration thereof) and shall provide that Lessor may
make partial and multiple draws thereunder for any sum which Lessor may reasonably expend or may be required to expend
by reason of such default by Lessee, up to the amount thereof. In addition, the Letter of Credit shall provide that, in the
event of Lessor's assignment or other transfer of its interest in this Lease, the Letter of Credit shall be freely transferable by
Lessor, without charge and without recourse, to the assignee or transferee of such interest and the bank shall confirm the
same to Lessor and such assignee or transferee. The Letter of Credit shall provide for payment to Lessor upon the issuer's
receipt of a sight draft from Lessor together with Lessor's certificate certifying that Lessor is entitled to such payment
pursuant to the provisions of this Lease, and with no other conditions, shall be in form and content reasonably satisfactory to
Lessor. If the Letter of Credit has an expiration date earlier than the thirtieth (30th) day after the expiration of the Term, then
throughout the Term (including any renewal or extension of the Term) Lessee shall provide evidence of renewal of the Letter
of Credit to Lessor at least sixty (60) days prior to the date the Letter of Credit expires. If Lessor draws on the Letter of
Credit pursuant to the terms hereof, Lessee shall immediately replenish the Letter of Credit or provide Lessor with an
additional letter of credit conforming to the requirement of this paragraph. In addition to the other reasons set forth herein
entitling Lessor to draw down on the Letter of Credit, Lessor, or its then managing agent, shall also have the right to draw
down an amount up to the face amount of the Letter of Credit if the applicable rating of the Bank has been reduced below the
Bank's Credit Rating Threshold, and Lessee has failed to provide Lessor with a replacement letter of credit, conforming in all
respects to the requirements of this Paragraph 8, within twenty-five (25) days following Lessor's written demand therefor
(with no other notice or cure or grace period being applicable thereto, notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the
contrary). In addition, in the event the Bank is placed into receivership or conservatorship by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation or any successor or similar entity, then, effective as of the date such receivership or conservatorship occurs, said
Letter of Credit shall be deemed to fail to meet the requirements of this Paragraph 8, and, within twenty-five (25) days
following Lessor's notice to Lessee of such receivership or conservatorship, Lessee shall replace such Letter of Credit with a
substitute letter of credit from a different issuer (which issuer shall meet or exceed the Bank's Credit Rating Threshold) and
that complies in all respects with the requirements of this Paragraph 8. Lessee's failure to deliver any replacement, additional
or extension of the Letter of Credit, or evidence of renewal of the Letter of Credit, within the time specified under this Lease
shall entitle Lessor to draw upon the Letter of Credit then in effect and, at Lessor's election, constitute an event of default
under this Lease. If Lessor liquidates the Letter of Credit as provided in the preceding sentence, Lessor shall hold the funds
received from the Letter of Credit as security for Lessee's performance under this Lease in accordance with the requirements
with respect to cash as set forth in this Paragraph 8, and Lessor shall not be required to segregate such Security Deposit from
its other funds and no interest shall accrue or be payable to Lessee with respect thereto.

If Lessee is entitled to any reduction in the Security Deposit as more particularly set forth herein, then Lessor shall
cooperate in a commercially reasonable manner with Lessee upon Lessee's request to replace or amend the then existing
Letter of Credit to accommodate such reduction.
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9. Use. Lessee may only use and occupy the Premises for general office uses, administrative purposes, research
and development, laboratory, light manufacturing and related uses which are permitted under applicable laws including
zoning ordinances, the covenants, conditions and restrictions for Menlo Business Park, and the City of Menlo Park and for no
other use without the Lessor’s prior written consent. Notwithstanding the preceding, the manufacture of integrated circuits
using any caustic or toxic substance which poses a meaningful risk of accelerated deterioration or damage to the Building is
expressly prohibited. Any use of the Premises by Lessee or by any sublessee or assignee approved by Lessor pursuant to
Paragraph 18 shall comply with the provisions of this_Paragraph 9.

10. Hazardous Materials.

(a) The term “Hazardous Materials” as used in this Lease shall include any substance defined or
regulated as radioactive, flammable, toxic, a biohazard, medical waste, “hazardous material”, “extremely hazardous
material”, “hazardous waste”, “hazardous substance,” “toxic substance,” “industrial process waste,” or “special waste” in any
Environmental Laws as hereafter defined. Hazardous Materials shall include, but not be limited to, petroleum, gasoline,
natural gas, natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, synthetic gas, and/or crude oil or any products, by-products or fractions

thereof.

(b) Lessee shall not engage in any activity in or on the Premises or the Property which constitutes a
Reportable Use of Hazardous Materials without the express prior written consent of Lessor and timely compliance (at
Lessee’s expense) with all Environmental Laws. “Reportable Use” shall mean (i) the installation or use of any above or
below ground storage tank, (ii) the generation, possession, storage, use, transportation, or disposal of Hazardous Materials
that require a permit from, or with respect to which a report, notice, registration or business plan is required to be filed with,
any governmental authority, and/or (iii) the presence at the Premises or the Property of Hazardous Materials with respect to
which any Environmental Law requires that a notice be given to persons entering or occupying the Premises, or the Property,
or neighboring properties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to the provision of Paragraph 2(e) (including the
requirement that Lessee shall obtain a Haz Mat CUP from the City before Lessee maintains on the Premises five (5) gallons
or more of any Hazardous Materials) Lessee may use the Hazardous Materials on the Premises that are listed on Exhibit “E”
attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein, and any ordinary and customary office supplies, cleaning materials, and
other materials reasonably required to be used in the normal course of Lessee’s agreed use of the Premises, so long as any
such use is in compliance with all Environmental Laws, and does not expose the Premises, the Property, or neighboring
property to any meaningful risk of contamination or damage. In addition, Lessor may condition its consent to any Reportable
Use upon receiving such additional assurances as Lessor reasonably deems necessary to protect itself, the public, the
Premises and the Property, and/or the environment against damage, contamination, injury and/or liability, including, but not
limited to, the installation (and removal on or before Lease expiration or termination) of any protective modifications
installed by Lessee (such as concrete encasements). Lessor shall be entitled to request a copy of Lessee’s Hazardous
Materials Business Plan at any time during the Lease Term and Lessee shall provide such Plan to Lessor within five (5)
business of such request.
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(o) “Environmental I.aws” shall mean and include any Federal, State, or local statute, law, ordinance,
code, rule, regulation, order, or decree regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any
hazardous, toxic, or dangerous waste, substance, element, compound, mixture or material, as now or at any time hereafter in
effect including, without limitation, California Health and Safety Code §825100 et seq., §§25300 et seq., Sections 25281(f)
and 25501 of the California Health and Safety Code, Section 13050 of the Water Code, the Federal Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §89601 et seq. (“CERCLA”), the
Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act, 42 U.S.C. §89601 et seq., the Federal Toxic Substances Control Act, 15
U.S.C. §8§2601 et seq., the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq., the
Federal Hazardous Material Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§1801 et seq., the Federal Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §7401 et
seq., the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. §1251 et seq., the River and Harbors Act of 1899, 33 U.S.C. §§401
et seq., and all rules and regulations of the EPA, the California Environmental Protection Agency, or any other state or
federal department, board or any other agency or governmental board or entity having jurisdiction over the environment, as
any of the foregoing have been, or are hereafter amended.

(d) If Lessee knows, or has reasonable cause to believe, that Hazardous Materials have come to be located
in, on, under or about the Premises or the Property, other than as previously consented to by Lessor or otherwise permitted
under this Lease, Lessee shall promptly give written notice of such fact to Lessor and provide Lessor with a copy of any
report, notice, claim or other documentation which it has concerning the presence of such Hazardous Materials.

(e) Lessee and Lessee’s agents, employees, and contractors shall not cause any Hazardous Materials to be
discharged or released into the Building or into the plumbing or sewage system of the Building or into or onto the Land
underlying or adjacent to the Building in violation of any Environmental Laws. Lessee shall promptly, at Lessee’s expense,
take all investigatory and/or remedial action reasonably recommended, whether or not formally ordered or required, for the
cleanup of any contamination in violation of Environmental Laws or the terms of this Lease caused by Lessee or caused by
any of Lessee’s employees, agents, or contractors, and for the maintenance, security and/or monitoring of the Premises, the
Property, or neighboring properties if such contamination is caused by a release or emission of any Hazardous Materials by
Lessee or by any of Lessee’s employees, agents, or contractors.

® Subject to Section 14 of the Work Letter, Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor and its
agents, employees, and lenders and the Premises and the Property harmless from any and all claims, damages, fines,
judgments, penalties, costs, liabilities or losses (including, without limitation, any and all sums paid for settlement of claims,
attorneys’ fees, consultant and expert fees) arising during or after the term of this Lease out of or involving any Hazardous
Materials brought on to the Premises, the Property, or Menlo Business Park by or for Lessee or by anyone under Lessee’s
control in violation of Environmental Laws or the terms of this Lease. Lessee’s obligations under this Paragraph 10(f) shall
include, but not be limited to, the effects of any contamination or injury to person, property or the environment created or
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suffered by Lessee, and the cost of investigation (including consultants’ and attorneys’ fees and testing), removal,
remediation, restoration and/or abatement thereof, or of any contamination therein involved, as required by Environmental
Laws, and shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. No termination, cancellation or release agreement
entered into by Lessor and Lessee shall release Lessee from its obligations under this Lease with respect to Hazardous
Materials, unless specifically so agreed by Lessor in writing at the time of such agreement.

(8) Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee that prior to the execution of this Lease, Lessor delivered to
Lessee the most recent Phase I environmental report, dated December 2014, (the “Phase 1 Report”) on the Building. To
Lessor’s actual knowledge, except as otherwise provided in the Phase 1 Report, Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee that
no Hazardous Materials currently exist in, on or under any portion of the Premises in violation of applicable environmental
law. For purposes of this Paragraph 10(g), “Lessor’s actual knowledge” shall mean the current actual knowledge of John C.
Tarlton, President of Tarlton Properties, Inc., without any duty to make investigation or inquiry.

11. Taxes on Lessee’s Property. Lessee shall pay before delinquency any and all taxes, assessments, license fees,
and public charges levied, assessed, or imposed and which become payable during the Term and any extension thereof upon
Lessee’s equipment, fixtures, furniture, and personal property installed or located in the Premises or on the Property.

12. Insurance.

(@ Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole cost and expense, provide and keep in force commencing with the
Commencement Date of the Term and continuing during the Term, (i) a commercial general liability insurance policy with a
recognized casualty insurance company qualified to do business in California, insuring against liability occasioned by any
occurrence in, on, about, or related to the Premises, or arising out of the condition, use, occupancy, alteration or maintenance
of the Premises and covering the contractual liability referred to in Paragraph 13(a) of this Lease, having a combined single
limit for both bodily injury and property damage in an amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence
and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) annual aggregate, and with excess umbrella liability insurance of not less than Six
Million Dollars ($6,000,000.00) (limits requirement may be met through a combination of primary and excess/umbrella
liability policies); (ii) an “all risk” or “Special Cause of Loss” property policy on all of its equipment, trade fixtures,
inventory, fixtures, and personal property in, on or about the Premises including but not limited to Lessee’s Property
described in Exhibit “G” and all alterations made by Lessee or Lessor following the Commencement Date hereof within the
Premises in an amount not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the full replacement cost valuation; (iii) workers’
compensation insurance, as required by law and employers’ liability insurance with a limit of not less than One Million
Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per accident and per disease with a One Million Dollar ($1,000,000.00) disease limit each employee,
(iv) boiler and machinery insurance; (v) business interruption insurance in such amounts as will reimburse Lessee for direct
and indirect loss of earnings and incurred costs attributable to the perils commonly covered by Lessee’s property insurance
described above but in no less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), and (vi) such other types and amounts of
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insurance as Lessor or its lender may reasonably require which are customarily required of comparable tenants of comparable
buildings in the vicinity of the Building; provided, however, the Lessor’s right to require new or additional coverage or
increase policy limits under this clause (vi) shall not be exercised more than three (3) times in total during the initial 132
month Term of the Lease. All such insurance carried by Lessee shall be in a form reasonably satisfactory to Lessor and its
mortgage lender and shall be carried with companies that have a general policyholder’s rating of not less than “A” and a
financial rating of not less than Class “X” in the most current edition of Best’s Insurance Reports or such similar rating as
may be reasonably selected by Lessor. Lessee shall endeavor in good faith to cause its commercial general liability policy to
provide that the insurer shall endeavor give Lessor thirty (30) days prior written notice of any cancellation. Lessee shall not
reduce any of its insurance coverages required in (i) through (vi) above below the minimum amount(s) required by this Lease
or cancel such insurance except after at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Lessor by Lessee, provided however,
that if such notice is first received from Lessee’s commercial general liability carrier as requested above, Lessee need not
provide a second notice of the same cancellation. On or before the earlier to occur of (i) the date on which any Lessee party
first enters the Premises for any reason, including, without limitation prior to the Early Entry, or (ii) the Commencement Date
and upon renewal of such policies not less than five (5) days prior to the expiration of the term of such coverage, Lessee shall
deliver to Lessor certificates of insurance confirming such coverage and that all insurance requirements set forth herein have
been met. Notwithstanding the preceding, if Lessee does not provide a certificate evidencing renewal at least five (5) days in
advance of the expiration date of the term of any insurance coverage, Lessor will agree to accept such a certificate from
Lessee’s insurance carrier within five (5) days following the expiration of the term and renewal of the policy; provided that
Lessee first obtains, not less than ten (10) days prior to the expiration of the term of such coverage, from its insurance broker,
a letter addressed to Lessor certifying to Lessor that Lessee intends to renew such coverage and is taking such action as are
reasonably necessary to renew its policy(ies) in question prior to the expiration of any such coverage. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, the commercial general liability and property insurance policies required to be carried by Lessee hereunder
shall include Menlo Park Portfolio II, LLC and Tarlton Properties, Inc. as “Additional Insured”, c/o Tarlton Properties, Inc.,
1530 O’Brien Drive, Suite C, Menlo Park, CA 94025, and such other persons as Lessor may reasonably request from time to
time as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of this Lease or the operations of Lessee by ISO form is CG
2011 01 96 or its equivalent (collectively, “Additional Insureds™) or as loss payee, as applicable. Such insurance shall
provide primary coverage without contribution from any other insurance carried by or for the benefit of Lessor, Lessor’s
property manager, or other Additional Insured and Lessor’s insurance shall be in excess thereto. In no event shall the limits
of such insurance be considered as limiting the liability of Lessee under this Lease. If Lessee fails to procure and maintain
the insurance required hereunder, Lessor may, but shall not be required to, order such insurance at Lessee’s expense and
Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for all costs incurred by Lessor with respect thereto. Lessee’s reimbursement to Lessor for
such amounts shall be deemed Additional Rent, and shall include all sums disbursed, incurred or deposited by Lessor,
including Lessor’s costs, expenses and reasonable attorneys’ fees with interest thereon at the Interest Rate.

(b) Lessor shall obtain and carry in Lessor’s name, as insured, as an Operating Expense of the Property as
provided in Paragraph 6(b), during the Term, “all risk” property
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insurance coverage (with rental loss insurance coverage for a period of one year), flood insurance, public liability and
property damage insurance, and Lessor may obtain and carry insurance against such other risks or casualties as Lessor shall
reasonably determine, including, but not limited to, insurance coverages required of Lessor by the beneficiary of any deed of
trust which encumbers the Property, including earthquake insurance coverage insuring Lessor’s interest in the Property in
amounts deemed reasonable by Lessor or its lender from time to time. The proceeds of any such insurance shall be payable
solely to Lessor, and Lessee shall have no right or interest therein. Lessor shall have no obligation to insure against loss by
Lessee to Lessee’s equipment, fixtures, furniture, inventory, or other personal property of Lessee in or about the Premises
occurring from any cause whatsoever. Lessor agrees that its property insurance deductible shall at all times be reasonable
and not exceed those of prudent landlords, comparable in size to Lessor, and for comparable buildings in the Bay Area of
California.

(o) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, the parties release each other, and
their respective authorized representatives, employees, officers, directors, shareholders, managers, members, trustees,
beneficiaries, assignees, subtenants, invitees, successors, agents, contractors and property managers, from any claims for
damage to the Premises or the Property and to the fixtures, personal property, leasehold improvements and alterations of
either Lessor or Lessee in or on the Premises or the Property, to the extent that are caused by or result from risks required by
this Lease to be insured against or actually insured against under any property insurance policies carried by the parties and in
force at the time of any such damage, whichever is greater. This waiver applies whether or not the loss is due to the
negligence (sole, separate or otherwise) of Lessor or Lessee or their respective authorized representatives, employees,
officers, directors, shareholders, managers, members, trustees, beneficiaries, assignees, subtenants, invitees, successors,
agents, contractors and property managers. Subject to the foregoing, this release and waiver shall be complete and total even
if such loss or damage may have been caused by the negligence of the other party, its managers, members, employees,
agents, contractors, property managers or invitees. Lessee covenants that the insurance policies required to be maintained by
Lessee under this Lease will contain waiver of subrogation endorsements. All of Lessor’s and Lessee’s repair and indemnity
necessitated by the acts or omissions of Lessee, its employees, agents, contractors, sublessees, assigns or invitees if the cost
of such repair does not exceed Lessor’s property coverage deductible; then, in such case, Lessee shall remain liable for either
the repair or the cost thereof as provided in Paragraph 15(c). This release and waiver of subrogation does not and shall not
apply to any damage to persons or property resulting from any environmental liability of Lessee pursuant to Paragraph 10.

13. Indemnification.

(a) Subject to the waiver of subrogation set forth in Paragraph 12(c)_and to Section 14 of the Work Letter,
Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Lessor from claims, suits, actions, or liabilities for personal injury, death
or for loss or damage to property that arise from (1) any activity, work or thing done by Lessee in the Premises, the Property
or the Park or permitted by Lessee in the Premises or on the rooftop equipment pad or on the equipment pads or in the

bunkers immediately adjacent to the Premises, to the extent access to
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such pads and bunkers are controlled by Lessee to the same extent Lessee controls access to the Premises, (2) bodily injury
or damage to property which arises in or about the Property or the Park to the extent the injury or damage to property results
from the actual or alleged acts, omissions or willful misconduct of Lessee, its employees, agents or contractors, and (3) based
on any event of default by Lessee in the performance of any obligation on Lessee’s part to be performed under this

Lease. Lessee also waives all claims against Lessor and its employees, agents and contractors for damages to property, or to
goods, wares, and merchandise stored in, upon, or about the Premises or the Property, and for injuries to persons in, upon, or
about the Premises or the Property from any cause arising at any time, except to the extent caused by the active negligence or
willful misconduct by Lessor or its employees, agents or contractors.

(b) Subject to the waiver of subrogation set forth in Paragraph 12(c), Lessor shall indemnify, defend, and
hold harmless Lessee from claims, suits, actions, or liabilities for personal injury, death or for loss or damage to property that
arise from bodily injury or damage to property which arises in or about the Property to the extent the injury or damage to
property results from the active negligent acts or willful misconduct of Lessor, its employees, agents or contractors. As used
herein, “active negligence” of any party shall mean that party’s participation in an affirmative act of negligence, knowledge
about or compliance in a negligent act, or failure to perform (after a reasonable period of time) a precise duty which that
party is obligated to perform hereunder.

(o) In the absence of comparative or concurrent negligence on the part of Lessee or Lessor, their
respective agents, affiliates, and subsidiaries, or their respective officers, directors, members, employees or contractors, the
foregoing indemnities by Lessee and Lessor shall also include reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred in
connection with any indemnified claim or incurred by the indemnitee in successfully establishing the right to indemnity. The
indemnitor shall have the right to assume the defense of any claim subject to the foregoing indemnities with counsel
reasonably satisfactory to the indemnitee. The indemnitee agrees to cooperate fully with the indemnitor and its counsel in
any matter where the indemnitor elects to defend, provided the indemnitor shall promptly reimburse the indemnitee for
reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with its duty to cooperate.

The foregoing indemnities shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and are conditioned
upon the indemnitee providing prompt notice to the indemnitor of any claim or occurrence that is likely to give rise to a
claim, suit, action or liability that will fall within the scope of the foregoing indemnities, along with sufficient details that will
enable the indemnitor to make a reasonable investigation of the claim.

When the claim is caused by the joint negligence or willful misconduct of Lessee and Lessor or by the
indemnitor party and a third party unrelated to the indemnitor party (except indemnitor’s agents, officers, employees or
invitees), the indemnitor’s duty to indemnify and defend shall be proportionate to the indemnitor’s allocable share of joint
negligence or willful misconduct.

(d) Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee for any damage caused by any act or negligence of any other
occupant of the Building or any other owner or occupant of adjoining or
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contiguous property, nor for overflow, breakage, or leakage of water, steam, gas, or electricity from pipes, wires, or otherwise
in the Premises or the Building, except to the extent caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct by Lessor or
Lessor’s employees, agents, or contractors. Except as otherwise provided herein, Lessee will pay for damage to the Premises
or the Property caused by the misuse or neglect of the Premises or the Property by Lessee or its employees, agents,
contractors, assigns or subtenants, including but not limited to, the breakage of glass in the Building.

14. Warm Shell Work; Market Ready Improvements; Tenant Improvements.

(a) Lessor shall cause to be constructed the improvements and modifications to the Premises and the
Building (i) described in Schedule “F-1” and Schedule “F-2” to the Work Letter attached hereto (the “Warm Shell Work”),
(ii) as described in Schedule “F-3” and Schedule “F-4” to the Work Letter (the “Market Ready Improvements”) and (the
“Tenant Improvements”). The Warm Shell Work, the Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements are
collectively referred to herein as the “Work”). The costs of the Warm Shell Work shall be paid for by Lessor. The cost of
BMR fees assessed by the City of Menlo Park associated with the Work (but not any alterations or improvements made by
Lessee after the Commencement Date) shall be paid for by Lessor. The costs of the Market Ready Improvements and the
Tenant Improvements shall be shared by Lessor and Lessee as set forth herein and in the Work Letter. Lessor agrees to pay
the costs (y) to complete the Market Ready Improvements up to the total amount of Nine Million Nine Hundred Thousand
Dollars ($9,900,000.00) which amount equates to Fifty-Five Dollars ($55.00) per rentable square foot of the Premises
(“Lessor’s Contribution™), and (z) to complete the Tenant Improvements up to a total amount of Two Million Seven
Hundred Thousand ($2,700,000.00) (the “Tenant Improvement Allowance”); provided, that any amounts remaining in each
allowance can be used for either category of work. Lessor shall disburse Lessor’s Contribution and the Tenant Improvement
Allowance, as applicable, directly to the applicable design professionals, contractors, materialmen or other laborers in
connection with the construction of the Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements. At Lessee’s election
made by written notice to Lessor at any time prior to Lessor’s execution of the Construction Contract (as defined in the Work
Letter), Lessee may re-allocate the dollar amounts attributable to a particular line item in the budget for the Warm Shell Work
as set forth on Schedule “F-2” to the Work Letter attached hereto, for use of such amounts towards the completion of a
similar line item of work in the budget for the Market Ready Improvements and Tenant Improvements as set forth on
Schedule “F-4” to the Work Letter attached hereto; provided, however, that Lessee shall not be permitted to exercise such re-
allocation rights with respect to any structural portions of the Work or for any portion of the Work that is related to the
exterior of the Building. If Lessee elects to re-allocate any dollar amounts from the Warm Shell Work as set forth in the
immediately preceding sentence, then the parties hereby agree and acknowledge that thereafter Lessor shall have no
obligation to complete such item of the Warm Shell Work attributable to the funds re-allocated by Lessee and the definition
of the Warm Shell Work shall be deemed so amended and Lessor’s Contribution shall be increased by such re-allocated
amount. Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Work Letter, Lessee shall be liable for all fees and costs of the design
and construction of the Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements in excess of the Lessor’s Contribution
and the Tenant Improvement Allowance (such amount referred to herein
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as the “Tenant Improvement Shortfall”). Lessee shall pay the Tenant Improvement Shortfall upon written request from
Lessor accompanied by invoices reflecting such amounts due within thirty (30) days following Lessor’s delivery of such
payment request as more particularly described in the Work Letter. The Tenant Improvement Shortfall shall be invoiced and
paid monthly as the construction costs are incurred during construction in proportion to the amount of Landlord’s
Contribution and the Tenant Improvement Allowance combined fall short of the Final Budget cost. By way of example only,
if the total project costs are budgeted to be Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000,000.00), Lessee’s Tenant Improvement Shortfall
percentage would be thirty seven percent (37%) and Lessee would be invoiced thirty-seven percent (37%) of the actual
construction costs each month commencing with the first invoices following Lessor’s completion of the Warm Shell

Work. Following completion of the Work and final determination of the cost of the Work and the Tenant Improvement
Shortfall, the parties shall review and reconcile any underpayments or overpayments by Lessee of the Tenant Improvement
Shortfall. Lessor shall employ Tarlton Properties, Inc. as construction manager for the Tenant Improvements at a fee (the
“Lessor Supervision Fee”) equal to four percent (4%) of hard construction costs of the Market Ready Improvements and the
Tenant Improvements (i.e., the amounts paid to any general contractor, subcontractors, vendors, and suppliers for labor and
materials for the construction of the Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements). The Work shall be
constructed on an “open book” basis and Lessee shall have the right to reasonably audit and inspect all relevant costs, books
and records related to the Work in Lessor’s office during normal business hours upon not less than forty-eight hours’ advance
written notice to Lessor. Lessee must complete its final audit and review within thirty (30) days of Lessor’s payment of final
invoices for the Work.

(b) The Work shall be constructed in accordance with all Applicable Laws and the terms of this Lease, in
a good and workmanlike manner and using new materials and equipment of good quality. Upon delivery of the Premises to
Lessee, Lessor and Lessee shall coordinate a walk-through of the Premises and Lessor and Lessee shall complete a punch list
indicating any deficiencies in the Work (“Punch List”). Lessor shall cause such items set forth in the Punch List to be
completed within a reasonable period of time thereafter as may be required for compliance with Schedules “F-1” and “F-2”,
and the Work Letter. Lessor agrees to (i) use reasonable efforts to assign any assignable warranties or guaranties provided by
the contractors or manufacturers of equipment to be maintained by Lessee pursuant to Paragraph 15 (if any) provided as part
of the Work to Lessee or, at Lessee’s option, to enforce same with respect to any defect discovered in such equipment within
one (1) year after the Commencement Date and (ii) to enforce all other warranties or guaranties with respect to any defect
discovered in the Work within one (1) year after the Commencement Date.

(o) Lessee waives all right to make repairs at the expense of Lessor, or to deduct the costs thereof from the
Rent, and Lessee waives all rights under Section 1941 and 1942 of the Civil Code of the State of California. At the
expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, Lessee shall surrender the Premises in accordance with Paragraph 15, except
for ordinary wear and tear, damage caused by casualty, and alterations or other improvements made by Lessee with Lessor’s
prior written consent which Lessee is not required to remove.

27



(d) Lessee shall have no responsibility for and neither Lessor’s Contribution nor the Tenant Improvement
Allowance shall be used for the following: (a) costs for improvements which are not shown on or described in the Tenant
Improvement Documents unless otherwise approved by Lessee in a Change Order (except for Lessee’s obligation to share
any fire-proofing costs, if required); (b) costs to complete the Warm Shell Work; (c) costs incurred due to the presence of
Hazardous Materials in the Premises, the Property or the surrounding area present as of the Effective Date; (d) attorneys' fees
incurred in connection with negotiation of construction contracts, and attorneys' fees, experts' fees and other costs in
connection with disputes with third parties; (e) interest and other costs of financing construction costs; (f) costs recovered by
Lessor upon account of warranties and insurance; (g) restoration costs in excess of insurance proceeds as a consequence of
casualties; (h) provided Lessee promptly pays its Tenant Improvement Shortfall as and when invoiced, and for any increases
in costs resulting from Tenant Delays or Change Orders, penalties and late charges attributable to Lessor's failure to pay
construction costs for which Lessor is responsible hereunder (not including any costs associated with construction,
installation or equipment directly contracted for by Lessee); (i) costs incurred as a consequence of Lessor Delay, (j) any fees
or general conditions of the General Contractor (defined in the Work Letter) in excess of:

(1) Division 1 (including: supervision and general conditions and other overhead) by percentage: 5.04%
(2) Contractor's fee by percentage: 3.75%

or (k) any third party fees, costs, overhead, management or supervision fees of Lessor or its affiliates other than the Lessor
Supervision Fee. Lessor agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to enforce the terms of the Lessor’s construction
contracts during the course of construction.

(e) Lessor and Lessee have agreed that Lessor shall pay for fifty percent of the cost of fire-proofing, if
any, required in the Premises, as part of the Warm Shell Work, and, Lessor shall pay for the remaining fifty percent (50%) of
such fireproofing cost from the Lessor’s Contribution for Market Ready Improvements.

15. Maintenance and Repairs;_Alterations; Surrender and Restoration.

(a) Lessor shall, at Lessor’s sole expense, keep in good order, condition, and repair and replace when
necessary, the structural elements of the roof (excluding the roof membrane which Lessor shall maintain, but the cost of
which shall be included as an Operating Expense as permitted under Paragraph 6), the structural elements of the foundation
and exterior walls (except the interior faces thereof) of the Building, and other structural elements of the Building and the
Property as “structural elements” are defined in building codes applicable to the Building, excluding any alterations,
structural or otherwise, made by Lessee to the Building which are not approved in writing by Lessor prior to the construction
or installation thereof by Lessee. Subject to any termination right in Paragraph 21, below, Lessor shall perform and
construct, and Lessee shall not be responsible for performing or constructing, any repairs, maintenance, or improvements (1)
required as a result of any casualty damage except to the extent caused by Lessee, its employees, agents, contractors, assigns,
sublessee or invitees up to
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the amount of Lessor’s deductible, which shall be subject to Paragraph 21 below, or as a result of any taking pursuant to the
exercise of the power of eminent domain, or (2) for which Lessor has a right of reimbursement from third parties based on
construction or other warranties, contractor guarantees, or insurance claims.

(b) Lessor shall provide or cause to be provided and shall supervise the performance of, as an Operating
Expense of the Property as permitted under Paragraph 6(b) hereof, all services and work relating to the operation,
maintenance, repair, and replacement, as needed, of the Property, HVAC, mechanical, electrical and plumbing systems in the
Building; the interior of the Building; the roof membrane; the outside areas of the Property; landscaping, tree trimming,
resurfacing and restriping of the parking lot, repairing and maintaining the walkways; exterior building painting, exterior
building lighting, parking lot lighting, and exterior security patrol. In the event Lessee provides Lessor with written notice of
the need for any repairs, Lessor shall commence any such repairs promptly following receipt by Lessor of such notice and
Lessor shall diligently prosecute such repairs to completion. Lessor shall make available during normal business hours for
Lessee’s review and copy, Lessor’s service, maintenance, repair and replacement records, such records to be located at the
office of Lessor in the Menlo Business Park.

Notwithstanding the preceding, subject to Lessee’s satisfactory performance of the obligations described
herein below in Lessor’s sole but reasonable discretion and subject to the conditions provided in Paragraph 15(c), below, so
long as (x) Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc. or any Permitted Transferee (provided that in the case of a Permitted
Transferee, the senior personnel in charge of the Systems Repairs (as defined below) shall remain the same before and after
the Permitted Transferee becomes the named entity under the Lease) remains the named tenant entity under this Lease, (y)
occupies and operates its business in not less than 51% of the Premises, and (z) if any sublease exists, so long as Pacific
Biosciences of California, Inc. remains one hundred percent (100%) responsible for all service, maintenance, repair and
or not, (the items set forth in Subsections (x), (y) and (z) collectively referred to herein as the “Maintenance
Requirements”), the parties agree that Lessee shall directly assume responsibility for, contract directly with any service
providers for, and pay directly for the following (the “Systems Repairs”):

(i) all service, maintenance, repair and replacement of heating, ventilation, air conditioning,
mechanical and electrical systems within the Premises or serving the Premises from the rooftop pad or the equipment pads
immediately adjacent to the Premises; and,

(ii) all service, maintenance, repair and replacement of plumbing and interior sewage systems within
the Premises.

Lessor, and not Lessee, shall throughout the Term of the Lease, maintain all fire systems including the wet system (including
the P.I.V.) and the fire alarm monitoring system, the electrical incoming switch gear (including the main switch gear), the
Building
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envelope, all back flow systems and the elevator. All such costs shall be included in Operating Expenses, subject to the
provisions of Paragraph 6.

and (ii) is non-transferable as more particularly described below.

(o) Subject to the foregoing and except as provided elsewhere in this Lease, Lessee shall at all times use
the Premises in good and safe order, condition, and repair, including the performance of all regularly scheduled service as
required by any manufacturer’s recommended service plan and/or required for the maintenance of any warranty provided by
such manufacturer. Lessor may, at Lessor’s reasonable discretion, obtain on an annual basis an inspection report of the
HVAC system from a separate HVAC service firm designated by Lessor for the purpose of monitoring the performance of the
HVAC maintenance and repair work performed by the HVAC service firm which performs the regular repair and
maintenance. The cost of such inspection report shall be an Operating Expense pursuant to Paragraph 6. Subject to the
release of claims and waiver of subrogation contained in Paragraphs 12(c) and 13(d), if Lessor is required to make any
repairs to the Property by reason of Lessee’s negligent acts or omissions, Lessor may add the cost of such repairs to the next
installment of Rent which shall thereafter become due, and Lessee shall promptly pay the same upon receipt of an invoice
therefor.

If at any time after the first (1st) anniversary of the Commencement Date, Pacific Biosciences of California,
Inc. (the named tenant hereunder) (i) assigns this Lease by operation of law or otherwise other than to a Permitted Transferee,
(ii) fails to provide copies of all service contracts and all service, maintenance, repair and replacement records (whether
performed by Lessee’s trained and certified personnel or by outside vendors) with respect to Systems Repairs required to be
performed by Lessee in the Premises to Lessor on a timely basis, without necessity of request therefor, (iii) fails to require
that all vendors maintain insurance reasonably satisfactory to Lessor naming Lessor and the Additional Insureds named in
Paragraph 12 as “Additional Insured”, (iv) fails to perform the Systems Repairs in accordance with the provisions of this
Paragraph 15, (v) fails to provide such service, maintenance, repair or replacement at quality and frequency levels at least
equal to the quality and frequency levels Lessor would maintain if it were providing such services (as evidenced by Lessor’s
maintenance of the balance of the Menlo Business Park), or (vi) fails to satisfy any of the Maintenance Requirements, and
following such breach Lessee fails to commence a cure of any breach of the obligations set forth in (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) or (vi)
within five (5) business days after receipt of written notice from Lessor and, thereafter, to diligently prosecute the cure to
completion three (3) or more times in a twelve (12) month period then, the Parties agree that Lessor may, in its discretion,
elect to assume or resume responsibility for maintenance, repair and replacement of the systems described in Paragraph 15(b)
(i) and (ii), above, and include the cost in Operating Expenses as provided in Paragraph 6, subject to the provisions of
Paragraph 6. Notwithstanding the cure period set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, the parties hereby agree and
acknowledge that if Lessee fails more than once in a twelve (12) month period to cure a breach of any of the obligations set
forth in (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) or (vi) within a reasonable time after receipt of written notice from Lessor, then Lessor may elect to
assume or resume responsibility for maintenance,
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repair and replacement of the systems as set forth herein. Any such election by Lessor shall be effective immediately upon
written notice to the Lessee of Lessor’s intent to assume or resume such service, maintenance, repair and replacement. Any
Lessor notice referred to above must set forth in reasonable detail the nature and extent of the failure referencing pertinent
Lease provisions.

All vendors selected by Lessee in the performance of its service, maintenance and repair obligations
hereunder shall be from Lessor’s approved vendor list. Lessee agrees to provide Lessor with a copy of Lessee’s internal
maintenance programs and procedures within ten (10) days of the Commencement Date hereof, and again at any time upon
receipt of Lessor’s request therefor. Lessor and Lessee shall schedule a joint inspection of the Premises not less than once
per calendar year for the purpose of verifying that all service, repairs, maintenance and replacements performed by Lessee
hereunder are being performed in a reasonable and satisfactory manner.

(d) Lessee shall not install or construct any alterations, improvements or additions without the prior
written consent of Lessor, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Lessee may, from time to time, at its own cost and expense and without the consent of Lessor (but with advance
notice to Lessor) make nonstructural alterations to the interior of the Premises provided that: (i) such alterations do not affect
or penetrate the structural portions of the Premises or the Building, the roof or exterior appearance of the Premises or
Building or materially and adversely affects any mechanical, electrical, plumbing, sewer, life safety, HVAC or other system
in the Building; (ii) such alterations do not require a building permit or other governmental authorization; (iii) the cost of
which in any one instance or in any one calendar year is Thirty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($30,000.00) or less, further
provided Lessee (1) first notifies Lessor in writing of any such alterations at least fifteen (15) days prior to commencing any
such work; and (2) such alterations otherwise comply with the terms of this Paragraph 15 and all Rules and Regulation,
Building regulations and Lessor’s engineering and design requirements for the Building, as applicable (such alterations
hereinafter (“Permitted Alterations”). Except for Permitted Alterations, Lessee shall not make any additional alterations,
improvements, or additions to the Premises without delivering to Lessor a complete set of plans and specifications for such
work, obtaining and delivering copies to Lessor of all permits or other governmental approvals required for such work and
obtaining Lessor’s prior written consent thereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably delayed, conditioned or
withheld. All alterations and additions shall be installed by Lessee’s employees or by a licensed contractor approved by
Lessor, at Lessee's sole expense in compliance with all Applicable Laws, rules, regulations and ordinances. Lessee shall
keep the Premises and the Property on which the Premises are situated free from any liens arising out of any work performed,
materials furnished or obligations incurred by or on behalf of Lessee. If any Permitted Alterations or other non-structural
alterations to the interior of the Premises exceed Thirty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($30,000.00) in any one instance or in
any calendar year, Lessee shall employ, at Lessee’s expense, Tarlton Properties, Inc. as construction manager for such
alterations at a fee equal to five percent (5%) of the first Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00) of hard
construction costs (i.e., the amounts paid to any general contractor, subcontractors, vendors, and suppliers for labor and
materials for the construction of the alterations or improvements) and then four percent (4%) of such hard construction costs
in
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excess of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00). Lessor may condition its consent to, among other things,
Lessee agreeing in writing to remove any such alterations prior to the expiration of the Lease Term and Lessee agreeing to
restore the Premises to its condition prior to such alterations at Lessee’s expense. For alterations requiring Lessor’s consent,
Lessor shall have no right to require Lessee to remove alterations unless Lessor shall advise Lessee in writing at the time
consent is granted whether Lessor will require Lessee to remove any alterations from the Premises prior to the expiration or
sooner termination of this Lease. Lessee agrees that Lessor may obtain updated architectural drawings, in each and every
instance of an alteration to the Building performed by or on behalf of Lessee, and Lessee agrees to reimburse Lessor for the
cost to update architectural plans and drawings within thirty (30) days of receipt of invoice therefor.

Lessor and Lessee shall schedule a joint inspection of the Premises not less than once per calendar year for the
purpose of verifying that all alterations made by Lessee within the Premises are in fact Permitted Alterations and have been
performed in accordance with the requirements provided above. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein,
if Lessee performs alterations in the Premises which required Lessor’s advance written consent when none was obtained,
which required a building permit or other governmental authorization when none was obtained or otherwise failed to comply
with the requirements of this Paragraph 15(d), then Lessor may revoke Lessee’s right to perform Permitted Alterations
without first obtaining Lessor’s prior written consent, in each instance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed.

All alterations, trade fixtures, equipment and personal property installed in the Premises solely at Lessee’s
expense, including, without limitation, the items described on Exhibit “G” attached hereto, (“Lessee’s Property”) shall
during the term of this Lease remain Lessee’s property and Lessee shall be entitled to all depreciation, amortization and other
tax benefits with respect thereto (as to the cost of the Work paid for by Lessee). Upon the expiration or sooner termination of
this Lease, all alterations, fixtures and improvements to the Premises, whether made by Lessor or installed by Lessee at
Lessee’s expense, shall be surrendered by Lessee with the Premises and shall become the property of Lessor; provided,
however, that Lessee’s Property may be removed by Lessee. Lessee shall repair to Lessor’s reasonable satisfaction all
damage to the Premises occasioned by removal of Lessee’s Property.

(e) Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole cost and expense, fully, diligently and in a timely manner, comply with
all present and future “Applicable Laws,” which term is used in this Lease to mean all laws, rules, regulations, ordinances,
directives, orders, covenants, permits of all governmental agencies and authorities, easements and restrictions of record, the
requirements of any applicable fire insurance underwriter or rating bureau or board of fire underwriters relating in any
manner to the Premises and/or with respect to Lessee’s use or occupancy of the Premises (including but not limited to matters
pertaining to industrial hygiene, environmental conditions on, in, under or about the Premises, including soil and
groundwater conditions, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 10 hereof, and the use, generation, manufacture, production,
installation, maintenance, removal, transportation, storage, spill, or release of any Hazardous Materials (which are addressed
in Paragraph 10 hereof)), now in effect or which may hereafter come into effect. Lessee shall, within five (5) days after
receipt of
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Lessor’s written request, provide Lessor with copies of all documents and information, including but not limited to permits,
registrations, manifests, applications, reports and certificates, evidencing Lessee’s compliance with any Applicable Laws
specified by Lessor, and shall immediately upon receipt, notify Lessor in writing (with copies of any documents involved) of
any threatened or actual claim, notice, citation, warning, complaint or report pertaining to or involving failure by Lessee or
the Premises to comply with any Applicable Laws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any changes or repairs to the Property of
any nature which would be considered a capital expenditure under generally accepted accounting principles to the Premises
shall be made by Lessor at Lessee’s expense if such repairs or changes are required by reason of the specific nature of the use
of the Premises by Lessee. If such changes or repairs are not required by reason of the specific nature of Lessee’s use of the
Premises and are capital expenditures, the cost of such changes or repairs shall be treated as an Operating Expense and

® Subject to Paragraph 32, Lessor, Lessor’s agents, employees, contractors and designated
representatives, and the holders of any mortgages, deeds of trust or ground leases on the Premises (“Lenders”) shall have the
right to enter the Premises at any time in the case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times on not less than twenty-
four (24) hours’ notice, for the purpose of inspecting the condition of the Premises and for verifying compliance by Lessee
with this Lease and all Applicable Laws, and Lessor shall be entitled to employ experts and/or consultants in connection
therewith to advise Lessor with respect to Lessee’s activities, including but not limited to Lessee’s installation, operation, use,
monitoring, maintenance, or removal of any Hazardous Substance on or from the Premises. The costs and expenses of any
such inspections shall be paid by the party requesting same, unless a default or breach of this Lease by Lessee or a violation
of Applicable Laws or a contamination, caused or materially contributed to by Lessee, is found to exist or to be imminent, or
unless the inspection is requested or ordered by a governmental authority as the result of any such existing or imminent
violation or contamination. In such case, Lessee shall upon request reimburse Lessor or Lessor’s Lender, as the case may be,
for the costs and expenses of such inspections.

(8) During the term of this Lease, Lessee shall comply, at Lessee’s expense, with all of the covenants,
conditions, and restrictions affecting the Premises which are recorded in the Official Records of San Mateo County,
California, and which are in effect as of the date of this Lease.

(h) Lessee shall surrender the Premises on or before the last day of the lease Term or any earlier
termination date, in accordance with Paragraph 14(c) and this Paragraph 15(h), with all of the improvements to the Premises
(including the Tenant Improvements), parts, and surfaces thereof clean and free of debris and in the operating order,
condition, and state of repair existing as of the Commencement Date, ordinary wear and tear, the elements, acts of God,
casualties, condemnation, alterations or other interior improvements which it is permitted to surrender at the termination of
this Lease and repairs that Lessee is not responsible for under this Lease, excepted. Lessee’s failure to surrender the
Premises in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Lease, including, without limitation, this Paragraph 15(h) shall
be deemed to be a material default under the Lease. “Ordinary wear and tear” shall not include any damage or deterioration
that would have been prevented by good maintenance practice or by Lessee
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performing all of its obligations under this Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, prior to the last day of the Term (or earlier
termination of the Lease), Lessee shall (i) patch any holes in the walls of the Premises and paint any damaged areas to match
the surrounding walls; (ii) replace any broken or damaged ceiling tiles in the Premises; and (iii) vacuum and steam clean all
carpets and replace any damaged areas of the carpets to match the surrounding carpet. In addition to the foregoing, the
obligations of Lessee shall include the repair of any damage occasioned by the installation, maintenance, or removal of
Lessee’s trade fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and alterations, and the restoration by Lessee of the Premises to its condition
upon completion of the Work. Lessee shall not be required to remove the Work but shall remove all personal property,
equipment and (A) any Alterations made after the Commencement Date if Lessor provided notice of its requirement of such

termination of the Lease term Lessor gives written notice to Lessee requiring Lessee to perform such removal and
restoration. Prior to the expiration of the term of this Lease or any earlier termination date, Lessee shall, at Lessee’s expense,
obtain written closure reports from the San Mateo County Health Department and from the Menlo Park Fire Protection
District with respect to any Hazardous Materials used, stored, or released by Lessee on or about the Premises. Both written
closure reports shall provide written certification that all Hazardous Materials have been removed from the Premises and that
no further action is required in connection with the closure of the Premises. Any removal and remediation of Hazardous
Materials by Lessee shall be certified in writing as (1) complete and (2) having been properly performed, by the San Mateo
County Health Department and the Menlo Park Fire Protection District and a copy of such written certifications shall be
delivered by Lessee to Lessor no later than the last day of the Term of this Lease.

16. Utilities and Services.

(a) Lessee shall contract for and pay for all separately metered electricity, water and gas, and Lessor shall
contract for and pay for, and Lessee shall reimburse Lessor therefor pursuant to Paragraph 6 as an Operating Expense
pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 6, all common area electricity, gas, water, sewer, utility and other service
charges. Lessee shall contract for and pay for janitorial service, refuse pick-up and any telephone, data or other
communications services, any special utilities that serve only the Premises (e.g., distilled water, process gasses, etc.).

b) Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee for any interruption or failure of any utility services to the Building
or the Premises unless caused by the active negligence or willful acts of Lessor. Lessee shall not be relieved from the
performance of any covenant or agreement in this Lease because of any such failure. Lessor shall make all repairs to the
Premises required to restore such services to the Premises and the cost thereof shall be payable by Lessee pursuant to
Paragraph 6 as a current Operating Expense, or as a capital improvement which is amortized over its useful life (together
with interest thereon) as an Operating Expense in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as described in
Paragraph 6(b); provided, however, that Lessee shall have the option to pay for Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of any such
improvement as a
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single lump-sum payment to avoid future interest costs described therein, and further provided that if such failure is caused
by the active negligence or willful acts of Lessor, then Lessor shall bear such costs. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in this Lease, if Lessee is prevented from using, and does not use, the Premises or any portion thereof, for thirty
(30) consecutive days (the “Eligibility Period”), as a result of (i) any failure by Lessor to provide to the Premises any of the
essential utilities and services required to be provided by Lessor pursuant to this Lease, or (ii) any failure by Lessor to
provide access to the Premises (each failure which shall be an “Interruption”), then Lessee’s obligation to pay Rent shall be
abated, as the case may be, from and after the first (1st) day following the Eligibility Period and continuing until such time
that Lessee continues to be so prevented from using, and does not use, the Premises or a portion thereof as a result of the
Interruption, in the proportion that the rentable square feet of the portion of the Premises that Lessee is prevented from using,
and does not use in the Premises bears to the total rentable square feet of the Premises; provided, however, that Lessee shall
only be entitled to such abatement of Rent if the Interruption described in clauses (i) or (ii) of this sentence arises out of or
results from Lessor’s active negligence or willful misconduct; provided, further, that Lessee shall not be entitled to abatement
or reduction of Rent to the extent the matters described in clauses (i) or (ii) above arise out of or results from an Interruption
outside of Lessor’s reasonable control. To the extent Lessee shall be entitled to abatement of Rent because of a Casualty
pursuant to Paragraph 21 or a taking pursuant to Paragraph 22, then the terms of this Paragraph 16(b) shall not apply.

17. Liens. Lessee agrees to keep the Premises free from all liens arising out of any work performed, materials
furnished, or obligations incurred by Lessee. Lessee shall give Lessor at least ten (10) calendar days prior written notice
before commencing any work of improvement on the Premises, the contract price for which exceeds Ten Thousand and
00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00). Lessor shall have the right to post notices of non-responsibility with respect to any such
work. If Lessee shall, in good faith, contest the validity of any such lien, claim or demand, then Lessee shall, at its sole
expense, defend and protect itself, Lessor and the Property against the same, and shall pay and satisfy any such adverse
judgment that may be rendered thereon before the enforcement thereof against the Lessor or the Property. If Lessor shall
require, Lessee shall furnish to Lessor a surety bond satisfactory to Lessor in an amount equal to one and one-half times the
amount of such contested claim or demand, indemnifying Lessor against liability for the same, as required by law for the
holding of the Property free from the effect of such lien or claim.

18.  Assignment and Subletting.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Paragraph 18, Lessee shall not assign this Lease, or any interest,
voluntarily or involuntarily, and shall not sublet the Premises or any part thereof, or any right or privilege appurtenant
thereto, or suffer any other person (the agents and servants of Lessee excepted) to occupy or use the Premises, or any portion
thereof, without the prior written consent of Lessor in each instance pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth below,
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, subject to the following provisions; provided, however, Lessee
shall not assign this Lease, or any interest, voluntarily or involuntarily, and shall not sublet the Premises or any part thereof,
or any right or privilege appurtenant thereto, or suffer any other person (the agents and servants of Lessee excepted) to
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occupy or use the Premises, or any portion thereof, if Lessee shall be in default under this Lease past any applicable cure
period.

(b) Prior to any assignment or sublease which Lessee desires to make, other than a Permitted Transfer (as
defined in Paragraph 18(f) below), Lessee shall provide to Lessor the name and address of the proposed assignee or
sublessee, and true and complete copies of all documents relating to Lessee’s prospective agreement to assign or sublease, a
copy of a then current financial statement for such proposed assignee or sublessee, and any other relevant information
reasonably requested by Lessor within five (5) days after receipt of notice of the proposed assignment or sublease and Lessee
shall specify all consideration to be received by Lessee for such assignment or sublease in the form of lump sum payments,
installments of rent, or otherwise. For purposes of this Paragraph 18, the term “consideration” shall include all money or
other consideration received by Lessee for such assignment or sublease. Within ten (10) days after the receipt of such
documentation and other information, Lessor (1) shall notify Lessee in writing that Lessor elects to consent to the proposed
assignment or sublease subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; (2) shall notify Lessee in writing that Lessor
refuses such consent, specifying reasonable grounds for such refusal; or (3) except with respect to a Permitted Transferee, if
at the time Lessee requests that Lessor consent to an assignment or sublease for all or substantially all of the remaining Lease
Term, Lessee is not conducting on-going operations for the use permitted in Paragraph 9, above, in at least fifty-one percent
(51%) of the Building, Lessor may notify Lessee that Lessor elects to terminate this Lease, provided that with respect to a
proposed sublease of a portion of the Premises Lessor’s termination right shall apply only to the proposed sublease space,
and specifying the effective date of termination which shall be the same as the commencement date of the proposed
sublease. If Lessor elects to terminate this Lease pursuant to the foregoing provision, upon the effective date of termination,
Lessor and Lessee shall each be released and discharged from any liability or obligation to the other under this Lease
accruing thereafter with respect to the Premises or the portion thereof to which the termination applies, except for any
obligations then outstanding and except for any indemnity obligations which survive the expiration or termination of this
Lease by the express terms hereof, and Lessee agrees that Lessor may enter into a direct lease with such proposed assignee or
sublessee without any obligation or liability to Lessee.

In deciding whether to consent to any proposed assignment or sublease, Lessor may take into account whether
reasonable conditions have been satisfied, including, but not limited to, the following:

(@)) In Lessor’s reasonable judgment, the proposed assignee or subtenant is engaged in such
a business, that the Premises, or the relevant part thereof, will be used in such a manner which complies with Paragraph 9
(Use) and Lessee or the proposed assignee or sublessee submits to Lessor documentary evidence reasonably satisfactory to
Lessor that such proposed use constitutes a permitted use of the Premises pursuant to the ordinances and regulations of the
City of Menlo Park;

2 The proposed assignee or subtenant is a reputable entity or individual with sufficient
financial net worth so as to reasonably indicate that it will be able to meet its obligations under this Lease or the sublease in a
timely manner;
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3) If at the time of the proposed transfer, Lessor has substantially similar space available
for rent in the Menlo Business Park, the proposed assignee or subtenant is not a tenant of the Building or any other building
in the Menlo Business Park; and,

4 The proposed assignment or sublease is approved by Lessor’s mortgage lender if such
lender has the right to approve or disapprove proposed assignments or subleases. Lessor shall use its good faith efforts to
obtain such approval from its lender within ten (10) days after receipt by Lessor of Lessee’s written request for consent and

(©) As a condition to Lessor’s granting its consent to any assignment or sublease, except with respect to
any Permitted Transferees, (1) Lessor may require that Lessee pay to Lessor, as and when received by Lessee, fifty percent
(50%) of the amount of any excess of the consideration received by Lessee in connection with said assignment or sublease
over and above the Monthly Base Rent and Additional Rent fixed by this Lease and payable by Lessee to Lessor, after
deducting (A) a standard leasing commission payable by Lessee in consummating such assignment or sublease, (B) the cost
of reasonable tenant improvements performed specifically for the sublease and required to be made to the Premises to
effectuate the sublease, provided that such improvements are performed in compliance with Paragraph 15(d) of this Lease,
and (C) reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by Lessor in negotiating and reviewing the assignment or sublease
documentation; and (2) Lessee and the proposed assignee or sublessee shall demonstrate to Lessor’s reasonable satisfaction
that each of the criteria referred to in subparagraph (b) above is satisfied.

(d) Each assignment or sublease agreement to which Lessor has consented shall be an instrument in
writing in form satisfactory to Lessor, and shall be executed by both Lessee and the assignee or sublessee, as the case may
be. Each such assignment or sublease agreement shall recite that it is and shall be subject and subordinate to the provisions
of this Lease, that the assignee or sublessee accepts such assignment or sublease, that Lessor’s consent thereto shall not
constitute a consent to any subsequent assignment or subletting by Lessee or the assignee or sublessee, and, except as
otherwise set forth in a sublease approved by Lessor, agrees to perform all of the obligations of Lessee hereunder (to the
extent such obligations relate to the portion of the Premises assigned or subleased), and that the termination of this Lease
shall, at Lessor’s sole election, constitute a termination of every such assignment or sublease.

(e) In the event Lessor shall consent to an assignment or sublease, Lessee shall nonetheless remain
primarily liable for all obligations and liabilities of Lessee under this Lease, including but not limited to the payment of
Rent.

® Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee may, without Lessor’s prior written consent and without any
participation by Lessor in assignment and subletting proceeds, but with prior notice and documentation, as required pursuant
to this Paragraph 18(f), provided to Lessor, sublet a portion or the entire Premises or assign this Lease to (i) a subsidiary,
affiliate, division or corporation controlling, controlled by or under common control with Lessee (“affiliate™); (ii) to
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a successor corporation to Lessee by merger, consolidation or reorganization; or (iii) to a purchaser of substantially all of
Lessee’s assets located on the Premises (each such transaction referred to herein as a “Permitted Transfer” and each of the
foregoing transferees referred to herein as a “Permitted Transferee”), provided that any such Permitted Transferee that is an
affiliate shall have a then current verifiable net worth immediately following the Permitted Transfer at least equal to that of
Lessee on the Effective Date of this Lease and any such other Permitted Transferee not an affiliate shall have a then current
verifiable net worth immediately following the Permitted Transfer which is at least equal to that of Lessee immediately prior
to the Permitted Transfer or, if in any Permitted Transfer, the then current verifiable net worth of the Permitted Transferee
(whether an affiliate or not) is less than required herein, such Permitted Transferee shall have the financial resources
sufficient, in Lessor’s reasonable good faith judgment, to perform the obligations under the assignment or sublease, as
Premises shall be subject to the following conditions: (1) Lessee shall not be in default hereunder past any applicable cure
period at the time of the sublease or assignment; (2) in the case of an assignment or subletting to an affiliate, Lessee shall
remain liable to Lessor hereunder if Lessee is a surviving entity; (3) the transferee or successor entity (in each case, if
different than Lessee) shall expressly assume in writing all of Lessee’s obligations hereunder; and (4) Lessee shall provide
Lessor with prior notice of such proposed transfer and deliver to Lessor all documents reasonably requested by Lessor
relating to such transfer, including but not limited to documentation sufficient to establish such proposed transferee’s (other
than an affiliate) then current verifiable net worth prior to the transfer at least equal to that of Lessee on the Commencement
Date of this Lease, or, if less, financial resources sufficient, in Lessor’s reasonable good faith judgment, to perform the
obligations under the assignment or sublease, as applicable; provided, however, that Lessee not be required to comply with
the foregoing requirements regarding net worth or financial resources if the entity acquiring Lessee shall provide a guaranty
of this Lease.

(8) Neither the sale nor transfer of Lessee’s capital stock shall be deemed an assignment, subletting, or
other transfer of this Lease or the Premises, provided, that in the event of the sale, transfer or issuance of Lessee’s securities
in connection with a transaction described in Paragraph 18(f), the conditions set forth in Paragraph 18(f) shall apply.

(h) Subject to the provisions of this Paragraph 18 any assignment or sublease (if such consent is required
hereunder) without Lessor’s prior written consent shall at Lessor’s election be void. The consent by Lessor to any
assignment or sublease shall not constitute a waiver of the provisions of this Paragraph 18, including the requirement of
Lessor’s prior written consent, with respect to any subsequent assignment or sublease. If Lessee shall purport to assign this
Lease, or sublease all or any portion of the Premises, or permit any person or persons other than Lessee to occupy the
Premises, without Lessor’s prior written consent (if such consent is required hereunder), Lessor may collect Rent from the
person or persons then or thereafter occupying the Premises and apply the net amount collected to the Rent reserved herein,
but no such collection shall be deemed a waiver of Lessor’s rights and remedies under this Paragraph 18, or the acceptance of
any such purported assignee, sublessee, or occupant, or a release of Lessee from the further performance by Lessee of
covenants on the part of Lessee herein contained.
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@) Lessee shall not hypothecate or encumber its interest under this Lease or any rights of Lessee
hereunder, or enter into any license or concession agreement respecting all or any portion of the Premises, without Lessor’s
prior written consent which consent Lessor may grant or withhold in Lessor’s absolute discretion without any liability to
Lessee. Lessee’s granting of any such encumbrance, license, or concession agreement shall constitute an assignment for
purposes of this Paragraph 18.

)] In the event of any sale or exchange of the Premises by Lessor and assignment of this Lease by Lessor,
Lessor shall, upon providing Lessee with written confirmation that the assignee has assumed all obligations of Lessor under
this Lease and Lessor has delivered any Security Deposit held by Lessor to Lessor’s successor in interest, be and hereby is
entirely relieved of all liability under any and all of Lessor’s covenants and obligations contained in or derived from this
Lease with respect to the period commencing with the consummation of the sale or exchange and assignment.

k) Lessee hereby acknowledges that the foregoing terms and conditions are reasonable and, therefore,
that Lessor has the remedy described in California Civil Code Section 1951.4 (Lessor may continue the Lease in effect after
Lessee’s breach and abandonment and recover Rent as it becomes due, if Lessee has the right to sublet or assign, subject only
to reasonable limitations).

19. Non-Waiver.

(@ No waiver of any provision of this Lease shall be implied by any failure of Lessor to enforce any
remedy for the violation of that provision, even if that violation continues or is repeated. Any waiver by Lessor of any
provision of this Lease must be in writing.

(b) No receipt of Lessor of a lesser payment than the Rent required under this Lease shall be considered to
be other than on account of the earliest Rent due, and no endorsement or statement on any check or letter accompanying a
payment or check shall be considered an accord and satisfaction. Lessor may accept checks or payments without prejudice to
Lessor’s right to recover all amounts due and pursue all other remedies provided for in this Lease.

Lessor’s receipt of any Rent or other payment from Lessee after giving notice to Lessee terminating this Lease
shall in no way reinstate, continue, or extend the Lease term or affect the termination notice given by Lessor before the
receipt of such Rent or payment. After serving notice terminating this Lease, filing an action, or obtaining final judgment for
possession of the Premises, Lessor may receive and collect any Rent, and the payment of that Rent shall not waive or affect
such prior notice, action, or judgment.

20. Holding Over. Lessee shall vacate the Premises and deliver the same to Lessor upon the expiration or sooner
termination of this Lease. In the event of holding over by Lessee after the expiration or termination of this Lease, such
holding over shall be on a month-to-month tenancy and all of the terms and provisions of this Lease shall be applicable
during such period,
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except that in addition to the payment of Additional Rent, Lessee shall pay Lessor as Monthly Base Rent during such
holdover an amount equal to the greater of (i) one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Monthly Base Rent in effect at the
expiration of the Term, or (ii) the then market rent for comparable research and development/office space. If such holdover
is without Lessor’s written consent, Lessee shall be liable to Lessor for all costs, expenses, and consequential damages
incurred by Lessor as a result of such holdover, including but not limited to damages resulting from Lessor’s inability to
timely deliver possession of the Premises to a new tenant. The rental payable during such holdover period without Lessor’s
written consent shall be payable to Lessor on demand.

21. Damage or Destruction.

(a) In the event of a total destruction of the Building during the term from any cause, either party may
elect to terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to the other party within thirty (30) days after the
casualty occurs. A total destruction shall be deemed to have occurred for this purpose if the Building or the Premises that are
the subject of this Lease are destroyed to the extent of seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the replacement cost thereof. If
the Lease is not terminated, Lessor shall repair and restore the Premises in a diligent manner and this Lease shall continue in
full force and effect, except that Monthly Base Rent and Additional Rent of the Premises which are the subject of this Lease
shall be abated in accordance with Paragraph 21(d) below.

(b) Subject to Paragraph 21(c), in the event of a partial destruction of the Building or the Premises to an
extent less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the replacement cost thereof, and if Lessor reasonably believes that the
damage thereto can be repaired, reconstructed, or restored within a period of two hundred seventy (270) days from the date
of casualty, there are at least twelve (12) months remaining in the Term of this Lease, and the casualty is from a cause which
is insured under Lessor’s “all risk” property insurance, or is insured under any other coverage then carried by Lessor, Lessor
shall forthwith repair the same back to the condition described in Schedules “F-1”, “F-2”, “F-3”, and “F-4” and this Lease
shall continue in full force and effect, except that Monthly Base Rent and Additional Rent shall be abated in accordance with

be paid to and become the property of Lessor. All insurance proceeds from Lessee’s fire and property damage insurance
covering the Tenant Improvements but excluding proceeds for Lessee’s Personal Property shall also be paid to Lessor, as loss
payee thereunder. If any of the foregoing conditions are not met, Lessor shall have the option of either repairing and
restoring the Building and Improvements, or terminating this Lease by giving written notice of termination to Lessee within
sixty (60) days after the casualty. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Paragraph 21, Lessor shall not
have the right to terminate this Lease if the cost to repair the damage to the Building or to restore the Premises would cost
less than five percent (5%) of the replacement cost of the Building, regardless of whether or not the casualty is insured,
provided that there are at least twelve (12) months remaining in the Term of this Lease. If the cost to restore the Premises
exceeds five percent (5%) of the replacement cost, and Lessor elects to terminate this Lease, Lessee may nullify the effect of
such termination by giving Lessor written notice within ten (10) days after receipt by Lessee of Lessor’s notice of
termination that Lessee shall reimburse Lessor
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for the costs to restore the Premises in excess of the insurance proceeds available, which costs exceed five percent (5%) of
the replacement cost, in which event this Lease shall remain in effect, provided that Rent abatement shall not extend beyond
the date that the restoration is completed.

(o) Lessor’s election to repair and restore the Building and Improvements or to terminate this Lease under
casualty. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a partial destruction of the Building or the Property to an extent less
than seventy-five percent (75%) of the Building or Premises, or if the damage thereto cannot be repaired, reconstructed, or
restored within a period of one hundred eighty (180) days from the date a building permit is issued for
reconstruction, Lessee may terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to Lessor within sixty (60) days after

(d) In the event of repair, reconstruction, or restoration as provided herein, the Monthly Base Rent and
Additional Rent shall be abated in proportion to the extent to which Lessee’s use of the Premises is completely impaired and
Lessee does not use such portion of the Premises during the period of repair from the date of the casualty until such repair is
Substantially Completed.

(e) With respect to any destruction of the Building and the Work which Lessor is obligated to repair, or
may elect to repair, under the terms of this Paragraph 21, the provisions of Section 1932, Subdivision 2, and of Section 1933,
Subdivision 4, of the Civil Code of the State of California are waived by the parties. Provided Lessor receives sufficient
insurance proceeds from Lessee’s fire and property insurance to repair or replace any alterations in the Premises constructed
after the Commencement Date damaged in the casualty event, Lessor’s obligation to repair and restore the Building and
Improvements shall include the Work referred to in Paragraph 14(a) and any future-installed alterations. Lessor’s time for
completion of the repairs and restoration of the Building and Improvements referred to above shall be extended by a period
equal to any delays caused by Tenant Delay or force majeure.

® In the event of termination of this Lease pursuant to any of the provisions of this Paragraph 21, the
Monthly Base Rent and Additional Rent shall be apportioned on a per diem basis and shall be paid to the date of the
casualty. In no event shall Lessor be liable to Lessee for any damages resulting to Lessee from the occurrence of such
casualty, or from the repairing or restoration of the Building and Improvements, or from the termination of this Lease as
provided herein, nor shall Lessee be relieved thereby from any of Lessee’s obligations hereunder, except to the extent and
upon the conditions expressly set forth in this Paragraph 21.

22. Eminent Domain.

(a) If the whole or any substantial part of the Property or the Premises is taken or condemned by any
competent public authority for any public use or purpose, the term of this Lease shall end upon the earlier to occur of the date
when the possession of the part so taken shall be required for such use or purpose or the vesting of title in such public
authority. Rent
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shall be apportioned as of the date of such termination. Any award arising from the condemnation of any portion of the
Property or the settlement thereof shall belong to and be paid to Lessor. However, Lessee may file a separate claim at
Lessee’s sole cost and expense for (i) leasehold improvements installed at Lessee’s expense or other property owned by
Lessee, and (ii) reasonable costs of moving by Lessee to another location in San Mateo County or surrounding areas within
the San Francisco Bay Area. In all events, Lessor shall be solely entitled to any award with respect to the real property,
including the bonus value of the leasehold.

(b) If there is a partial taking of the Property by eminent domain which is not a substantial part of the
Property and the Premises remain reasonably suitable for continued use and occupancy by Lessee for the purposes referred to
in Paragraph 9 (Use), Lessor shall complete any necessary repairs in a diligent manner and this Lease shall remain in full
force and effect with a just and proportionate abatement of the Monthly Base Rent and Additional Rent, based on the extent
to which Lessee’s use of the Premises is completely impaired thereafter. If after a partial taking, the Premises are not
reasonably suitable for Lessee’s continued use and occupancy for the uses permitted herein, Lessee may terminate this Lease
effective on the earlier of the date title vests in the public authority or the date possession is taken. Subject to the provisions
of Paragraph 22(a), the entire award for such taking shall be the property of Lessor.

23. Remedies. If (a) Lessee fails to make any payment of Rent or any other sum due under this Lease within five
(5) days after receipt by Lessee of written notice from Lessor; or (b) Lessee breaches any other term, provision or covenant
notice from Lessor or such shorter time period specified in this Lease (unless such default is incapable of cure within thirty
(30) days and Lessee commences cure as soon as reasonably practical within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter
diligently prosecutes the cure to completion within a reasonable time not to exceed sixty (60) days after commencing the
cure); or (c) after the first (1) anniversary of the Commencement Date, Lessee breaches the provisions set forth in Paragraph
such breach, either (i) fails to commence to cure such breach within five (5) business days after receipt of written notice from
Lessor and, thereafter, to diligently prosecute the cure to completion three (3) or more times in a twelve (12) month period, or
(ii) fails more than once in a twelve (12) month period to cure such breach within a reasonable time after receipt of written
notice from Lessor; or (d) Lessee’s interest herein, or any part thereof, is assigned or transferred, either voluntarily or by
operation of law (except as expressly permitted by other provisions of this Lease); or (e) Lessee makes a general assignment
for the benefit of its creditors; or (f) if this Lease is rejected (i) by a bankruptcy trustee for Lessee, (ii) by Lessee as debtor in
possession, or (iii) by failure of Lessee as a bankrupt debtor to act timely in assuming or rejecting this Lease; then any of
such events shall constitute an event of default and breach of this Lease by Lessee and Lessor may, at its option, elect the
detail the nature and extent of the failure referencing pertinent Lease provisions. Any such rejection of this Lease referred to
above shall not cause an automatic termination of this Lease. Whenever in this Lease reference is made to a default by
Lessee, such reference shall refer to an event of default as defined in this Paragraph 23.
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(€)] Lessor may repossess the Premises and remove all persons and property therefrom. If Lessor
repossesses the Premises because of a breach of this Lease, this Lease shall terminate and Lessor may recover from Lessee:

(@)) the worth at the time of award of the unpaid Rent which had been earned at the time of
termination including interest thereon at a rate equal to the discount rate established by the Federal Reserve Bank of San
Francisco for member banks, plus one percent (1%), or the maximum legal rate of interest, whichever is less, from the time
of termination until paid;

) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent which would
have been earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Lessee proves could
have been reasonably avoided, including interest thereon at a rate equal to the Federal discount rate plus one percent (1%) per
annum, or the maximum legal rate of interest, whichever is less, from the time of termination until paid;

3) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance
of the term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss for the same period that Lessee proves could be
reasonably avoided discounted at the discount rate established by the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco for member
banks at the time of the award plus one percent (1%); and

4 any other amount necessary to compensate Lessor for all the detriment proximately
caused by Lessee’s breach or by Lessee’s failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course
of things would be likely to result therefrom.

(b) If Lessor does not repossess the Premises, then this Lease shall continue in effect for so long as Lessor
does not terminate Lessee’s right to possession and Lessor may enforce all of its rights and remedies under this Lease,
including the right to recover the Rent and other sums due from Lessee hereunder. For the purposes of this Paragraph 23, the
following do not constitute a repossession of the Premises by Lessor or a termination of the Lease by Lessor:

(@)) Acts of maintenance or preservation by Lessor or efforts by Lessor to relet the
Premises; or

) The appointment of a receiver by Lessor to protect Lessor’s interests under this Lease.

(©) Lessor’s failure to perform or observe any of its obligations under this Lease or to correct a breach of
any warranty or representation made in this Lease within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from Lessee setting
forth in reasonable detail the nature and extent of the failure referencing pertinent Lease provisions or if more than thirty (30)
days is required to cure the breach, Lessor’s failure to begin curing within the thirty (30) day period and diligently prosecute
the cure to completion, shall constitute a default. If Lessor commits a
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default, Lessee’s sole remedy shall be to institute an action against Lessor for damages or for equitable or injunctive relief,
but Lessee shall not have the right to punitive damages, consequential damages, rent abatement, offset against Rent, or to
terminate this Lease in the event of any default by Lessor.

(d) All covenants and agreements to be performed by Lessee under this Lease shall be at its sole cost and
expense and without abatement of Rent or other sums due under this Lease, unless otherwise specified in this Lease. If
Lessee shall fail to pay any sum of money required to be paid by Lessee under this Lease or shall fail to perform any other
act on Lessee’s part to be performed under this Lease within the time periods described in the first paragraph of Paragraph
23(a), Lessor may, but shall not be obligated so to do and without waiving or releasing Lessee from any obligations of
Lessee, make any such payment or perform any such other act on Lessee’s part to be made or performed as provided in this
Lease. All sums paid by Lessor, whether to fulfill Lessee’s unfulfilled payment obligations, to perform Lessee’s unfulfilled
performance obligations, or to compel Lessee to fulfill or perform its obligations under this Lease, and all incidental costs,
including attorneys’ fees, plus an administrative fee of five percent (5%) of all amounts so expended by Lessor, shall be
deemed additional rent hereunder and shall be payable to Lessor upon demand.

24, Lessee’s Personal Property. If any personal property of Lessee remains on the Premises after (1) Lessor
terminates this Lease pursuant to_Paragraph 23 above following an event of default by Lessee, or (2) after the expiration of
the Lease Term or after the termination of this Lease pursuant to any other provisions hereof, Lessor shall give written notice
thereof to Lessee pursuant to applicable law. Lessor shall thereafter release, store, and dispose of any such personal property
of Lessee in accordance with the provisions of applicable law.

25. Notices. All notices, demands, consents or approvals (collectively, “Netices”) which may or are required to
be given by either party to the other under this Lease shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been fully given (a)
when received or refused, if personally delivered, (b) three (3) business days after being deposited in the United States mail,
postage prepaid, sent by Certified or Registered Mail, or (d) one (1) business day after being deposited with a nationally
recognized overnight courier service. Each Notice shall be addressed to Lessor and Lessee at the following address, or to
such place as either party may from time to time designate in a written notice to the other party:

Lessor:

Menlo Park Portfolio II, LLC

c/o Tarlton Properties, Inc.

1530 O’Brien Drive, Suite C

Menlo Park, California 94025
Attention: John C. Tarlton, President
Telephone: (650) 330-3600

Lessee:
Prior to Commencement Date:
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Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc.
1380 Willow Rd.

Menlo Park, California 94025
Attention: General Counsel
Telephone: (650) 521-8000

After the Commencement Date:

Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc.
1315 or 1305 O’Brien Drive, Building #3
Menlo Park, California 94025

Attention: General Counsel

Telephone: (650) 521-8000

26. Estoppel Certificate. Lessee and Lessor shall within ten (10) days following request by the other party (the
“Requesting Party”), execute and deliver to the Requesting Party an estoppel certificate (1) certifying that this Lease has not
been modified and certifying that this Lease is in full force and effect, or, if modified, stating the nature of such modification
and certifying that this Lease, as so modified, is in full force and effect; (2) stating the date to which the Rent and other
charges are paid in advance, if at all; (3) stating the amount of any Security Deposit held by Lessor; (4) acknowledging that
there are not, to the responding party’s then current actual knowledge without inquiry, any uncured defaults on the part of the
Requesting Party hereunder, or if there are uncured defaults on the part of the Requesting Party, stating the nature of such
uncured defaults; and (5) any other provisions reasonably requested by either party.

27. Signage. Lessee shall have the use of Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of the monument sign and lobby sign for
Building #3 for Lessee’s signage. Lessee may place Lessee’s vinyl lettering signage on the glass near the front door entrance
to the Building and in the interior of the Building, subject to Lessor’s reasonable requirements and consent and subject to the
requirements of the City of Menlo Park. All of Lessee’s signage shall comply with the City of Menlo Park sign ordinances
and regulations and shall be subject to Lessor’s approval as to the specific location, size and design thereof. The cost of the
installation of Lessee’s signage on the monument, on the glass near the front entrance to the Building and within the interior
of the Building shall be paid by Lessee. All signage shall be subject to Lessor’s prior approval and any additional signage (if
any), if approved, shall be installed at Lessee’s expense.

28. Real Estate Brokers. Lessee’s broker is Cornish and Carey Newmark Knight Frank (CCNKF) (“Lessee’s
Broker”) and Lessor’s broker is Kidder Matthews (“Lessor’s Broker” and collectively with Lessee’s Broker, the
“Brokers”). Lessor shall pay a leasing commission to the Brokers pursuant to a separate agreement. Each party represents
and warrants to the other party that it has not had any dealings with any real estate broker, finder, or other person with respect
to this Lease other than Lessee’s Broker and Lessor’s Broker and each party shall hold harmless the other party from all
damages, expenses, and liabilities resulting from any
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claims that may be asserted against the other party by any broker, finder, or other person with whom the other party has or
purportedly has dealt, other than the above named brokers.

29. Parking. Lessee shall have the right to three (3) parking spaces per thousand rentable square feet of the
Premises at no additional cost to Lessee during the initial term of the Lease, in the parking area for the Building or nearby
parking areas in Menlo Business Park, subject to such rules and regulations for such parking facilities which may be
established or altered by Lessor at any time from time to time during the Lease Term; provided, however, that if Lessor
builds a parking structure in the Menlo Business Park during the Lease Term (the “Parking Structure”), Lessor shall grant
to Lessee the non-exclusive use of Two Hundred Ten (210) unreserved on-site vehicular parking spaces within such structure
at no additional base rent to Lessee for the initial Term of the Lease; provided, however, that the parties agree and
acknowledge that the Lessee’s Pro-Rata Share and Lessee’s Pro-Rata Share with respect to the Parking Structure shall be
adjusted in a fair and reasonable manner if and when the Parking Structure is built. Vehicles of Lessee or its employees shall
not park in driveways or occupy parking spaces or other areas reserved for deliveries, or loading or
unloading. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Lessee shall not be required to comply with any new rule or
regulation or be bound by any new covenant, condition, restriction or other encumbrance on the Property unless the same
applies non-discriminatorily to all occupants of the Property, does not unreasonably interfere with Lessee’s use of the
Premises or Lessee’s parking rights and does not materially increase the obligations or decrease the rights of Lessee with
respect to parking under this Lease. The parties further acknowledge and agree that Lessor has filed a Transportation
Demand Management Plan (“TDMP”) with the City of Menlo Park and, as the same may be amended from time to time,
Lessee shall provide to the coordinator of the TDMP information pertinent to car and van pooling, and Lessee shall comply
with other reasonable TDMP reporting requirements. Lessee shall be entitled to the same rights and benefits of such TDMP
as all tenants of the Menlo Business Park subject to the TDMP during the Lease Term.

30. Subordination; Attornment.

(a) This Lease, without any further instrument, shall at all times be subject and subordinate to the lien of
any and all mortgages and deeds of trust (a “Security Instrument”) which may now or hereafter be placed on, against or
affect Lessor’s estate in the real property of which the Premises form a part, and to all advances made or hereafter to be made
upon the security thereof, and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements and extensions thereof. This
clause shall be self-operative and no further instrument of subordination need be required by any owner or holder of any
Security Instrument provided however, that in consideration of Lessee’s agreement to subordinate this Lease to any future
Security Instrument, such subordination shall be subject to the receipt by Lessee of a subordination non-disturbance and
attornment agreement in a commercially reasonable form provided by the holder of such future Security Instrument, which
requires the holder of such Security Instrument to accept this Lease, and not to disturb Lessee’s possession, so long as an
event of Lessee's default has not occurred and be continuing (a “SNDA”), executed by the holder of such Security
Instrument.
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(b) In confirmation of such subordination, Lessee covenants and agrees to execute and deliver within ten
(10) days of Lessor’s request any certificate or other instrument which Lessor may reasonably deem proper to evidence such
subordination in commercially reasonable form (which document recognizes Lessee’s rights under this Lease), without
expense to Lessee; provided, however, that if any person or persons purchasing or otherwise acquiring the real property of
which the Premises form a part by any sale, sales and/or other proceedings under such mortgages and/or deeds of trust, shall
elect to continue this Lease in full force and effect in the same manner and with like effect as if such person or persons had
been named as Lessor herein, then this Lease shall continue in full force and effect as aforesaid, and Lessee hereby attorns
and agrees to attorn to such person or persons in writing upon request.

(o) If Lessee is notified in writing of Lessor’s default under any deed of trust affecting the Premises and if
Lessee is instructed in writing by the party giving notice to make Lessee’s rental payments to such beneficiary, Lessee shall
comply with such request without liability to Lessor (and with full credit of any amounts paid to such party by Lessee to the
corresponding amounts owed to Lessor) until Lessee receives written confirmation that such default has been cured by
Lessor and that the deed of trust has been reinstated.

31. No Termination Right. Except as expressly provided herein, Lessee shall not have the right to terminate this
Lease as a result of any default by Lessor, and Lessee’s remedies in the event of a default by Lessor shall be limited to the
remedy set forth in Paragraph 23(c). Lessee expressly waives the defense of constructive eviction.

32. Lessor’s Entry. Except in the case of an emergency and except for permitted entry during Lessee’s normal
working hours for scheduled maintenance, both of which may occur without prior notice to Lessee, Lessor and Lessor’s
agents shall provide Lessee with at least twenty-four (24) hours’ notice prior to entry of the Premises. Lessor may enter the
Premises for any reasonable purpose related to Lessor’s ownership of the Property. Such entry by Lessor and Lessor’s agents
shall not impair Lessee’s operations more than reasonably necessary and shall comply with Lessee’s reasonable security
measures, if any. Lessor and Lessor’s agents shall at all times be accompanied by Lessee during any such entry except in
case of emergency and except for janitorial work (if provided by Lessor). Lessor may enter the Premises at any time without
prior notice to Lessee if the Premises are vacant, if Lessee is no longer conducting its ordinary business at the Premises, or if
Lessee has made a general assignment for the benefit of creditors.

33. Attorneys’ Fees. If any action at law or in equity shall be brought to recover any Rent under this Lease, or for
or on account of any breach of or to enforce or interpret any of the provisions of this Lease or for recovery of the possession
of the Premises, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other party costs of suit and reasonable attorneys’
fees, the amount of which shall be fixed by the court and shall be made a part of any judgment rendered.

34. Quiet Enjoyment. Upon payment by Lessee of the Rent for the Premises and the observance and performance
of all of the covenants, conditions, and provisions on Lessee’s part to be observed and performed under this Lease within
applicable notice and cure periods, Lessee
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shall have quiet enjoyment and possession of the Premises for the entire term hereof subject to all of the provisions of this
Lease.

35. Financial Information. Lessee represents and warrants to Lessor that all financial and other information that it
has provided to Lessor prior to the date of this Lease is true, correct and complete.

36. SDN List. Lessee represents and warrants to Lessor that Lessee is not, and the entities that own or control
Lessee, or that may be owned or controlled by Lessee (in all cases, other than through the ownership of publicly traded,
direct or indirect ownership interests) (each a “Subject Lessee Party”) are not, (i) in violation of any Applicable Laws
relating to terrorism or money laundering, or (ii) among the individuals or entities identified on any list compiled pursuant to
Executive Order 13224 or published by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, U.S. Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”) for
the purpose of identifying suspected terrorists or on the most current list published by the OFAC at its official website,
http://www.treas.gov/ofac/tllsdn.pdf or any replacement website or other replacement official publication of such list which
identifies an “Specially Designated National” or “blocked person” (either of which are referred to herein as a “SDN”). If at
any time during the Lease Term Lessor discovers that Lessee has breached the foregoing representations and warranties, or
Lessor reasonably believes that Lessee or any Subject Lessee Party is in violation of any Applicable Laws relating to
terrorism or money laundering or that Lessee or any Subject Lessee Party is identified as an SDN, Lessee shall be deemed in
default under this Lease following three (3) days written notice from Lessor to Lessee unless, within such three day period,
Lessee delivers written evidence, reasonably acceptable to Lessor, that Lessee is not in violation of such Applicable Laws or
that Lessee (or the Subject Lessee Party, as applicable) is not a person or entity identified as an SDN. Except as otherwise
expressly provided in the foregoing sentence, and without further notice, any default by Lessee under this Paragraph 35 shall
be deemed an incurable default by Lessee and, in addition to any other rights and remedies that Lessor may have upon such
default, Lessor shall also have the right to immediately terminate this Lease upon written notice to Lessee and recover
possession of the Premises.

37. General Provisions.

(a) Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deemed or construed by the parties hereto or by any third
person to create the relationship of principal and agent or of partnership or of joint venture of any association between Lessor
and Lessee, and neither the method of computation of Rent nor any other provisions contained in this Lease nor any acts of
the parties hereto shall be deemed to create any relationship between Lessor and Lessee other than the relationship of
landlord and tenant.

(b) Each and all of the provisions of this Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto, and except as otherwise specifically provided elsewhere in this Lease, their respective heirs, executors,
administrators, successors, and assigns, subject at all times, nevertheless, to all agreements and restrictions contained
elsewhere in this Lease with respect to the assignment, transfer, encumbering, or subletting of all or any part of Lessee’s
interest in this Lease.
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(o) The captions of the paragraphs of this Lease are for convenience only and shall not be considered or
referred to in resolving questions of interpretation or construction.

(d) This Lease is and shall be considered to be the only agreement between the parties hereto and their
representatives and agents. All negotiations and oral agreements acceptable to both parties have been merged into and are
included herein. There are no other representations or warranties between the parties and all reliance with respect to
representations is solely upon the representations and agreements contained in this instrument.

(e) The laws of the State of California shall govern the validity, performance, and enforcement of this
Lease. Notwithstanding which of the parties may be deemed to have prepared this Lease, this Lease shall not be interpreted
either for or against Lessor or Lessee, but this Lease shall be interpreted in accordance with the general tenor of the language
in an effort to reach an equitable result.

® Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of each of the covenants and agreements
contained in this Lease.

() Recourse by Lessee for breach of this Lease by Lessor shall be expressly limited to the amount of
Lessor’s interest in the Property and the rents, issues, insurance, condemnation, and sales proceeds actually received by
Lessor, and profits therefrom, and in the event of any such breach or default by Lessor, Lessee hereby waives the right to
proceed against any other assets of Lessor or against any other assets of any manager or member of Lessor.

(h) Any provision or provisions of this Lease which shall be found to be invalid, void or illegal by a court
of competent jurisdiction, shall in no way affect, impair, or invalidate any other provisions hereof, and the remaining
provisions hereof shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect.

@) This Lease may be modified in writing only, signed by the parties in interest at the time of such
modification.

)] Each party represents to the other that the person signing this Lease on its behalf is properly authorized
to do so.

k) No binding agreement between the parties with respect to the Premises shall arise or become effective
until this Lease has been duly executed by both Lessee and Lessor and a fully executed copy of this Lease has been delivered
to both Lessee and Lessor.

(0] Lessor and Lessee each acknowledge that the content of this Lease and any related documents are
confidential information. Lessor and Lessee shall keep such confidential information strictly confidential and, except to the
extent required by applicable law, including, but not limited to any securities laws or regulations or court order, shall not
disclose such confidential information to any person or entity other than to such party’s financial, legal, or accounting
advisors, or such party’s employees, officers, directors, shareholders, lender, space
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planning consultants, architects and contractors, and prospective assignees or subtenants of Lessee or any prospective buyer
of the Property, or in any dispute proceeding between the parties relating to this Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Lessor and Lessee shall not be obligated to keep confidential: (i) information that is or becomes available to the public other
than as a result of Lessor’s or Lessee’s disclosure in violation of this Lease; (ii) information that is or becomes available on a
non-confidential basis to Lessor or Lessee from a source other than Lessor or Lessee, as applicable; (iii) information that was
known to Lessor or Lessee on a non-confidential basis prior to the disclosure of such information to Lessor or Lessee, as
applicable, under protection of this Lease; or (iv) information released from confidential treatment by written consent of
Lessor or Lessee, as applicable. Neither Lessor or Lessee shall send out any press releases about the execution and delivery
of this Lease without the other party’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. A violation
of this subparagraph (1) shall not permit either party to terminate this Lease.

(m) Except as provided in Paragraph 23(c), the rights and remedies that either party may have under this
Lease or at law or in equity, upon any breach, are distinct, separate and cumulative and shall not be deemed inconsistent with
each other, and no one of them shall be deemed to be exclusive of any other.

(n) Lessee waives any claim for consequential damages which Lessee may have against Lessor for breach
of or failure to perform or observe the requirements and obligations created by this Lease.

(0) Lessor and Lessee each agree to and they hereby do, to the maximum extent permitted by law, waive
trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by either of the parties hereto against the other on any matters
whatsoever arising out of or in any way connected with this Lease, the relationship of Lessor and Lessee, Lessee’s use or
occupancy of the Premises and/or any claim of injury or damage, and any statutory remedy.

) This Lease shall not be recorded.

(@ Lessee hereby waives any and all rights under and benefits of California Civil Code Section 1938 and
acknowledges that neither the Building nor the Premises has undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp).

(r) In the event that the Lessee is permitted and elects to contract directly for the provision of electricity,
gas and/or water services to the Premises with the third-party provider thereof (all in Lessor's reasonable discretion), Lessee
shall within ten (10) business days following its receipt of written request from Lessor, provide Lessor with a copy of each
requested invoice from the applicable utility provider. Lessee acknowledges that pursuant to California Public Resources
Code Section 25402.10 and the regulations adopted pursuant thereto (collectively the "Energy Disclosure Requirements"),
Lessor may be required to disclose information concerning Lessee’s energy usage at the Building to certain third parties,
including, without limitation, prospective purchasers, lenders and tenants of the Building (the "Lessee Energy Use
Disclosure"). Lessee hereby (A) consents to all such Lessee Energy Use Disclosures, and (B) acknowledges that Lessor
shall not be required to notify Lessee of any
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Lessee Energy Use Disclosure. Further, Lessee hereby releases Lessor from any and all losses, costs, damages, expenses and
liabilities relating to, arising out of and/or resulting from any Lessee Energy Use Disclosure. The terms of this Paragraph
37(r) of the Lease shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease

(s) Whenever this Lease requires an approval, consent, determination, selection or judgment by either
Lessor or Lessee, unless another standard is expressly set forth, such approval, consent, determination, selection or judgment
and any conditions imposed thereby shall be reasonable and shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed and, in exercising
any right or remedy hereunder, each party shall at all times act reasonably and in good faith.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGES]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Lessor and Lessee have duly executed this Lease as of the date first set forth herein.

“Lessor”

MENLO PARK PORTFOLIOII, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: PREHC MENLO PARK PORTFOLIO II MEMBER, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
Its: Co-Managing Member

By: PRINCIPAL REAL ESTATE INVESTORS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company, authorized signatory

By: /s/ Michael S. Bensen
Name: Michael S. Bensen
Title: Assistant Managing Director Asset Management

By: /s/ Troy A. Koerselman
Name: Troy A. Koerselman
Title: Assistant Managing Director Asset Management

By: TPIINVESTORS 11, LLC,
A California limited liability company
By: TARLTON PROPERTIES, INC., a California corporation
Its: Managing Member
By: /s/ John Tarlton
Name: John Tarlton
Title: CEO

[SIGNATURE OF LESSEE ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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“Lessee”

PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Ben Gong
Printed Name: Ben Gong

Its: VP of Finance
By:

Printed Name:

Its:

Pacific Biosciences

Legal Department
Approved: 7/21/2015

WEST\258445808.17
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EXHIBIT “A”

THE LAND

Real property in the City of Menlo Park, County of San Mateo, State of California, described as follows:

PARCEL A, AS SHOWN ON PARCEL MAP FOR THE PURPOSE OF ELIMINATING THE LINE BETWEEN LOTS 3
AND 4 OF MENLO BUSINESS PARK, ETC., FILED FEBRUARY 27, 1987, IN BOOK 58 OF PARCEL MAPS, PAGE 74,
SAN MATEO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN: 055-472-030
JPN: 111-050-000-03T, 111-040-000-04T

Exhibit “A”
WEST\258445808.17



EXHIBIT “B”
MENLO BUSINESS PARK MASTER PLAN

(See Attached)

EXHIBIT “B”
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1otme 102 7,500 7,500 = 17% A7 2§
2 whse 6.97 152,067 152,067 =  50% 50 166
3 11.2 217,770 180,083 57,687 33% 45 268
S nms 138 25,330 17,808 7,822 30% 42 78
L) 1.13 19,880 14,720 5160 30% 40 T2
7 353 64,734 46,748 17,986 30% .42 177
9 1.82 32,739 23,750 8,989 30% 41 111
10 168 32,000 22,030 9,970 30% 44 T8
1 2,11 35,125 24,805 10,320 27% .38 105
10 2,80 72,868 419,088 27400 EALY 4% 234
14 2.67 59,272 41,430 17842 6% 51 159
15 2.45 45,750 38,394 7,356  36% .43 154
18 1.62 31,680 19,360 12,320 27% .45 103
17118 6.08 63,360 30,880 24% .36 332

TOTAL 47.30 890,743 881111 209,632 33% .43 2,082




EXHIBIT “C”

Floor Plan of Premises in Building #3
(See Attached)
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EXHIBIT “D”
Commencement Memorandum

To: Date: 2014

Re: Lease dated July ___, 2016 between MENLO PARK PORTFOLIO II, LLC, hereafter referred to as Lessor, and
PACIFIC BIOSCIENCES OF CALIFORNIA, INC., a Delaware corporation, Lessee, concerning the Premises
consisting of approximately One Hundred Eighty Thousand (180,000) rentable square feet in the building commonly
known as 1305 O’Brien Drive, Menlo Park, California.

Gentlemen:

In accordance with the subject Lease, we hereby confirm the following:

1. That the Premises have been unconditionally accepted by Lessee, except as noted on the attached.

2. That Lessee has possession of the Premises and acknowledges that pursuant to the Lease, the initial term of
the Lease commenced on , 2016 (the “Commencement Date™), and shall expire on ,201_.

3. That in accordance with the provisions of the Lease, Monthly Base Rent and Additional Rent commenced to
accrue on , 2016.

4. Thereafter, Rent is due and payable in advance on the first day of each month during the term of the

Lease. Rent checks should be made payable to Lessor, c/o Tarlton Properties, Inc., 1530 O’Brien Drive, Suite C Menlo Park,
California 94025.

AGREED AND ACCEPTED

LESSEE: LESSOR:

EXHIBIT “D”
WEST\258445808.17



EXHIBIT “E”
Lessee’s Hazardous Materials

(See Attached)

EXHIBIT “E”
WEST\258445808.17
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PacBio Chemical Invantory

Primary | Secondary Largest
Chamical Hazard Hazard SLG Container
[Acetic Acid Cornb I COfOShe L 05T gal
LAz etic anhpdride Coamb I camoshoe L . 025 gal
[Acetonitrike 100 with TEAL Conib 11 L s 2 gal
D 3¢l fuel in &xt generator Carnb Il L 4000 4000 gal
Fesmic acid Camb il coneshve L 04 0.25 gal
[Microposit-5C 15827 Comb i1 L k] 05gl
Misc liquids Cormb 11 L 1 0.07 gal
N, D i thyHoomamide Camb O L 53 53 003 gal
Propionic acid Corb 11 cofmoshe L 055 055 025 gal
hwaste Microposh Camib 11 L 35 6% 10 gal
Total G Liguids 11}8,000 gal +52 gal
{1,2-Dichlosobencene, anhydrous, 9% Comb ik L 0.52 [ 025gal |
[1-Mathyl-2-pyrrolidons Comb Iy L 14 140 018 gal
Dimethyl sulloaide Comb |1 L 29 5.50 16 gal
(Ethyl 2-methylacetoacetate Comb |14 L 025 0.2% 013 gal
JEthyl scetoncetate Comb 1A L o4 .40 025 gal
Misc. liquids Comib |1k L 05 0.50 0.03 gal
M. N-Diethylaniline Comb ik tox L 026 (%] 025gal |
N N-Dimaeth ylagetamide Comb I L Q5 950 0.08 gal
{ Tributylamine Comb I HEox L oz 0.32 007 gal
Triethanchkimine Comb |14 L o4z .42 025 gal
Total Combiatible Ligulds M 10.3 gal
I ol Comb 118 L 026 026 026
UV Adhesive Norland 081 Comb 118 L 024 0.24 0iigal |
Misc liquids Comb 118 L 03 ¢.30 022 gal
Total Combustible Liquids 118108 gal
{Argon. Liguid Cryogen i 50 30 500 gal
Carbon dicuide, sohd Cryogen 5 S085 Tias 1695 Ib
Marogen, Liquid Crpagen L Tidd 7144 G000 gal
Total Cryogens {15479 gal
{01% TFA in Water Corrosive L 1 3 gl
albeitect CPIO Cormosive L ] o 55 gal
Jammania Solution, Strong. Corroshe L 026 0.5 0265 gal
JAnsmonium Rydicoids Caffidioe L 16 17 013 gal
Bromine liquid, 99.8% Corroshe L 026 9,26 0.03 gal
M- Bromosuceinimide Corrothe 5 165 165 11l
{E-Bromahexanoic scid Corroshe 5 11 11 0.221b
Mopnuric chioride Corroshe 5 13 13 11k
Ethylenedamine Tetraacets: Acid, Tetrasod ium Salt Dibydrate 5 11 11 11l
{Guanidine hydrochlonide Waste Corroshve L 35 35 30 gal
b Honie Acid drats Corresive 5 15 15 11k
(Hydrochloric acid Corrosive L 61 7 DET gal
]Imldmh Corroshee L 026 0.52 0.25 gal
Imnidazole Corrosive 5 i1 22 11h
Pone’s Reapent [Chromasulfuric Ao, 2%) Corrogioe L 052 0,52 026 gal
Mz liquids Corroshee L 2z 4 1 gal
Frospharic acid Corrashe L 144 2,74 1.26 gal
Phosphorus (V] exvehlaride Correshe L 08 06 0.07 gal
Fhosphorus pentoxide, powdes, »=53&%, ACS. rea|  Corrosive 5 11 11 11k
{Potassium hydroxide Corrosiee L 137 3.26 057 gal
Potassium bydroxide Corroding 5 123 13 .z
Resercingl Corroshoe 5 1.587 1.587 110
Tofzms Fagelaofl
EXHIBIT “E”




WEST\258445808.17

PacBio Chemical Invantory

Primary | Secendary Largest
Chemical Hazard Hazard 5L6
fsodiurm buduite, granular Carroshie 5 11 11 1.1
Isedium hydroaide Correste L 625 125 42 gl
jSedium hydronide Carroshe 5 17 18 11
Sodium hydroxide waste Carroshe L 25 &0 Sl
{Sodiurm meta-Bisufite, Granular Corresie B 44 44 11l
f5ufuric acid Cortoshe L 455 455 067 gal
fSufuric acid, fuming Carrosie taxic L 65 065 013 gal
Tetrabuty 1 hydesaide solution Corresie L 027 053 026 gl
Tinll) chioride ditydrate, reagent grade Carrosie 5 11 11 111
Trifluoroacetic acid Carrosie L 5] [EH 003 gal
fZinc Chlaride Correstve B 156 156 11k
Total Corrouves|217 gal » 56 1
Total Corroslves induding secondary hameds [257 gal + 60 1h
Hydragen [ FLGs G 200 200 % of
Fropans | PG | | [ a6 426 35.5 I
Total Fammable Gas 626 o
|Magnesium ¥l Solid w2 5 1 1.00 .22 Ib
Mizch bbetal ¥l Solid W2 5 23 230 1116
Potassium tert-butonsde Fl Solid corroiive B 154 154 11l
fsodium hydrosulfite Fi Salkd 5 1.4 14 1.1
fte rt- Butyddimethndsily] chicride Fl Solid corroshe 5 14 14 L1
Total Famemable Solids]7.5 I
Mz liquids [ m | P [ oss .55 013 gal
Total Rammable Liquids 14]0.6 gal
{0.1% TFA in Acatonitrile FLIB coriive L 5 11.50 4l
Acetone FLIB L 30 85 2.5 gal
Acetanitrile FLIB L 5 it 127 gl
Ethanal FLIB L 324 560 Ery ol
Gl Stain//destain Waste FLIB boic L 20 35 Sl
hexane FLIB 1% 13.5 54 127 gal
HPLE feed botthes FLIB L 3 465 2.5l
HPLE fractionation tray FLIB L 13 20 9.5 gal
(HPLC waste FLIB L it 200 55 gal
Isopropanal FLIB L 36 130 143 gl
|Methanc FLIB L 30 iiz 137 gal |
Misc liguids: FLIB L 100 126 waries
Mixed sohvent waste FLIB L % 9 15 gl
Potassium tert-butoside, 1.0M solution in 2.math FLIB £odTCEive L 04 0.4 021 gal
Pyriding FLIB L 1.5 1.% 025 gal
ftert-Butanal FLIB L 075 a.75 025 gal
Toluene FLIB L 43 11 17 gal
| Triethydamine i) coereiive L 55 17 012 gl
Total Rammable Lquids 18]2379 gal
[1-Batanct FLIC L 15 s 1l
fChip Production waste RiC L 35 &5 i
Misz liquids FLIC L 1 i varis
Total Flammable Uguids 1C{71 gal
Miss liqukds & solds [ Hightytesic | [ s | os [ ars
fsodiumn azide | wightytoxic | | 5 | o 0.7 022 Ib
Total Highly tosses|1.35 1b
Total Highly taxles incduding secondary hazatds |5 b
wionns FapeZof3
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PacBio Chamical Inventory

Initial
Primary | Secondary Storage Oty Langast
Hazard Hazard 5L.G {galor i) ‘Containar
o 5 11 11k
[ 5L 1 11k
0 L 025 025 013
o taxic 5 47 4.7 11l
Total Onidizer 2[7 b
| | [ st | 1a 14 0.2 1b
oital Owidizer 314 Ib
IHydrogen peroside | oxa [ comosive | L o4 0.6 013 gal
Misc materisls [ o T comosive | L o5 0.5 013 gal
Total Owidizes 4[1.1 1
omygen [ oxes | [ [3 [ 1rsy 1757 251 ¢
Total Onldizing gases | 1757 of
fchloroform Taxic L 17 26 1l
|Manganeselll chioride, anhydrous Taxic 5 11 11 110
[Misc matenials Toxic Lg 1 3 aried
RCRA b dabris Tosie 5 1s 240 50k
Hexafluoropropene Toxic G 022 0.22 0.22 b
Total Tonies | 246 i
Total Toxlcs inghuding secordsry hazerds (250 1
Total cs .55 Ib
Total Water Heactive 2, secondary hazar |a'.n Ib
| | [ | |
{Omid izars, tooics and water-reactives are totalied in pownds, for both liguids and solids, as per Fire Code mquiremants.
Materials present inqmnlillesﬁlm than 1 pound or 1 quart ane not Bsted individually, These materials are accowsted for in the “mise” line fem by
hazard class.
and other rot reguiated by Fire Code not listed l
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EXHIBIT “F”
Work Letter

(See Attached)
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EXHIBIT “E”
WORK LETTER
1. General.

(a) The purpose of this Work Letter is to set forth (i) what work is to be performed by Lessor as
part of the Warm Shell Work as described in Schedule “F-1” attached to this Work Letter, and the preliminary budget for the
Warm Shell Work as set forth in Schedule “F-2” and (ii) certain information regarding the Market Ready Improvements and
Tenant Improvements, including the space plans for the Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements in
Schedule “F-3” attached to this Work Letter, and the preliminary combined budget and list of inclusions and exclusions for
the Market Ready Improvements and Tenant Improvements in Schedule “F-4” attached to this Work Letter. Furthermore,
this Work Letter (y) sets forth the mechanics for completion of the construction of the Warm Shell, Market Ready
Improvements, and Tenant Improvements and (z) establishes a time schedule for Substantial Completion (as defined below in
Warm Shell Work, Market Ready Improvements and Tenant Improvements are hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Work”.

(b) Except as defined in this Work Letter to the contrary, all terms utilized in this Work Letter
shall have the same meaning ascribed to them in the Lease. When work, services, consents or approvals are to be provided
by or on behalf of Lessor or Lessee, the term “Lessor” and “Lessee” shall include such parties’ employees and authorized
agents.

(o) The provisions of the Lease, except where clearly inconsistent or inapplicable to this Work
Letter, are incorporated into this Work Letter; provided, however, that the provisions of this Work Letter shall govern the
Work rather than the provisions of Paragraph 15(d) of the Lease.

(d) The Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements shall be constructed pursuant
to this Work Letter by (or on behalf of) Lessee, with the cost thereof to be shared by Lessor and Lessee as described in
Paragraph 14 of the Lease.

(e) The Warm Shell Work shall be constructed pursuant to this Work Letter by (or on behalf of)
Lessor, at Lessor’s sole cost and expense.

2. Design Period, Construction Period and Delivery.

(€)] Delivery. Lessee shall be permitted Early Entry into the Premises prior to the Commencement
Date in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Paragraph 2(f) of the Lease.

(b) Delay of Delivery.
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@) The parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute arising out of or
relating to approval of the Tenant Improvement Documents (as defined in Paragraph 3(b) below) in accordance with the
terms set forth in this Work Letter. If Lessee has not approved such documents by 5:00 pm Pacific Standard Time on the
applicable date set forth in Paragraph 3(c) below, then within two (2) business days following such failure, both Lessor and
Lessee shall provide the other with written notice (each such notice, a “Design Dispute Notice”) that shall include with
reasonable particularity (1) a statement of each party’s position and a summary of arguments supporting that position and (2)
the name and title of the executive who will represent that party and of any other person who will accompany the executive.

Within two (2) business days after the date required for delivery of the Design Dispute Notices, the designated
executives of both parties shall meet at a mutually acceptable time and place. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
negotiating parties, the above-described negotiation shall end at the close of the first meeting of executives described above
(the “First Meeting”). Such closure shall not preclude continuing or later negotiations, if desired.

If the parties fail to resolve the dispute at this First Meeting, the parties shall initiate binding arbitration proceedings
with an arbitrator experienced in resolving disputes related to the design of commercial properties (the “Design
Arbitratoer”), to be mutually agreed upon and retained by the parties in writing upon execution of this Lease or within
twenty-one (21) days thereafter. If the parties fail to agree upon a Design Arbitrator within such twenty-one day period,
either party may apply to the American Arbitration Association to appoint an Arbitrator, and the parties shall split all
associated administrative fees from the American Arbitration Association and hereby consent to the jurisdiction of the
American Arbitration Association for such purposes. The Design Arbitrator shall only have the authority to choose between
the positions (including the amount of Tenant Delay and Lessor Delay) set forth in the Design Dispute Notices, as well as to
determine the amount of Tenant Delay and Lessor Delay, which shall be equal to the number of days that elapse from the
applicable Final Approval Date set forth in Paragraph 3(c) to the date that the dispute regarding the Tenant Improvement
Documents is resolved by the Design Arbitrator. If the Design Arbitrator selects the Lessee’s position, the delay shall be a
Lessor Delay. If the Design Arbitrator selects the Lessor’s position, the delay shall be a Tenant Delay. The Design
Arbitrator shall render a decision within ten (10) business days following the conclusion of the First Meeting.

The parties agree to enter into a separate Agreement with the Design Arbitrator, which shall include the following
provisions: the parties shall agree (i) to split equally all fees of the Design Arbitrator in connection with the Design
Arbitrator’s services, and payment of such fees to the arbitrator shall be enforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction;
(ii) to the extent allowable under applicable law, to defend and indemnify (subject to Section 14 below), the Design
Arbitrator from claims, damages or causes of action (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising out of the parties” acts or
omissions under this Lease or the acts or omissions of any contractor or design professional providing services or labor or
materials in connection with the Work.

(ii) With respect to delays other than the delays described in subparagraph (i) above,
no Lessor Delay or Tenant Delay shall be deemed to have occurred
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hereunder or in the Lease unless and until the party claiming such a delay has provided written notice to the other party
specifying the action or inaction that such notifying party contends constitutes a Lessor Delay or Tenant Delay, as applicable
as soon as possible, but not later than three (3) business days after the occurrence of such delay. The Lessor Delay or Tenant
Delay, as set forth in such notice, shall be deemed to have occurred commencing as of the date that the event triggering the
delay occurred and continuing for the number of days the performance in question was in fact delayed as a direct result of
such action or inaction, provided that the party claiming such delay exercises commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate, if
reasonably possible, the delaying effect of the complained of action or inaction.

(©) Certain Definitions.

(6))] Force Majeure Delay. The term “Force Majeure Delay” as used in the Lease
or this Work Letter shall mean any delay in the performance of any act or thing required hereunder which is attributable to
strikes, lock-outs, weather conditions, casualties, acts of God, labor troubles, inability by the exercise of reasonable diligence
to procure materials, inability by the exercise of reasonable diligence to obtain supplies, parts, employees or necessary
services, failure of power, governmental laws, orders or regulations, actions of governmental authorities, riots, insurrection,
war or other causes beyond the reasonable control of such party, or for any cause due to any act or neglect of the other party
hereto or its respective servants, agents, employees, licensees, or any person claiming by, through or under them.

(ii) Lessor Delay. The term “Lessor Delay” as used in the Lease or this Work
Letter shall mean any delay in the Substantial Completion of the Work (as defined in Paragraph 2(c) below) in accordance
with the timelines provided in the Construction Schedule attached hereto as Schedule “F-5”, as the same may be adjusted by
Change Order, to the extent due to (i) Lessor’s failure to deliver the Tenant Improvement Documents by the dates set forth in
Section 3(c) below and (ii) any Lessor Delay specified in this Work Letter or in the Lease, including, without limitation, any
Lessor Delay agreed upon in writing following the First Meeting (defined above) or determined by the Design Arbitrator as
set forth above.

(iii) Tenant Delay. The term “Tenant Delay” as used in the Lease or this Work
Letter shall mean any delay in the Substantial Completion of the Work (as defined in Paragraph 2(c) below) in accordance
with the timelines provided in the Construction Schedule attached hereto as Schedule “F-5”, as the same may be adjusted by
Change Order, to the extent due to (a) any material interference by Lessee with the work of the General Contractor or its
subcontractors during Lessee’s Early Entry; (b) a written Change Order (as defined below) requested by Lessee, but only to
the extent of the Tenant Delay specified in such Change Order; (c) any Tenant Delay specified in this Work Letter or in the
Lease, including, without limitation, any Tenant Delay agreed upon in writing following the First Meeting (defined above) or
determined by the Design Arbitrator as set forth above; (d) the inclusion of any so-called “long lead” materials in the
improvements (such as fabrics, paneling, carpeting or other items that are not readily available within industry standard lead
times [e.g., custom made items that require time to procure beyond that customarily required for standard items, or items that
are currently out of stock and will require extra time to back order] and for which suitable substitutes exist); provided,
however, that if any such “long lead” item is not specified in the Schedules attached to
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this Work Letter, its inclusion shall not constitute a Tenant Delay unless Lessor has notified Lessee that such item is a “long
lead” item and has given Lessee a reasonable period of time to approve the inclusion of the item prior to the time at which it
would delay Substantial Completion of the Work; (e) Lessee’s failure to provide, within a reasonable period of time,
information requested by Lessor that is reasonably necessary for the Substantial Completion of the Work; and (f) Lessee’s
failure to make any payment required under this Work Letter within the period specified therefor (it being acknowledged that
if Lessee fails to make or otherwise delays making such payments, Lessor may stop work rather than incur costs which
Lessee is obligated to fund but has not yet funded and any delay from such a work stoppage will be a Tenant Delay). Lessee
shall be liable for, and shall pay all costs and expenses incurred by Lessor to the extent caused by a Tenant Delay.

>iv) Substantial Completion or Substantially Completed. Lessor’s Work shall be
“Substantially Completed” and Lessor shall have attained “Substantial Completion” of the Work when all of the Work is
completed in accordance with the approved Documents and all requirements of Applicable Laws other than (i) non-material
punch-list items, and (ii) Lessor has obtained a Temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“TCO”) for the Premises or such other
documentation from the City specifying that the Premises can be legally occupied. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessor
shall promptly and diligently pursue the completion of all such non-material punch-list items within the Premises within a
reasonable period of time.

3. Preparation of Plans and Construction Schedule and Procedures. Delivery of all plans and drawings referred
to in this Section 3 shall be electronic, unless otherwise agreed by Lessor and Lessee. Lessor and Lessee shall arrange for the
construction of the Work in accordance with the following schedule:

(@ Selection of Architect and Engineer. Subject to Lessee’s approval, not to be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed, Lessor shall select an architect (“Designer”) and an engineer (“Engineer”) familiar with
all rules, regulations, instructions and procedures promulgated by Lessor with respect to design and/or construction in the
Building (collectively, the “Building Requirements”) and with all Applicable Laws. Lessee’s failure to approve the
selection of the Engineer or the Designer within three (3) business days of Lessor’s delivery of written notice of such
selection to Lessee shall be deemed Tenant Delay. Thereafter, Lessor shall engage and manage the Designer and Engineer.

If, following the engagement of the Designer or the Engineer, Lessor unilaterally decides to terminate either the
Designer or the Engineer, any delay in the Substantial Completion of the Work caused by or attributable to such termination
shall be deemed Lessor Delay. If, following the engagement of the Designer or the Engineer, Lessee unilaterally decides to
direct Lessor to terminate either the Designer or the Engineer, any delay in the Substantial Completion of the Work caused by
or attributable to such termination shall be deemed Tenant Delay. If Lessor and Lessee mutually decide to terminate the
Designer or the Engineer, the parties shall execute a Change Order to revise the construction schedule to account for any
delay in the Substantial Completion of the Work, and there shall be no Tenant Delay or Lessor Delay associated with such
mutual termination.
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(b) Building Plans. Lessor shall cause the Designer to electronically submit to the Lessee the
Schematic Design Documents, the Design Development Documents, and the Construction Documents for the Market Ready
Improvements and the Tenant Improvements (collectively, the “Tenant Improvement Documents™) by the dates set forth in
Section 3(c) below. Lessor shall also cause Designer to electronically submit to Lessee the Schematic Design Documents,
the Design Development Documents, and the Construction Documents for the Warm Shell Work when the same are
available. Lessee shall have the right to review and approve the Tenant Improvement Documents; provided, however, that so
long as the Tenant Improvement Documents are consistent with Schedule “F-3” and Schedule “F-4” attached to this Work
Letter, Lessee’s approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed and such approval shall otherwise be
given within the time frames in this Section 3. Prior to the approval dates set forth in Section 3(c) below, if Lessee requests
that Lessor make any changes to the Tenant Improvement Documents, Lessee and Lessor shall work together in good faith to
promptly agree upon any changes to the Tenant Improvement Documents necessary to cause the Tenant Improvement
Documents to be consistent with Schedule “F-3” and Schedule “F-4” attached to this Work Letter, and any previously
approved Tenant Improvement Documents.

(o) Final Approval of Documents. Provided that Lessor shall deliver to Lessee the Tenant
Improvement Documents at least five (5) days in advance of the dates set forth below, Lessee shall approve the Tenant
Improvement Documents by the dates set forth below (“Final Approval Dates”). Lessee’s failure to approve the Tenant
Improvement Documents by the applicable Final Approval Date shall be eligible for Tenant Delay as set forth in Section 2(b)
(i) above and Lessor’s failure to submit the Tenant Improvement Documents at least five (5) days in advance of the Final
Approval Dates shall be eligible for Lessor Delay as set forth in Section 2(b)(i) above.

Tenant Improvement Document: Final Approval Date:
Schematic Design Documents July 20, 2015
Design Development Documents August 19, 2015
Construction Documents October 8, 2015
4. General Contractor and Review of Plans.
(a) Selection of General Contractor. Lessor intends to use ACT as a general contractor to

construct the Work (the “General Contractor”), which was selected through a competitive bidding process. As soon as
reasonably practicable, General Contractor shall cause to be prepared, and delivered to Lessor and Lessee, a cost estimate for
the Work, separately identifying costs of (1) the Warm Shell Work, and (2) the Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant
Improvements, collectively. Lessor and Lessee shall cooperate to achieve efficiencies in the cost of the Work and to value-
engineer the cost of the Work and shall confer and negotiate in good faith to reach agreement on a Final Budget for the Work
(such approved budget, the “Final Budget”). Lessor shall enter into a construction contract with the General Contractor (the
“Construction Contract”) in the amount of the Final Budget. Lessor shall provide Lessee with a copy of the proposed
Construction Contract prior to execution for Lessee’s approval and shall provide Lessee with a copy of the approved
Construction Contract following execution thereof with General Contractor. Lessee’s approval of the Construction Contract
shall not be
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unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. If Lessee objects to any term(s) of the proposed Construction Contract,
Lessee shall promptly work with Lessor to resolve such concerns so as not to delay Substantial Completion of the
Work. Lessee’s failure to timely approve the Construction Contract shall be a Tenant Delay.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall have the right to direct Lessor in writing to terminate the General
Contractor’s work on the Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements and to select an alternate contractor to
complete Market Ready Improvements and the Tenant Improvements, but shall have no right to direct Lessor to terminate the
General Contractor’s performance of the Warm Shell Work. Any delay in Substantial Completion of the Work caused by
Lessee’s exercise of this termination right, including without limitation delay caused by selection of an alternate contractor
and/or delay caused by having two general contractors completing different portions of the Work, shall be deemed to be a
Tenant Delay. In the event that Lessee elects to terminate the General Contractor, Lessee further agrees that it will reimburse
or compensate Lessor for any liability, cost, expense, loss or damage (including attorneys’ fees) which Lessor may suffer or
incur by reason of Lessee’s election to terminate the General Contractor, including without limitation Lessor’s defense of a
breach of contract action by the General Contractor for wrongful termination. Lessee further agrees that Lessee shall be
solely responsible to reimburse Lessor for any increases in the costs to complete the Work due to Lessee’s election to
terminate the General Contractor.

(b) Lessor’s Review Responsibilities. Lessee agrees and understands that the review of all of the
plans pursuant to this Work Letter by Lessor is solely to protect the interests of Lessor in the Building and the Premises, and
Lessor shall not be the guarantor of, nor responsible for, the correctness or accuracy of any such plans or compliance of such
plans with Applicable Laws.

(o) Permits and Approvals. Lessee and Lessor shall cooperate in efforts to obtain all permits and
approvals that may be required to construct the Work, and for Lessee to occupy the Premises (including all Critical Permits
as defined in the Lease, which shall be obtained by Lessor).

5. Tenant Improvements. The term “Tenant Improvements” shall include, to the extent specified in the Tenant
Improvement Documents, all signage, freestanding workstations, built-in related cabinets, reception desks, all
telecommunication equipment and related wiring, and all carpets and floor coverings, but Tenant Improvements shall not
include any personal property or trade fixtures of Lessee.

6. Construction of the Work. Promptly after Lessor and Lessee have approved the Tenant Improvement
Documents and the Final Budget, the General Contractor shall (i) provide Lessor and Lessee with a construction schedule,
which shall incorporate and include any of Lessee’s subcontractors (including without limitation, furniture vendors,
subcontractors for IT, cabling, AV and security), and (ii) commence construction of the Work. The Work shall be performed
in a diligent, good and workman like manner using new materials. The Work shall comply in all respects with the following:
(a) the City of Menlo Park Building Code and other state, federal, city or quasi-governmental laws, codes, ordinances and
regulations, as each may
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apply according to the rulings of the controlling public official, agent or other person; (b) applicable standards of the
American Insurance Association (formerly, the National Board of Fire Underwriters) and the National Electrical Code; and
(c) building material manufacturer’s specifications. Lessee hereby acknowledges that the Lessor may be required to cause
union only labor to be utilized on some portions of the Work, including, without limitation, mechanical, electrical and
plumbing. At the conclusion of construction, the General Contractor and Designer shall notify Lessor and Lessee of the
Substantial Completion of the Work. At the conclusion of construction, the General Contractor shall also deliver to Lessor
(who shall deliver copies of the same to Lessee) (i) “As-Built” plans of the Work in hard copy together with a digital copy (in
such commercially reasonable format as shall be designated by Lessor), and (ii) lien waivers/releases from the General
Contractor and all of its sub-contractors reflecting that the cost of the Work has been paid in full.

7. Weekly Job Meetings. General Contractor shall conduct weekly job meetings on site. Lessor shall have the
right, but not an obligation, to attend any job meeting. During each such job meeting the General Contractor shall among
other things provide a report as to the construction and progress against the Tenant Improvement construction schedule.

8. Change Orders. In the event that Lessee desires to make any changes to the approved Tenant Improvement
Documents, Lessee shall seek Lessor’s prior written approval of any such changes before they are made and such changes, as
well as any Tenant Delay resulting therefrom, must be identified in an approved written “Change Order” prior to proceeding
with such changes.

Changes to the dates set forth in the construction schedule attached to this Work Letter as Schedule “F-5” shall also
be done via a written Change Order approved by Lessor.

9. Lessee Work. All improvements or alterations constructed in the Premises by Lessee or Lessee’s contractors
prior to the Commencement Date shall be subject to the following requirements:

(a) Any such entry into the Premises by Lessee or Lessee’s contractors shall be subject to the prior written consent
of the Lessor, which consent may be withheld by Lessor in Lessor’s sole discretion; provided, however, that Early Entry for
the purposes set forth in Section 2(f) of the Lease shall be governed by that Section.

(b) Such work shall not proceed until Lessor has approved in writing (1) the amount and coverage of public liability
and property insurance, with Lessor, its property manager and mortgagor named as additional insureds, carried by Lessee’s
contractor and (2) a schedule for the work.

(c) All work shall be done in conformity with a valid permit when required, a copy of which shall be furnished to

Lessor before such work is commenced. In any case, all such work shall be performed in accordance with all Applicable
Laws.
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10. Staging_Area/Coordination of Efforts. Lessee shall cause its contractors and their subcontractors to schedule
all deliveries to the Building with Lessor’s designated project representative at such times as shall be reasonably directed by
such designated representative. Lessee shall direct that its contractors and materialmen use only those areas outside of the
Premises for staging and material assembly that are designated from time to time by Lessor’s project representative. Lessee
shall require that all of its contractors and materialmen use reasonable efforts to coordinate their activities within the Building
and the Building site with Lessor’s designated project representative so as to avoid when possible disruption to the Work or
work of others within the Building.

11. Insurance Requirements. All contractors shall provide the following insurance coverages:

(a) General Coverages. General Contractor (and all sub-contractors) shall carry, to the extent
required by law, worker’s compensation insurance covering all of their respective employees, and shall also carry public
liability insurance, including property damage, all with limits, in form and with companies as are required to be carried by
Lessee as set forth in the Lease.

(b) Special Coverages. Lessor shall carry “Builder’s All Risk” insurance in an amount reasonably
approved by Lessor covering the construction of the Work and the premiums for such shall be included in the cost of
construction. Such “Builder’s Risk” insurance shall be in amounts and shall include such extended coverage endorsements
as may be reasonably required by Lessor including, but not limited to, the requirement that the General Contractor and all
sub-contractors shall carry excess liability and Products and Completed Operation Coverage insurance, each in amounts not
less than $1,000,000 per incident, $3,000,000 in aggregate, and in form and with companies as are required to be carried by
Lessee as set forth in the Lease.

Lessor shall carry property insurance for the Warm Shell Work, Market Ready Improvements, and Tenant
Improvements. Lessee shall be responsible for carrying property insurance for any other alterations.

Lessor reserves the right to carry flood or earthquake insurance if Lessor, in its sole discretion, determines that
such coverage is necessary.

(o) General Terms. Certificates for all insurance carried pursuant to this Paragraph 11 shall be
delivered to Lessor before the commencement of construction of the Work and before the General Contractor’s equipment is
moved onto the site. All such policies of insurance must contain a provision that the company writing said policy will
endeavor to give Lessor thirty (30) days prior written notice of any termination or lapse of the effective date or any reduction
in the amounts of such insurance. In the event that the Work is damaged by any cause during the course of the construction
thereof, Lessor shall promptly repair (or cause the same to be repaired) at no cost to Lessee. The General Contractor and all
sub-contractors shall maintain all of the foregoing insurance coverage in force until the Work is fully completed. All policies
carried under this Paragraph 11 shall insure Lessor and Lessee, as their interests may appear, as well as the General
Contractor and sub-contractors. All insurance, except Workers’
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Compensation, maintained by the General Contractor and all subcontractors shall preclude subrogation claims by the insurer
against anyone insured thereunder. Such insurance shall provide that it is primary insurance as respects the owner and that
any other insurance maintained by owner is excess and noncontributing with the insurance required hereunder. The
requirements for the foregoing insurance shall not derogate from the provisions for indemnification of Lessor by Lessee
under the Lease, as reaffirmed under Section 14 of this Work Letter.

(d) Casualties during_Construction. Lessee shall carry insurance coverage for loss of use and
business interruption caused by casualties that occur during construction, and Lessor shall have no liability to Lessee for loss
of use or business interruption damages caused by casualties during construction. Lessor shall carry insurance coverage for
lost rent caused by casualties that occur during construction, and Lessee shall have no liability to Lessor for lost rent damages
caused by casualties during construction.

12. Warm Shell. Lessor shall construct the Warm Shell Work at Lessor’s cost and expense. Lessor hereby
agrees that the Warm Shell Work shall be constructed substantially in accordance with the material elements of the
description of the Warm Shell Work attached as Schedule “F-1” to this Work Letter.

13. Delivery of Premises to Lessee and Condition of Premises. Lessor shall deliver possession of the Premises
to Lessee subject punch list items, Force Majeure and Tenant Delays with the Work Substantially Completed at the time set
forth in the Lease.

14. Construction Period Provisions. Lessor and Lessee agree that, notwithstanding anything in the Lease or this
Work Letter to the contrary, the following provisions shall apply during the Construction Period (defined below):

(a) The parties acknowledge that the estimated costs to complete the Warm Shell Work, the Market Ready
Improvements and the Tenant Improvements are currently $33,000,000 as set forth on the budgets attached hereto as
Schedule “F-2” and_Schedule “F-4”. Lessor is responsible for paying the cost of the Warm Shell Work, estimated to be
$11,400,000 as described on Schedule “F-2”. Lessor is also responsible for funding the Lessor’s Contribution (as defined in
Paragraph 14(a) of the Lease) for the Market Ready Improvements in the amount of $9,900,000 and the Tenant Improvement
Allowance (as defined in Paragraph 14(a) of the Lease) for the Tenant Improvements in the amount of $2,700,000. Lessee is
responsible for reimbursing Lessor for the Tenant Improvement Shortfall (as defined in Paragraph 14(a) of the Lease), which
amount is currently estimated to be $9,000,000. During the period from the Effective Date of this Lease through Substantial
Completion of the Work (the “Construction Period”), the Lease also requires Lessee to prepay Base Rent in the amount of
$2,160,000 and Additional Rent in the amount of $180,000 and deliver to Lessor a Security Deposit in the amount of
$4,500,000 in the form of a Letter of Credit. Accordingly, Lessee’s aggregate cash outlay during the Construction Period is
expected to be $11,340,,000 compared with Lessor’s total cash outlay of $24,000,000 and estimated total project costs of
$33,000,000 (with Lessee’s portion of such costs expected to be 34%, but such percentage will be reduced by the inclusion in
Project Costs (defined below) of the portion of Lessor’s acquisition costs for the Project
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attributable to the value of the Building). All of Lessee’s cash outlays during the Construction Period are expected to be paid
directly to Lessor.

(b) Lessor agrees that, during the Construction Period, the amount it collects from Lessee (estimated to be
$11,340,000), together with the amount of any obligation of Lessee to indemnify Lessor for damage claims caused by or
resulting from Lessee’s own acts or failures to act related to completion of construction, which amounts shall calculated to
include (i) the accreted value of any payments previously made by Lessee plus (ii) the present value of the maximum amount
that Lessee could be required to pay as of that point in time (whether or not construction is completed) discounted at Lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate, shall not in any one instance exceed 89.9% of the project costs then incurred by Lessor at any
time during the Construction Period (i.e., “Project Costs” shall be the sum of costs capitalized by Lessor under generally
accepted accounting principles in connection with the Work (estimated to be $33,000,000), the portion of Lessor’s
acquisition costs for the Project attributable to the value of the Building and other costs related to the Property paid by Lessor
to third parties other than lenders or owners of Lessor); provided, however, that to the extent any such amount or obligation
would exceed 89.9% of the then incurred Project Costs and Lessee’s obligation to make such payment or satisfy such
obligation is not allowed because the foregoing threshold is exceeded, Lessee’s payment obligations with respect thereto
shall not be excused but shall be deferred until the 89.9% test is satisfied or the Construction Period ends, whichever is
earlier. Lessor further agrees that during the Construction Period, the Tenant Improvement Shortfall shall not be applied to
any structural improvements to the Building, utility or insurance costs of Lessor, or costs that are general in nature (as
opposed to costs specific to Lessee’s requirements), which costs will be paid for by Lessor as part of Lessor’s estimated
contribution to the project costs. The Tenant Improvement Shortfall, estimated at $9,000,000, shall only be directed toward
improvements that are specific to Lessee’s requirements. Consistent with the foregoing, Lessee may request from Lessor
from time to time Lessor’s certification as to the current amount of the total Project Costs incurred to date at that time and
that the amounts paid or to be paid by Lessee are not reimbursement for the items prohibited by this clause, and Lessor shall
endeavor to provide supporting documentation upon Lessee’s reasonable request for purposes of determining Lessee’s
accounting treatment.

(o) Lessor agrees that, during the Construction Period, with respect to any indemnity obligation of Lessee arising
at any time during the Construction Period, (i) the term “Lessor” shall mean and shall be limited to Menlo Park Portfolio II,
LLC (or any entity that that succeeds to Menlo Park Portfolio II, LLC’s interest as Lessor under the Lease) and shall not
include any other person or entity; provided, however, that Lessor may include in any claim owed by Lessee to Lessor any
amount which Lessor shall pay or be obligated to indemnify any other person or entity, and (ii) any such indemnity
obligation shall be limited to damage claims caused by or resulting from Lessee’s or its agent’s own acts or failures to act. In
addition, Lessor agrees that, during the Construction Period, Lessor shall only draw upon the Letter of Credit for actual
damages incurred by Lessor caused by or resulting from Lessee’s or its agent’s own acts or failures to act.
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SCHEDULE “F-1”
Description of Warm Shell Work

1315 O’BRIEN DRIVE
WARM SHELL DEFINITION

1. THE BASE SITEWORK / BUILDING
1315 O'Brien Drive is an existing building that will be renovated.

1.1. Sitework: The existing site will include new asphalt paving and striping in some areas as well as renovated landscape
areas on the southern, O'Brien Drive, street frontage. New site signage will be installed as required by current T24 and ADA
accessibility standards. A total of 366 parking spaces will be associated with the R&D building.

1.2. Building: The base building is an existing 2-story building that will be renovated both inside and outside. Interior demolition
will consist of clearing the space of any and all office finishes, including ceilings, carpeting, interior walls, demolishing all existing
bathrooms and bringing the space to a cold shell level. This demolition will also include removal and reuse of existing HVAC
units and unused MEP infrastructure back to its source currently supporting the building. Exterior demolition will consist
removing the center portion of the southern wall of the building, allowing the construction of a new 2-story lobby/entry way with
an open stairway to the second floor. All shell interior construction will be designed to allow for expansion for future tenants
improvements.

1.3. The building will be renovated, providing a “warm shell”, construction Type I1I-B building with the envelope, structure,
building core (including elevators, stairs and restrooms), interior finishes, mechanical, electrical and safety systems as described
below.

2. ENVELOPE
The building is to be fully enclosed and watertight.

2.1. Exterior walls are constructed of concrete, metal panels, glass and aluminum punched windows and storefront glazing
systems.

2.2. Windows and glazing systems to use high-performance, low-e, insulated glass.
2.3. Roofing is an existing single-ply membrane, installed in 2011.

2.4. Exterior architectural building elements and finishes may include architectural steel, metal panels, painted / textured
concrete, canopies, trellises and sunshade / light shelf devices.

3. BUILDING STRUCTURE
The existing building was designed per the seismic standards of the 1979 Uniform Building Code. The lateral load resisting system will
be voluntarily upgraded per Chapter 34 Section 3404.5 of the 2013 California Building Code

3.1. Building configuration is partial 2 stories, above grade with floor to floor height of 15'6"+- in the 2 story areas and 31'0"+- in
the high bay areas.

3.2. The primary building structure is constructed of tilt-up concrete panels ranging 6.25” — 10" thick with a lateral system of
concrete shear walls and steel braced frames. The steel structure includes columns, steel trusses, steel roof deck, and raised
equipment platform above roof. The roof platform will be 8,000 SF (approx), located near Column lines D-H and column line 4-6
and will have sufficient load carrying capacity for evaporative mechanical equipment totaling 300 tons of cooling capacity.
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3.3. The foundation system of the building consists of perimeter spread footings and concrete column pads.
3.4. The first level reinforced concrete slab-on-grade is 8” thick.

3.5. The second floor slab is a 5” thick concrete filled metal deck supported by steel beams and trusses. It is designed for up to
150 psf live load.

3.6. The roof structure is a metal deck supported by steel beams and trusses.

3.7. Steel interior tube columns vary in size from 6"x6” up to 10"x10” square. They are predominantly located on a +/- 40'x40’
column grid layout and at +/- 20'x40’ at the 2 story areas.

3.8. A new approximately 8000 square foot structural steel roof equipment platform will be placed above the existing roof
structure above the existing second floor mezzanine and will support new HVAC units. Roof screens will be attached around the
perimeter of the platforms to block the roof equipment from “line-of-sight”.

3.9. Exterior walls are constructed of concrete, metal panels, glass and aluminum punched windows and storefront glazing
systems.

3.10. The primary structural frame, exterior bearing walls, interior bearing walls and floor construction with associated secondary
members will be fire rated construction as required for the proposed warm shell build out.

3.11. Roof construction and associated secondary members to be fire rated construction as required for the proposed warm
shell build out.

3.12. Stair and mechanical shaft enclosures to be fire rated construction as required for the proposed warm shell build out.

4. BUILDING CORE
The building has common and core areas included in the base building and will incorporate elevators, stairs, main lobby,
restrooms, janitor closets, MPOE for utilities, mechanical shafts and fire sprinkler riser rooms.
4.1. Elevators: Two (2) elevators will be provided. The first being an electric track system similar to Kone “Ecospace”. The other
elevator will be a hydroelectric freight elevator with a 1,500lb capacity (minimum). These elevators will serve 2 levels: first level
and second level only.
4.2. Stairs: Three (3) stairwells will be provided to accommodate code required exiting for undivided tenant spaces. Stairwell
enclosure finishes include painted walls, building standard doors and exposed concrete floors. Lighting, fire protection, code
required signage and other infrastructure systems to be installed as required.

4.3. Main Lobby: The main lobby is a two-story atrium with a glass, 2-story glazed storefront entrance system that opens to the
front plaza. The lobby stair will also have a steel and cable or glass handrail system.

4.4. Restrooms: Two (2) main restroom cores will be fully finished and functional, one on each floor level. Finishes to include:
4.1.1. Ceramic tile on floors and ‘wet’ walls

4.4.1. Solid surface countertops
4.4.2. Laminate toilet partitions
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4.4.3. Stainless steel accessories
4.4.4. Finished ceiling systems and lighting
4.4.5. Plumbing Fixtures to include: 4.1.6.1. (24) Water Closets (Floor Mounted)
4.4.5.1. (6) Urinals
4.4.5.2. (25) Lavatories
4.4.5.3. (8) Showers
4.5. Janitor’s Closets: Restrooms to include janitor/storage closet on each floor level.
4.6. Main Electrical Room: The main electrical room /MPOE will have a minimum of two services totaling 5000 amps. All

services will be 277/480 VAC, three phase, four wire electrical services. Lighting and distribution panels will be installed for
building core elements.

4.7. Telephone | Data Closet: A telephone / data closet will be provided on the ground floor.
5. INTERIOR FINISHES

5.1. The main building lobby may incorporate concrete, glass, stone, wood, steel and other materials consistent with a class A
office building.

5.2. Interior surfaces of the exterior building walls will be exposed glass/aluminum, painted concrete or insulated furred walls as
required to meet minimum title 24 energy compliance standards for the base building shell. Painted gypsum board, taped and
finished, and other interior finishes are excluded from warm shell and will be a part of tenant improvements.

5.3. Interior gypsum wallboard or shaft wall at core elements to be provided with paint finish and fire-taped as required.

5.4. Restrooms to be completely finished out as described above.

5.5. No ceilings are to be installed except in restrooms (gypsum board) and main building lobby the extent of which is to be
determined.

6. MECHANICAL
Operational heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems will provide conditioned air to all core element areas as required by
code.

6.1. Mechanical plant designed to exceed Title 24 standards.

6.2. All finished core and lobby areas will have a completed mechanical system per Landlord’s minimum HVAC criteria.

6.3. Mechanical systems to be evaporative based units, 360 ton minimum capacity with the capability of future expansion by
tenant. DDC Building Management System to be provided and function to control base building systems. Tenant will be allowed
to install connectivity to the DDC for improved operational and energy efficiency integration. Where appropriate based on

building height, as required by code life safety smoke control systems including stair and vestibule pressurization fans, ducting,
shafts and floor by floor smoke control through dedicated fan systems or through the central air conditioning systems.
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6.4. The natural gas supply to the building will be metered separately for the warehouse and R&D tenant.

7. ELECTRICAL
Fully operational main electric service including main switchboard to serve base building shell lighting, power loads and base
building electrical, mechanical and equipment loads.
7.1. The MPOE will have a minimum of two services totaling 5000 amps. All services will be 277/480 VAC, three phase, four
wire electrical services. A minimum of 4000 amps at 277/480 VAC, three phase, four wire electrical service will be provided for
the R&D portion of the building.
7.2. Lighting will be installed in improved areas to meet local building codes and new Title-24 requirements. Fire alarm will be
design & installed in accordance with local codes.

8. SAFETY AND SECURITY
Fully operational life safety and access systems for building shell.

8.1. Base building is to be fully sprinklered and monitored as required by current building and fire codes. Fire sprinkler riser and
wet sprinkler systems are provided for an undivided occupancy with upturned heads, typical.

8.2. Life safety system distribution (smoke detectors, annunciators, strobes, etc.) as required by code for core and common
areas.

8.3. Lobby and other designated entrances will be equipped with card reader access with a minimum of four total perimeter
doors.

8.4. An emergency generator will be provided to support Fire and Life Safety systems.
9. MISCELLANEOUS
9.1. Base building to be compliant with applicable building codes, including Title 24 and ADA requirements.
9.2. Exterior plazas to include paving systems, seating, landscaping, irrigation and lighting.
9.3. Bicycle lockers and bike racks to be provided.
9.4. Men’s and Women'’s locker and shower facilities to be provided on first floor of the building.
9.5. Base Building shall include all common area facilities, including; loading areas, main telecommunications point of entry

(MPOE) room, transformer, main switch gear room and other facilities required to service the entire building shell. All such
rooms to be complete and operational.
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SCHEDULE “F-2”

Preliminary Budget for Warm Shell Work

[***]

*** Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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SCHEDULE “F-3”

[***]

*#% Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.

Schedule “F-3”
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SCHEDULE “F-4”

Improvements

[***]

*** Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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SCHEDULE “E-5”
Construction Schedule

Attached.

Exhibit “F”




1315 O'Brien Project Schedule v2.1.0 B TARLTON

TeEseeey
iy

i

e

E
§

R
L]
|

L]
]]]i[f J
e

it

?

pinin ol

M.

|P|

EEEENEED

Exhibit “F”




I I I o o OOOOOOOOOOCOoCOo0Ood

EXHIBIT “G”
Lessee’s Property

Card access system including panels, card readers, door proximity readers - interior

Security cameras and system

EHS equipment AED, fire extinguishers, first aid kits, spill, kits, signage, Eye washes, showers
AV equipment

White boards

Cold rooms and refrigeration systems

Pre-action fire system, tanks, panels and monitor

Liquid Nitrogen tank and evaporator

Air compressors

Racks and warehouse shelves

DI water system — excluding distribution

Hard-wall office furniture (all items)

Free-standing open office furniture components where viable and not tied down (file cabinets, bookshelves,
credenzas); and workstations

Conference room tables

Office chairs including conference rooms, break areas, etc.

Lab space components where viable and not anchored (i.e., free-standing tables, glass ware cabinets, flammable
storage/chemical cabinets, all lab stools, etc.)

Non built-in lab, office and lunch/break room equipment

Lobby Desks

Autoclave

Fume, Bio and Laminar flow hoods

Emergency generator and transfer switch



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-15(e), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael Hunkapiller, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2015

By: /s/ Michael Hunkapiller

Michael Hunkapiller
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-15(e), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Susan Barnes, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2015

By: /s/ Susan K. Barnes

Susan K. Barnes
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
& Principal Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEO Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant To
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2015,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Michael Hunkapiller, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify for
the purposes of section 1350 of chapter 63 of title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that, to the best of my knowledge,

(i) the Quarterly Report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2015 (the “Report™), fully complies with the requirements
of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: August 5, 2015 /s/ Michael Hunkapiller

Michael Hunkapiller
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2

Certification of CFO Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant To
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2015,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Susan Barnes, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify for the
purposes of section 1350 of chapter 63 of title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that, to the best of my knowledge,

(i) the Quarterly Report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2015 (the “Report™), fully complies with the requirements
of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: August 5, 2015 /s/ Susan K. Barnes

Susan K. Barnes
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & Principal
Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




